UUUUUUUUU







Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
283, route dTAron

L-2997 LLX EMBOLRG

Tel: (+352) 26 251-1

Fax [+352) 26 251-2601

Emait direction@casf lu

Website: kit / Awwecasf jufen/

The reproduction of the annual report s authorised, provided the source is acknowledged.

Design: metaph
Printed by: Webprint



REVIEW OF 2016

1. The geopolitical and economic environment

From an economic point of view, the start of 2016 was difficult but the
situation improved during the year, notably due to some measures taken
by the Eurcpean Central Bank to enhance monetary stimulus az, for
example, a new decrease of the key interest rate and an intensification of
quantitative easing. This ked to a lower deflation risk and a strengthened
confidence in the economy in most of the euro area countries. At the
zame time, the historically low interest raies have adversely impacied
the profitability of some players ke banks, insurance companies and
pension funds This factor, combined with increasing regulatory costs
and ezsential #chnological investments, significantly affecied the profitability of European and Luxembourg
financial institutions. However, the improvement of the economic situation has not been felt all over Europe;
some countries continued to suffer from the volume of bad debts, jeopardising mot only their own financial
stability but that of the ELL Public debt and the high unemployment rate [exceeding 10% in six countries) aleo
remain concems in parts of the Old Continent

At the political level, on 23 June 2014, the United Kingdom decided to leawe the EUL The single market will
inevitably be impaired: the United Kingdom represents 13% of the European population, contributes up to 10%
to the European budget and reprezents 14% of its GDP: The governments of the other Member States focussed
with some, albeit fragile, success on preserving what is now called the “Union of 27,

2. The Luxembourg financial centra

The income generaied by the Luxe mbourg financial sector remained high in 2014, The same applies to azsets
under management The balance sheet total of banks increazed by EUR Z7 billion to EUR 770 killion in 2014
and profit before provisions increased by ELR 826 million to EUR 6.3 bilkon. Assets under management of
Luxe mbourg UCls went up by EUR 198 billion and reached EUR 3,741 billion at the end of 2014.

However, these figures hide the existing and future pressure on the profitability of these players. As regards
expenditures, the regulatory cost, the staff cost, the imestments in IT and new technologies as well as the
real estaie cost continuously rise. As for revenues, income is impeacied by the ongoing historically bow interest
rates, the payment of commissions affecied by tranzparency requirements and retrocession limite Income is
also impacted by the fact that some services usually provided by comentional players will be provided in the
near future by new competitors, like crowdfunding, other peerto-peer services or services provided by some
FinTech companies.

The gowernment undertook to modernise the legal and egulatory framework. Thus, in 2014, & lsunched
consultations in order to amend Articke 41 on professional secrecy of the law on the financial sector. The
aim iz to allow the entities falling within the scope of this law to outecurce part of their operations inside or
outside their group under certain conditiona. The CS5F published FACQS in relation to the identification through
video chat and launched consultations regarding IT outsourcing relying on cloud solutions which resulied in
the publication of Circular C55F 17 /654 in May 2017. The C55F also created a working group whose purpose
is to analyse the adequacy of the current regulatory framework with respect to new technologies, such as
the distribuied ledger ®chnology. This working group will propose, where appropriate, amendments to the
regulatory framework or even a new regulation whilst keeping in mind consumer protection, protection ageinst
cybercrime and prevention of the use of new technologies for money laundering.

Furthermore, 2014 was also the year of the entry into force of the large-scale automatic exchange of
information, covering all types of income and account balances. The first exchanges of data, which were
collected in 2014, are taking place in 2017, With the law of December 2016, the Luxembourg parliament
created the offence of aggreveted tax fraud and, as from January 2017, this offence and tax evasion have
become money laundering primary offences. The entry into force of the law of December 2016 entails that the
supervised entities must notify any suspicion of tax fraud to the Financial Intelligence Unit, thus participating
in the fight against national and international tax fraud




3. The CS5F

Az the Grand Duchy introduced new transparency re quirements, particulary in the tax area, the CS5F lsunched,
in 2014, several important investigations regarding money laundering and govwe mance in order to ensure that
the internal control mechaniama are efficient. These investigations, which continue in 2017, show that the
CS5F keepa awatchiul eye in order to prevent that the tax risk is replaced by a risk of using the financial centre
for criminal purpose =, and ensures that the supervised entities do not increase their risk appetite to maintain
their income level in a difficult context. The CS5F will be inflexible in this area and will not hesitate to severely
sanction the offendere. The reputation of the whaole financial centre and of the country is at stake.

In the context of the Brexit, a certain number of British and international operators, having their European
regietered office or a significant prezence in the Unied Kingdom, showed interest in relocating part of their
operations to the Grand Duchy. The CESF welcomes these requests, provided that the entities havwe sufficient
subrstance in Luxembourg, thus complying with EU reguirements, and that they do not delegate or outsource
the majority of their activities in the United Kingdom, which would mean granting the EU passport to legal
entitiea without economic substance. The abowe has always been the C55F s policy in @ market dominated by
cross-border provision of services and distribution of financial products based on the come principles of the
EU and the single market

Given the increasing volume and complexity of the European and iniemational regulation, the C55F recruited
72 new agents in 2016, notably in the areas of authorzation and supervision of management companies and
of on-site inspections. The total staff number of the CESF amounied to 717 agents as at 1 June 2017 and the
recruitment will continue throughout 2017. At the same time, the CE5F rented additional office space and is
currently searching for & long-term real estaie solution. It also continued to invest in new IT systems and, in
particular, in a new ebectronic document management system. Other imvestments were made in [T security and
in mohile tools allowing the agents to work from remote locations. Indeed, a great number of agents actively
participate in the waork of European and intemational bodies and suthorities, such as the ECB, ESMA, the EBA
or the Basel Committes

There were many exiemnal priorities in 2016, including, in particular, the review of the supervised entities’
risk management, govemance, efficiency of the intermal conirol mechaniams, procedures for the fight
against money leundering as well a3 busine=zs models. The CS5F reviewed the remuneration policies of a
certain number of entities, monitored the implementation of the LCITS W Directive and the independence
of the depositary bank functions from the management companies, as well as the implementation of nes
transparency rules for issuers and the prevention of market abuse.

Inemally, the CS5F will refine the rizk analysiz of the different supervised entities and adjust the frequency
and intensity of the controls carmed out according to this analysis [risk-based approach). The CE5F will perform
itself further controls and it will continue its policy of carmying out more on-site inspections

® ®

I'would like to thank all the CS5F agents and my director colleagues for the remarkable work carried out in the
public interest throughout 2014, The guality of their work contributed o ensure the efficiency and maintain
the reputation of the financial centre.

Claude Marx
Director General

Cf.aMAIU-w-.
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CHAPTERI

GOVERNANCE AND
FUNCTIONING OF THE CSSF

1. PRINCIPLES

The CE5F, established by the Law of 23 December 1998, with effect on 1 January 1999, is a public institution
with legal personality and financial autonomy. |t operates under the authority of the Minister responsible for
the financial centre, iLe. the Minister of Finance Mr Pierre Gramegna

1.1. C55F bodies

The C55Fs Board is composed of seven members appointed by the Grand Duke on the propaosal of the
Government in Council for a pericd of five years. The powers conferred upon the Board notably include the
annual adoption of the C55Fs budget and the approval of the financial statements and of the management
report of the C35Fs Executve Board, which are submitited to the Board before being presenied to the
Government for approval. It also sets the general policy as well as the annual and multiyear investment
programmes which are submitied to it by the Executive Board before being submitied for approval to the
Minister of Finance. The meetings and deliberations of the Board take place according to its intermal rules. The
Board is not compeient to intervene in the CE5Fs prudential supervisory matters

The Resolution Board is the intemal executive body of the CS5F in charge of the resclution function, ie
the duties and powers conferred on the CS5F as the resolution authority by the Law of 18 December 2015
on the failure of credit institutions and certain investment firma (BRRD Law), Regulation (EU) Mo 806, 2014
establishing uniform rules and & uniform procedure for the resclution of credit institutions and certain
imestment firms in the framework of a Single Resclution Mechanism and a Single Resolution Fund (SRM
Regulation) and their implementing messure a.

The Council for the Protection of Depositors and Investors (CPDI) is the iniemal executive body of the CS5F in
charge of managing and administering the Fonds de Garantie des Dépdts Luxe mbourg (FGDL) and the Systéme
o’ Indemnisation de Imvestisseurs Lisembourg [SIIL). lts missions and powers are assigned to it by Part Three
of the BRRD Law. e functioning i poverned by the provisions of Section 4-2 of the Law of 2.3 December 1998
establishing the CS5F The CPDI iz the designated awthority refermed to in point (18) of Articlke 2[1)
of Directive 201449 /EU of 16 April 2014 on deposit guarentee schemes. It cooperates, within the limits of its
duties, to the drawing-up of reports and other documents to be submitted to the C55F s Board



In order to facilitate decision-making, to enhance exchange of information and efficient cooperation between
the FGOL and the CPDI and to ensure swift repayment of depositors, the members of the CPDI are also the
members of the FGDLs Management Commitiee.

The senior executive authority of the CS5F is the Executive Board, composed of a Director General and of two
to four Directors, appointed by the Grand Duke on the propozal of the Gowernment in Council for a period of
five years. The Executive Board works out the measures and takes the decisions it deems useful and necessany
for the fulfilment of the C55F s mission and its organisation. Moreover, it sets up a fiveyear “target contract™
with the Minister of Finance. The Executive Board is reaponsible for the reports and progosals it is obliged to
address to the Board and the Gowernment

1.2. Decision-making process

According to its internal rules, the Executive Board must meet collectively at least once a week to take the
decisions reguired to accomplish the C55Fe mission. The Executive Board is re=sponsible collectively even if
each individual memier nuns one or several departments

The decisions taken by the CSS5F as part of its mission may be referred to the Tribwnsl sdministratif
(Administrative Court), which decides on the merits of the case. These mmedies must be filed, under penalty
of foreclosure, within one month from the notification of the decision

1.3. Drawing-up of regulations

The CS5F has the power to make regulations within the Emits of ite competences and missiong, in accordance
with Article #[2) of the Lew of 23 December 1998. Depending on the topicg draft regulations must be
submitted to the Consultative Committee for Prudential Regulation, the Consultative Committee for the Audit
Profession or the Consubtative Committee for Resolution. The CS5F regulations are publizhed in the fournal
afficial du Grand-Duchs de L uwembowrg.

The legislative framework applicable to the financial sector is complemented by circulars izsved by the CESF
with a view to specifying how legal provisions should be applied and issuing recommendations on conducting
buziness in the financial sector.

Following the example of intermational fora and counterpart authorities, the C35F has established a broad
consultation procedure, which imvolves, while the regulations and circulars are being drafied, the professionals
of the financial sector, as well as any other person concemed, notably via expert committees and ad hoc
working groups.

1.4. Financing of the C55F and account auditing

The CS5F is authorized to levy tawes on supervised persons and undertekings to cover its staff, financial
and operating costs. The Grand-ducal Regulation of 28 October 2013 lays down the amount=s applicable and
guaraniees full financing of the operating costs.

The Gowernment apgoints a ravisewr o entregrises sgres (approved statutory auditor) on the propozal of the
C55F s Board for a period of three years. The mission of the revisewr o entraprises ggres is to audit and ce riify
the C55Fs accounts and to submit a de tailed report on the CS5F 3 accounts to the Board and the Gowemment
at the close of the financial year. The révisewr d'entreprizes sgres may be charged by the Board with making
specific checks

The CSSF is subject to the control of the Court of Auditors (Cowr des compies) as to the appropriate use of the
public financial participation it rece ves.



2. GOVERNING BODIES

GOVERNAMCE AND FUNCTIONING OF THE CSSF

Board
Chainsoman Isabelle Goulbin Director of the Treaswry, Ministry of Finance
Memibers Fima Adas Institut des Réviseurs dEntreprises
Serge de Cillia Chief Executive Officer of the Luxembourg Bankers'
Association
Mamy Schmitz Aftache, Ministry of Finance
Camille Thommes Director General of the Association of the
Luxembourg Fund Industry
Pascale Toussing Director of the Administralion des Coniributions Directes
Claude Winon Chairman of the Executive Committes of the
Commissariat aux Assurances
Secretary Camielie Mander Conseiller, CSSF

Resolution Board

Chairman Romain Strock Resolution Director, CS5F
Memibers Isabelle Goubin Director of the Treasury, Ministry of Finance
Gaston Reinesch Director General, Banque centrale du Luxemb:ourng
Claude Simon Director, CSSF
Karin Gullaume Premier conseiller to the Cour o'apped (Court of Appeal)
Secretary Micole Lahine Conseiller, CS5F

Caounclil for the Protection of Depositors and Investors

Chairman Claude Simon Director, CSSF
Members Isabelle Goashin Director of the Treasury, Ministry of Finance
Gaston Reinesch Director General, Banque centrale du Luxemb:ourng
Serge de Cilia Chief Executive Officer of the Luxembourg Bankers”
Association
Karin Guillaume Premier conseiller to the Cour o'apped (Court of Appeal)
Secretary Laurent Goergen Atiache, CSSF

Executive Board

Director General Claude Marx

Directors Simone Delcowrt
Claude Simon
Frangoise Kauthen

Jean-Pierme Faber




Executive Board of the CESF
Left to right Claude SIMOM, Simone DELCOURT, Claude MARX, jean-Pierre FABER, Frangoise KAUTHEM

3. COMMITTEES

3.1. Consultative committees

3.1.1. Consultative Committee for Prudential Regulation

The Gowernment mey seek advice from the committee, constituied by the Lew of 23 December 1998
establishing a financial sector supervisory commission (Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier],
on any draft law or grand-ducal regulation in the field of the financial sector falling within the compe®nce of
the C55F The C55F s Executive Board seeke the opinion of the committee on any draft C55F regulation other
than those related to statutory audits and the sudit profession. Members of the committee may also seek its
advice conceming the implementation or application of prudential regulations overall or for apecific issues.
The external members of the committee are appoinied by the Minister of Finance.

Commitiee composition

Executive Board of the CS5F: Claude Marx [Chairman], Simone Deloowrt, Claude Simon,
Frangoise Kauthen, Jean-Pierme Faber

Members: Anouk Agnes, Serge de Cillia, Alain Feis, lsabelle Goubin, Robert Scharfe,
Carlo Thil, Camilie Thommes
Secretarny: Danielle Mamnder

3.1.2. Consultative Committes for the Audit Profession

The Gowernment may seek advice from the commitiee, established by the Lew of 18 December 2009
conceming the audit profession, on any draft law or grand-ducal regulation related to statutory audits and
the audit profession subject to the owersight of the CS5F. The CS5Fs Executive Board seeks the opinion of
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the committee on any draft C55F regulation related to statutory audits and the sudit profession. Members
of the committes may also seek its advice concerning the impleme ntation or application of the regulation of
public owersight of the audit profession overall or for specific izsues. The external members of the commitiee
are appointed in accordance with Article 15-1 of the Law of 23 December 1998 establizhing a financial sector
supenvisory commission (Commizsion de Surveillance du Secieur Financier).

Committee composition

Executive Board of the CS5F: Claude Mam [Chairman), Simone Delcourt, Clawde Simon,
Frangoize Kauthen, Jean-Pierme Faber

Members: Anouk Agnes, Daniel Croizé, Serge de Cillia, Yasmin Gabriel,
Jean-Michel Pacawd, Daniel Ruppert, Philippe Sergiel,
Anne-Sophie Theizzen, Claude Wirion

Secretany Cranielle Mander

3.1.3. Consultative Committee for Resolution

The Gowernment may seek advice from the committee, constituted by the Law of 1B December Z015 on
the failure of credit institutions and certain imestment firms, on amy draft lew or grand-ducal regulation in
the field of resclution falling within the competence of the CS5F The Resolution Board seeks an opinion
of this committee on any draft C55F regulation relating to resolution. Any of its members may refer the
imiplementation or application of regulations on resolution overall, or specific guestions, to the said committee.
The external members of the commitiee representing banks and imvestment firma, respectively, are appointed
by the Minister of Finance. The exiemnal member of the Institut des Réviseurs dEntreprizes is designated by
the latter.

Committee composition

Resolution Board: Romain Strock [Chairman), Isabelle Goubin, Karin Guillaume,
Gaston Reinesch, Claude Simon

Members: Jean-Louis Barbier, Claude Eyschen, Thierry Lopez, Gilles Perme,
Philippe Sergiel, Vincent Thurmes

Secretany: Hicole Lahire

3.2. Permanent and ad hoc axpart committeas

The expert commitiees assist the CS5F in analysing the development of the different areas of the financial
sector, give their advice on any izsue melating to their activities and contribute to the drawing-up and
imterpretation of the regulations relating to areas covered by the respective commitiees In addition to the
permanent committees listed below, ad hoc commitiees are formed to examine specific subjects.

The permanent expert committees are the following:
- Anti-Money Laundering Commitiee;

- Banks |ssuing Covered Bonds Committes;

- Banks and Imeestment Firms Commitiee;

- Bank and Investment Firm Accounting Committes;
- Depositaries Committee;

- Pension Funds Committee;

- Investment Fund Managers Committee;




- Corporate Governance Committese;

- Finandial Consumer Protection Committes;
- SICGAR Commitiee;
- Audit Technical Committes;

- Becuritibation Cormmittes.

4. HUMAN RESOURCES

4.1. CS5F staff
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In constant growth since 2010, the C55F staff continued to increase in 2016 with the recruitrment of 72 new
agents. Following the resignation of 26 agents over that period, total employrment reached &4 units as at
31 Decamber 2016, e presenting a £.32% increase compared to 2015, This is the equivalent of 601,50 ful-time
jobs ie. an B.BAY growth compared to 20156,

Following the reform within the Luxembourg Civil Service which brings about, among others, greater ease in
working pari=time and taking leave without pay, the number of agenis benefitting from par-time employrment,
partial leave, parental leave or unpaid leave as at 31 December 20146 rose to 154, le. 23.05% of total staff.

In 2016, the CS5F eceved 475 job applications, including 228 spontanecus applications, 63 intemal
applications, 68 applications for inernships/swdents’ jobs and 71 applications via the mcruitment
fair UniCaresrs. As in the previous years, recruitment mainly focused on Unhersity degrees and
candidates’ competence.

Movements in staff numbers
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CS5F agents represent 15 nationalities, the Luxembourg nationality being the most mepresented with 61.13%
of total staff. However, the percentage of Luxembourg agents iz falling continuoushy.
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Breakdown of staff by nationality

Mationality Mumber of agents
Luxembourgish
French

Belgian
German

Italian

Spanish

Dusich
Portuguese
Austrian
Bulgarian
Polish

English

Greek

Irish

Romanian
Total

- B

2

The average age of CS5F staff members increased slightdy from 38,82 years a3 at 31 December 2015 to
39,31 years at the end of 2014, Women make up 47, 03% of total staff and men 52.97%

Breakdown of staff by age
Fii j‘ﬂlfl T 03y year T 253 poars % yuars ] -ﬂl:l“j'ﬂ.l:l‘l. 4540 yum ru.u 5&-1!5:,1:111

4.2. Staff training

In 2016, CS5F staff attendad a total of 431 reining sessions, Le. 3, 778 training days or 19,070 raining houra
Thiz figure represents an average of 4.9 training days per agent. As it is capital that the CE5F agents’ aupertise
i at amy time In sdequacy with the speed of evolution of markets and financial products, as well as with the
wiork methods and echniques of the supervised entities, training |s highly encouraged.

Thesa training course s consletof both continuing education, offerd to GS5F staff throughout thelr professions!
carser, and training undertaken during the intemehip to become a fonctionnaie (civil servant). However, ghen
the entry into force, on 1 October 2015, of the mform of the fonctionnsire status and the alignment, an
16 December 2016, of the C55F s organic law with the measures of the eform, the training courses organised
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for the inermship to become a fonctionnsine were postponed to 2017, As the courses undertaken for the
intemiship generally conoern the categony “Technigue /functions”, the number of training courses taken in this

category in 2016 decreased compared to 2015,

Breakdown of training according to topic
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4.3. Organisation chart

The arganisation chart of the CS5F iz aveilable on the CS5F s website (About the CS5F > General organisation
= Useful documents).

5. CSSF LIBRARY

The CSSF library is a reference library which is part of the Luxembourg libraries’ network bibnet. lu since 20089,
Itis specialised in banking and financial law as well az financial econormy. It contains around 3,000 books and
around 50 periodicels and update publicationa. The library alss hes a certain number of specialised ele ctronic
databases,

All the books in the library are listed in the general catalogue of the bibnetlu network. The unified search
engine of the collections of the neteark [wesw.a-z.lu)enables an easy search of the bocks available in the CS5F
library and in all Lukembourg librares.

The library is open to the public by appointment, Monday through Friday from @ a.m to 11 a.m. and fram
2 p.m. to 4 pur.
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6. BUDGET AND ANNUAL ACCOUNTS OF THE CSS5F - 2016
6.1. CSSF budget

Budget planning iz integrated in the C55F= management cycle and part of a multiypear planning of CS5F
results; it thereby allows guarantesing the financial balance of the CS5F in the long rm.

The 20146 budget was drewn up in accordance with the principles which have proved their worth in the previous
years. It was approved by the Board of the C55F on 16 Novwember 2015. New needs havwe emerged during the

first quarter of 2014 which led to a8 progosal for a budget extension submitted to the Board in the framewaork
of a reviewed budget approved on 13 April 2014

The ey factors that havwe affected the 2014 budget are the following:

- In the coniext of the consolidation of the mew archiecture for banking supervision in Eurcpe and the
development related to on-site supervision, the budget included an imcrease in CS5F staff, in terms of
operational and support departments.

- Motwithstanding the end of the construction of the C55Fs new headguarters in 2015, the surface capacity
has become msufficient to welcome all the staff unti the end of 2016. Taking into account the recruitment

calendar of 2014, the budget included the renting of additional office surface.

- In accordance with the recommendations of the Board of the CS55F, efforts for the consolidation of the
guality of the IT infrastructure and operation continued and impacted on the 2016 budget

The C55F = finance division closely monitors the bwdget and draws up monthly reports for the Executive
Board. An analysis detailing the gaps between the budgeied figures and the real figures is made at the end
of every financial year. It should be noted that, as at 31 December 2014, the amount of operating costs and
imestment costs remained below the budgeted amounts set for 2014,



6.2, Annual accounts of the CS5F - 2016

BALAMNCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

Aszzets

Fixed azsets
- Intangible fixed assets
Dewve lopment costs

Payments on account and intangible assets in progress

- Tangible fixed assets
Land and constmuctions
Other fctures, fittings, tools and e quipment

Current assets

- Debiors
Trade debtors with a residual term of up to one year
Other debtors with a residual £rm of up to one year

- Cash at banks, in postal cheque accounts, cheques in hand

Prepayment and accrued income

Balance sheet total [assets)
Liabilities

Owin capital

- Profit brought forsard

- Result for the financial year
Provisions

- Other provisions

Liahilities

- Amounts owed to credit institutions

with a residual ierm of up to one year
with a residual i2rm of over one year

- Debts on purchases and provision of services
with a residual ierm of up to one year

- Other debts
Tax debts
Social security debts
Other debts with a residual term of up to one year

Prepayment and accrued income

Balance sheet total (liabilities)

EUR

62,100,839.94
4,630,8640.10
2,729 746,87
1,900,893.23

ST A70,190.86
56,644,107.46
826,002.40

56, 580,417.29
3,084,122.51
3,051,518.44

32,504.07
53,496,404.78

3,854, 124.22

122,535,581.47

56,084, 117.35
52994, 363,26
3,001,754.09

4, 30077763
4 30077763

42,105, 763.29

5B,383,233.78
4,616, 567.08
53,764, 666.70
2375,00.72
2375,00.72

1,346, 818.79
120,257.87
1,062, 932.30
163,428.62

42923.20

122,535,581.47



GOVERNAMCE AND FUNCTIONING OF THE CSSF

PROFT AND LOSS ACCOUNT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

MHet turnover
Other operating income

Raw materials and consumables and other external charges
- Raw materialz and consumakbles
- Other exiernal charges

Staff costs
- Wages and salaries
- Social security costs
relating to pensions
other social security costs
- Other staff costs

Value adjustments
- on formation expenzes and tangible and intangible fixed assets

Other operating charges

COther interests and financial revenues
- Oiher interests and financial revenues

Interests and other financial charges
- Oiher interests and financial charges

Result for the financial year

Financial controller Deloitie Audit

EUR

81,476,244.94
239,601.44

-6,770,055.99
-261,599.24
-6,508,456.75

46,088,779.28
-61,438,4B0.43
-3,630,640.23
536,036.15
-3,094,504.08
-1,019,658.62

-2,922,651.87
-2,022,651.87

-1,352,317.20

45,955.84
65,955.84

-1,556,333.79
-1,556,331.79

3,001,754.09







CHAPTERII

THE EUROPEAN
DIMENSION OF THE
SUPERVISION OF THE
FINANCIAL SECTOR

1. SUPERVISION OF BANKS
1.1. Single Supervisory Mechanism (55M)

In 2014, the CS5F continued to fully assume ite robe as a8 member of the 55M. In this coniext, it participated,
within the Supervieory Board of the SEM, in 1,800 decisions conceming individual banks that are under the
direct supervision of the European Central Bank (ECE). At the same time, the CS5F contributed, within the
Joint Supe rvisory Teams [J5Ts] to the prudential supervision of Luxe mbourg significant banks and cooperated
with the ECH in the direct supervision of less significant Luxembourg banks for which the CS5F remains
responsible. Finally, CE5F experts contributed to the work of about 70 commitiees and working groups
established by the ECE.

1.1.1. Harmonisation of banking supervision within the euro area

In its second year of exisience, the 55M continued working on the harmonisation of banking supervision
within the eurz area by adopting a certain number of political guidelines and regulatory texts

In 2014, the 55M finalized, among other things, the political guidelines conceming the assessment of
qualifications, skills and proper standing of candidates for a position in a bank a5 a board member, as CEQ or
as 3 supervizary board member. In this context, it launched a public consultation on a draft guide gathering all
the positions of the 55M on the fit and proper azsessment. The rules in the final guide will apply to all significant
banks in Luxembourg. They will aleo apply to less significant banks as far as fit and proper assessment made
for authorization files of new banks and authorisation files for qualifying holdings is concerned.

With the same goal in mind, namely harmonising banking supervision, the ECE publizhed, in 2015, a regulation
and a guide setting down the exercise by the ECE of certain options and discretions available in EU banking
lewe. While the scope of application of these exts is Bmited to significant banks under the direct supervision of
the ECE, a public consultation has also been launched on a draft guide and a draft recommendation aiming at
harmoniging the exercise of options and discretions for the supervision of less significant banks. The proposal
provides that the options and discretions for these banks be exercized by the national competent autharities
according to the same approach =s that applied to significant banks, except for some options and discretions




fior which the principle of proportionality justifies a different approach. Similarly to significant banks, the CS5F
does not expect a significant global impact of the exercize of oplions and discretions on megulatory capital
requirements for less significant Luxe mbourg banks. |t should be noted that the approach adopted by the ECB
for significant banks as regards the liguidity waiver will in principle, not apply to less significant banks

1.1.Z. Implemantation of the 55M supervisory review process

In 2014, several measures were taken to implement the S5M’s supervisory model, incleding, in particular,
finalising the methodology for the supervisory review and evaluation process (SREF], continuing the work
on the overall analysis process for credit institutions” iniemal models, as well as continuing work on the
treatment of bad debt

At the zame time, the 55M continued working on the thematic examinations that had been started in 2015 and
launched three new thematic examinations in 2016 relating to business mode ks and banks’ profitability drivers,
the possible effect on banks of the implementation of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (cf. point 1.1.4. below)
and banks" compliance with the principles for riek data aggregation and efficient risk reporting,

Moreaver, the 55M developed several commaon methodologies that the national competent authorities must
apply to the direct supervision of less significant banks. These methodologies concern areas such as the
analysizs of recovery plans, on-site inspections or crisis management. Moreover, the 55M started working on
the implementation of a8 commaon methodology within the 55M for the SREP of le=s significant banks.

1.1.3. Priorities of the prudential supervision of the 55M

The main risk factors identified by the S55M for 2017 are the weak, even negative, level of interest rates, the
substantial amount of outstanding bad debt and the sluggish economic growth in the different eurc-area
couniries. Based on these considerationz, the 55M defined three priorities for the prudential supervision of
banks in 2017: busine=zs models and profitability drivers, credit risk (bad debt and concentrations reguiring
particular atiention) and sk management Each priority will be addressed through prudential initiatves in 2017

1.1.4. Implemantation of the accounting standard IFRS &

Monitoring the implementation of IFRS 9 by eurc-area banks iz considered a priority by the ECB. Thus, in 2014,
the ECB ked several initiative s in this area.

A new working group, the Accounting Expert Work Stream [ABW 5], has been created. This group is composed
of representatives of the eurc-area Member States as well as ECB experts. s purpose is to allow the ECE to
benefit from the existing expernence within national compeient authorties in the accounting and prudential
areas and to promote efficient cooperation/coordination between the ECE and those authorities for amy
accounting-related questions.

The first assignment of the AEWS was to draw up “IFRS 9 operational tools™ which were transmitied to the
15Ts to allow them to assess the level and guality of implementation of the new standard within supervized
entities (projpct “IFRS 9 Thematic Review™ of the ECB). This project only concemed institutions considered
as significant by the ECB. The review, which is led at the highest level of consolidation at the level of the ECB,
staried at the end of 2016 and continued throughouwt the first quarter of 2017

For less significant institutions, the ECB opéed for an approach similar to that of the EBA, iLe. a survey addreszed
to a Emited number of entities. To this end, every national supervisory authority had to communicate to the
ECE at least one banking entity active in the lending business. The survey, which was launched on 2 June 2014,
confirmed the conclusions drawn from the EBA survey. A second survey, on & larger scale, is planned for 2017,

= Strategic approach of the CS5F concerning the implementation of IFRS 9

The surveys being led at the highest level of consolidation by both the ECE and the EBA [cf. point 1.2.3. below)
implies that the results are difficult to use by the CS5F as far as the progress of Luxembourg banks n
implementing this new standard ie concerned.
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Az such, although many Luxembourg banke are indirectly covered by theee surveys (via their inclusion in the
consolidated accounts of their parent underiakings], the analysis of the estimations at group level does not
allow to identify their marginal impact.

To address this shortcoming, the CS5F launched a major impact study of Luxembourg banks at the end of
2014, This study was composed of two complementary but distinet compone nis:

- Part 1: Cualitative disclosures

This part, to be submitted to the C55F by 15 December 2014, mainly addressed the project status and timeline,
governance matters and the impact on iniemal systema.

- Part Z; Quantitative disclosures

This part, to be submitted to the C55F by 30 April 2017, addressed the impact on the classification of financial
aseets, provisions and proedential own funds The information had to be presented on an individual basis
{including any branches] as at 31 December 2014,

The CE5F intends to publish a report on the key findings of these surveys in 2017

Moreover, as announced in its press release of 13 May 2014, the C55F informed credit institutions that an
145 39/IFRS ? reconciliation will be requested from all the banks, as at 31 December 2017, for FINREP and
COREP reporting tables, on an individual, and, where applicable, consolidated basia. This reconciliation must
be certified by the ravisewr d anfregrises agrée (approved statutory awditor).

1.2. European Banking Authority - EBA

All EBA publications are available on the website www.eba eurcpa.ew. For 2014, the following topics in relation
to the activities of the EBA, its working groups and sub-working groups should be pointed out

In 2014, the EBA’s work continued to focus on issues relating to the practical application of the regulatory
requirements under CRO IV /CRR", Directive 2014,/59/EL of 15 May 2014 establishing a framewark for the
recovery and resclution of credit institutions and imvestment firms (BERRD) and Directive 2014/4%9/EU of
16 April 2014 on deposit guarantee schemes (DGS0). A growing number of subjects relating to the practical
application of the provigions of Directive (EU) 2015/ 23466 of 25 Nowember 2015 on payment services in the
internal market [PSD2), which will enter into force i 2018, as well as topics that have been raised in the
context of FinTech and consumer proe ction wene also discussed.

1.2.1. Proposals to recast Basel Il

From the point of view of prudential regulation on own funds, the EBA actively followed the proposals for
a recast of Basel IIL, which is being discussed in the Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision. To this end,
proposals for a harmonised European position wene prepared and discussed within the Board of Supervisors.

1.2.2. Supervisory stress testing

Az regards supervisory stress tests, the EBA published a note explaining how the resuits of the stress test anre
taken into account by the competent suthorities within the scope of the 2016 supe rvisory review and evaluation
process (SREP). Moreover, the EBA decided not to carmy out a prudential siress test in 2017, although the re will
be a transparency exercize. The 2018 supervisory stress test will take into account the impact of the entry into
force of the new financial instruments valuation accounting standard IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

" Diss ot 20013/ 34 EU of 24 Juna 2013 on acoess to the activity of omdit institutions and the prudential supesvision of credit instiRutions
and inrestment firms [CRD V] and Regulation [EL) Mo & 573003 of 24 Juna 2013 on prudential requins ments fior cradit institutions and
immsbment firms [CHR]L



1.2.3. Prudential regime for the suparvision of investment firms

In response to the Eurcpean Commission’s call for advice, the EBA published, on 4 Movember 2014, a discu=sion
paper on the design of a new prudential regime for investment firms. Based on a new categorisation which
distinguishes between imvestment firms that are systemic and/or camying out bank-like activities and the
other investment firms, the EBA is proposing to introduce a distinct regulatory framework which is more
adapted to the rizks incurred by the “other imestment firms™.

1.2.4. Covered bonds

On 20 December 2016, the EBA issued a report on covered bonds” to the European Systemic Risk Board
{ESRE) and the European Commission. This report provides certain recommendations on how to design a
croas-sectoral European regulatory framework. These recommendations rely on an analysis of regulatony
frameworks existing in Member States as well as on an assezsment of the laest market trends, while taking
into account recent regulatory developments at European level.

1.2.5. Large exposures ragime

In responsze to the Buropean Commission’s call for advice on the review of the large exposures framework
defined in the CRR, the EBA drew up a report on the possible alignment of the rules with the Basel Committes
on Banking Supervision intermnational stendards on large exposures, ag well az on the assesament of the
relevance of maintaining certain exemptions and transitional provisions from the large exposures regime
of the CRR". According to the EBA, a better harmonisation of both regulatory frameworks [European and
international] would heve, overall, & limited impact on the institutions” own fundz. As mregards the five
exemptions analysed, the EBA recommended to abolish most of them. Regarding the only exemption deemed
impartant for Lukembourg®, the EBA recommended its remowval given the low overall impact that ite remowval
would heve on all the countries in which it is applied

Moreawer, in order to take into account dewelopments in large exposures since the publication of the
guidefines of the former Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) in 2009, the EBA launched a
public consultation in 2016, aiming to guide its thought= on the identification and management of groups of
connecied clients, ie. groups of chents that must be considered by an nstiution as representing a single risk
ag their control or economic dependency are interfinked. Feedback to the consultation allowed the EBA to
specify certain aspects relating to the treatment of these groups and to prepare guidelines that supplement
the current provisions goweming treatment of connected clents. The new guidelines should be published by
the end of 2017.

1.2.6. Calibration of the minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL)

On 14 December 2014, the EBA publizshed its report on the calibration of the minimum requirement for
own funds and eligible liabilities [MREL). The report includes a quantitative impact study and dewelops
various subjpects such as the basis for determining the MREL, the melation between the MREL and the
other regulatory requirements (in particular, the capital adequacy ratio, liguidity and restrictions on
distribution], eligibility criteriz, as well az the calibration of the MREL. As regards intragroup issues,
the EBA promotes the concept of single jurisdiction under which banking groups are reguired to comply
with the MREL only on a consolidated level. On a practical bewel, this means that eligible instruments are
only issued by the reschution entity, while an iniemal loss absorption mechanism must be implemented

* EBA Report on cowered bonds - Recommendations on harmeni sstion of cows red bond Framesworks in the EL [EBA-Op- 2004 230
* brgamat finks

bt Sween sba surons sud docusgots S 1P0IEDY 1637 518 RS+ port Hon -+ Hhe -+ revigew 4o+ the Etiposuss- mrimg +(EEA O 2034

* Artick: 49343)iF) of tha CR%: By way of dergation from Articks 400{Z) and [3), Mamber States may, for 2 transitional pericd untl the entry
into foroe of 2ny kigal act following the: mview in acoordance with Articks BOF, but not afer 31 Ds cember 3028, fully or partialy ass mpt the
foliowing eaposures from the application of Articks 395(1) (] [F) 2sset iems constituting clzims on and other euposures 1o instfutions,
provided that thoss sxposuss do not constitute such instimrtions” own funds, do not last longer than the following business day and as
ot denominaied in 2 major trading curmnoe
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within the group. The report was published together with gquestions and answers and is available at
htipa:/ S wwwebaeuropaeu, documents, 10180/ 1695288 /MREL + Report++FALLpdf.

1.2.7. Shadow banking

Under the ghobal approach adopted by the Financial Stability Board (F5B) based on a framework to monitor
systemic risks ssocia®ed with shadow banking and on an appropriate regulatory framework allowing risk
limitation, the FSE calied on the Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision to define an appropriate regulatory
framework for the identification and quantification of the risks incurred by credit institutions owing to their
exposures to shadow banking. In this context, the Basel Committee continued its work in relation to step-in
rizk [Le. the relationships through which banks might be exposed to risks due to an implicit cbligation to
provide financial support beyond their contractual obligations in financial stress) by taking into account the
feedback to the public consultation “ldentification and measurement of step-in risk™. A final text iz expected
for the end of 2017, It will take into eccount the responses to @ second public consultation which will take
place in spring 2017

At European level, the EBA published its guidelines on the Emits on exposures to shadow banking entities
which carry out banking activities outside the CRR framework which entered into force on 1 January 2017
Specifying the types of entities likely to carry out shadow banking activities, these guidelines define the
principles that apply to a shedow banking entity in the coniext of the regulations gowermning large exposures.

1.2.8. Implementation of the accounting standard IFRS ¢

On Z7F January 2014, the EBA launched ite first impact study on the implementation of IFRS 9. This surey
covered 3 zample of 58 European banking groups based on their consolidated balance sheets at the highest
level of consolidation

A meport on the main results from this first study was published on 10 November 2016, The EBA streczes
that the conclusions at this stage must be read and interpreted with great caution, notably for the following
Me B80S

- the responses to the survey were on a best-effort basis;

- the survey included some simplifications; the banks also specified that their responses/estimates wene
sometimes imperfect and/ or incomplete (while the effect of these simplifications on the recefved estimates
ia not possible to be assessed);

- banks do not yet master the new stendard perfecthy;

- the new messurement models (and in particular those melating to the new expected loss accounting
frameworks] are not fully achieved yet or are in a design phase, or building phasze for the most advanced
Eroupsa.

The key qualitative conclusions are the following

- Banks are still in an early-design phase of implementation of the new standard® and, unsurprisingly, the
smallest banks are even lezs advanced than the large groups active at iniernational level

- The imvolvement of some key stakeholders, including in particular Audit Commitiee s and Boards of Directors,
in the implementation of the standard seems too limited at this stage.

- To the extent possible (in general for IRE banks), banks are looking to leverage off existing prudential models
in onder to implement their new impairment require mentz

- Data gquality and awailability (notably historical data) are considered the most significant challenges for
determining the inputs to feed into the mode L.

* 1t should be borns in mind that the suney is based on the situation of sary 20164




- Banks confirm that the interpretation of some of the principles is delicate. Among the topics most often cited
were the point of migration between impairment stages 1 and 2 {in case of a significant increase in credit risk)
and the definition of the threeholde for infreguent and insignificant =ales when de & rmining whethe r securities
are eligible for the measurement at amortised cost Applying judgement for these key isswes iz even more
difficult in case of a lack of market consensus.

- 75% of the banks anticipate that IFRS 9 will zignificantly increase volatility in profit and loss, mainly due to
the new expecied loss accounting maodel.

The study revealed the following quantitative impacts:
- The banks state that the main impact of IFRS © is driven by impairment

= Estimated increase of provizions: banks estimate their provisions to grow by 18% on average. BSE of the
banks estimate that their provisions will rize up to 30%

* Impact on regulatory capitak the estimated awerage impact on the capital ratio (CET1) is 59 basis
pointe. 79% of the respondents estimate an impact on CET1 of up to 75 basis points. More specifically,
stage 2 provisions (provisions relating to assets fior which there is no credit loss yet, but which present
a significant det® rioration of the credit risk since their acquisition) mostly justify this impact. For this type
of azsets, IFRS 9 requires the total expected losses o be provisioned over their remaining ifetime.

= Banks using the stendardised approach (SA) for prudential reporting will be more heavily impacted than
banks using the IRA.

- The impact of “classification and assessment”™ is more measured (up to 25 basis points on CET1 for 88% of
the banks).

0On Z4 Movember 2016, the EBA launched its second “IFRS 9 Impact Azsessment™. A new survey was sent to
the same European banks with responses expecied by the end of February 2017

Thiz second study, which iz the direct extension of the previous one, is based on the main findings of the first
exercise. Most of the gualitative questionswere eformulaied and the EBA expects more granularity as regards
the guantitative assezsments. The objective is to measure, one year before the date of effective application of
the new standard, the progress made by the institutions within a year.

1.2.9. Payment services

1.2.10. Audit

The EBA continued its work relating to Regulation (EU) 201%,/7 51 on interchange fees for card-based payment
transactions and with respect to Directive (EU) 2015/ 2364 on payment services (P502Z).

The EBA thus finalised and pubkshed the following two documents which were submitted to the European
Commission for approvak

- EBA Final draft Regulatory Technical Stendards on separation of payment card schemes and processing
entities under Article 7 (4] of Regulation [EU) 2015/751; and

- EBA Final draft Regulatory Technical Standards on the framework for cooperation andexchange of information
between competent authorities for passport notifications under Directive (EU] 2015,/ 23645

On 26 July 2014, the EBA publizhed the “Guidelines on the communication between competent authorities
supenvising credit institutions and the statutory auditor(s) and the audit firm{s] carrying out the statutony
audit of credit institutions™. These guidelines specify, in accordance with Article 12[2) of Regulation [EU)
Mo 537 /2014, the requirements for the establishment of an effective dialogue between competent authorities
supenvising credit institutions, on the one hand, and statutory auditons) and awdit firm{s) carrying out the
statutory audit of those institutions, on the other hand
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The objective of these guidelines is to facilitate the supervision of credit institutions through the promiotion of
effective communication between competent authorities and auditors.

1.2.11. Transparancy

Following the publication of the document *Revised Pilllar 3 disclosure requirements™ by the Bazel Commitiee
in January 2015, the EBA pubkshed, on 14 December 2014, its *Guidelines on disclosure requirements under
Part Eight of Regulation (EU] Mo 575/ 2013 which aim at ensuring consistent implementation of this Basel
document within the ELL

These guidelines do not amend the disclosure requirements in Part Eight of Regulation [EU) Mo 575,/2013,
but aim at harmonising the presentation of information to be disclosed. They will apply as from
31 December 2017 to the disclosures of G-5lls in accordance with Delegated Regulation (EU) Mo 1222/ 2014
and of O-3lls in accordance with Article 131(3) of Directive 2013,/36,/EW as specified in the EBA Guidelines

[ref: EBA/GL/ 20147 10).

1.2.12. Consumer protection

In respect of consumer prode ction, the EBA published the following documents in 2014:
- Consumer Trends Report 2014;

- Oipinion of the European Banking Authority on the EUJ Commisgion’s proposal to bring Virtual Currencies into
the scope of Directive (EU] 2015,/ 849 [4AMLD); and

- Discussion Paper on innovative uses of consumer data by financial institutions.

Moreover, Finfech and crowdfunding working groups were created during the year.

2. SUPERVISION OF FINANCIAL MARKETS

2.1. European Securities and Markets Authority - ESMA

All the publications of ESMA are available on the website www.eema.europaew For 2016, the following topics
in relation to the activities of ESMA, ite working groups and its task force s should be highlighted.

2.1.1. Implementation of the accounting standards IFRS 15 and IFRS 9

On 20 July 2015, ESMA released the public statement “lssues for consideration in implementing IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers™ [ref: ESMA/Z2016/1148) in order to promoie consistent and
high-guality implementation of IFRS 15 as of 1 January Z01E and to stre=s the need for transparency on
itz impact to users of financial statements (good practices of disclosures in the financial statements and
illustrative timeline).

On 10 Movember 2016, ESMA released the public statement “|=zsues for consideration in implementing IFRS &
Financial Instruments™ [ref.: ESMAS 2016/ 1563) in order tx

- promoie a consistent and high-quality implementation of IFRS 9 by all is=wers;

- highlight the need for trensparency on its impact to wsers of financial staiements (including an illustrative
timeline and good disclosure practices);

- communicate the expectations of the national competent authorities.




2.1.2. Collective investment management

Az regards collective investment management, also calied fund management, the following publications® were
made in 2014, among others.

On 2 February Z20M4, ESMA released a public statement specifying its work on closet indexing among
imvestment fund= fwith special ESMA focus on UCITS equity funds), ie. funds presented to investors as actively
managed funds with a corresponding fee structure, when in reality the manager stays cloze to a benchmark
(ref.: EBMA/ 2016, 165).

On 31 March 2016, ESMA released the final report on its *Guidelines on sound remuneration policies™
{ref.: ESMA, 2015,/ 411) under Directive 200945 ,/EC of 13 July 2009 on the coordination of laws, regulations
and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for coliective imestment in transferable securities
{UCITS Directive] and Directive 2011/61/EU of B June 2011 on alternative fund managers (AIFMD]. These
guidelines apply as from 1 January 2017 and are in line with the remune ration policies for aliemative ime stment
fund managers. They have been established in cooperation with the EBA in order to ensure consistency with
the requirements developed for other sectors, in particular credit institutions and investment firma. In this
coniext, ESMA alzo sent a letter to the European Commizsion presenting the context and analysis leading up
to the guidelines. Ancther objective of the letier wae to bring to the attention of the Eurcpean Commizsion
the stance of its members that the principle of proportionality should remain applicable, notably in lght of the
specificities of the asset manager activity (ref.: ESMA/ 2016,/412).

0On 31 March 2014, ESMA published a form for reportings of infringements of national provisions transposing
the UCITS Directive. This information will be used by ESMA to undersiand the issues relating to the
implementation of the UCITS Directive rules and for the performance of its tasks in accordance with Regulation
(EL) M 1095/ 2010

On 7 April 2014, ESMA published its final draft regulatory technical standards with regard to Regulation (EL)
Mo 1286,/2014 on key information documents (KIDY) for packaged retail and insurance-based ime stment
products (PRIIPs Regulation).

On 12 April 2018, ESMA issued an opinion for the attention of the European institutions (Eurcpean Parliament,
Eurcpean Commission and Council of the EU) on the establishment of a framework on loan origination by
imvestment funds (ref: ESMAS 2016,/ 5946).

On 8 June 2016, ESMA published its final draft regulatory technical stendards under Regulation [EU)
Mo 2015,760 on European long-term investment funds [ELTIF Regulation) (ref: ESMA/ 2016,/ 935).

0On 15 July 20146, ESMA published a call forevidence on asset segregation and custody services under the UCITS
Directive and the AIFMD [ref.: ESMA/ 2014/ 1137). The cbjective of thizs second consuliation was to gather
further evidence on the arguments set out by the stakeholders in their responses to the first consultation
which took place in December 2014. Moreover, a round table on asset segregation was beld on 20 July 2014
gathering the members of the IMSC Task Force on asset segregation and industry stakeholders. Given the
scale of the task, the mandate of the Task Force was extended until June 2017

0On 12 Sepiember 2014, ESMA published its final advice, to the European Commission, on the extension
of the application of the AIFMD passport to nonEU AlFME according to Article &7(3) of the AIFMD
(ref.: ESMAS 2016,/ 1140). This advice concems the following 12 countries: Ausiralia, Bermuda, Canada,
Cayman |slands, Guemsey, Hong Kong, Izle of Man, Japan, Jersey, Singapore, Switzerland and the United
States of America

0On 12 January 2017, ESMA delivered an opinion to the European Parliament, the Council of the EU and the
European Commission [ref: ESMASD-1215332075-23) in relation to the exclusion of management companie s
(UCITS/AlFMs) from the scope of the MIFIR Iniervention Powers. ESMA requeste clarification at European
level so that ESMA and the national compeient authorities hawe the possibility to apply restrictions and
prohibitions directly to management companies [UCITS/ AIFMs) and mot only to the entities subject to MiFID.

On 30 January 3017, ESMA published an opinion [ref: ESMA34-43-294) on share classes of UCITS. This
opinion, addressed to national authorites, which aims at promoting consistency in supervisory practices,
follows the consultation launched by ESMA on & April 2014 [ref: ESMAS 2016/ 570) and reflects ESMA s view

& hittger / / wewnmsma surnpa s, regualation, fund management:
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regarding the structuring of share claeses, notably in order to ensure a common imestment objective and
awoid contagion among classes.

In the course of 2014, ESMA publizhed several updates of its Q&A documents, ie. the 0&As on the application

of the AIFMD, the O&As on the application of the UCITS Directive and the O&As on the application of the
EuVECA and EuSEF Regulations.

2.1.3. Post-trading

The role of the PostTrading Standing Committee (PTSC) within ESMA is to discuss post-trading issue s, notably
relating to EMIR™ and CSDR". In addition, the PTSC contributed in 2016 to the development of regulatory and
implementing technical standards under the SFTR".

In the course of 2014, the PTSC performed a peer review on margin and collateral reguirements for central
counterparties. The report thereon was published on 22 December 20145, Moreover, the CS5F takes part in the
PTSC working group the objective of which is to draw up a certain number of Level 3 measures under CSDR

Az regards EMIR, several reports were drawn up:

- the Ellwide CCP Stress test Report;

- the final report on draft regulatory technical standards on indirect clearing arrangements under EMIR and
MiFIR;

- the final report on possible systemic risk and cost implications of interoperability armrangements;

- the final report on the review of Article 24 of Delegated Regulation (EL) Mo 153,/ 2013 with respect to MPOR
[margin period of risk) for client accounts;

- the final report on regulatory technical standards on access, aggregation and comparizon of trade re positories
data under Article 81 of EMIR; and

- the final report on the clearing obligation for financial counterparties with a limited volume of activity.

As egards CS0R, the FTSC drew up 8 consultation paper on the guidelines on participant default rules and
procedures under CS0R.

2.1.4. Market analysis

The Commitiee of Economic and Markets” Analysis [CEMA] contributes to ESMA's mission by monitoring
developments in financial markets, assessing sysiemic risks and providing economic background analysis for
the general tasks of ESMA. More particularly, it assesse s risks to imvestors and analyses markets and financial
stability.

In 2014, ESMA extended and enhanced ite regular supervision of securities markets with its halfyearly report
“Trends, Risks and Vulnerabilities™. Moreover, ESMA published four quarterly “Risk Dashboards™.

During the year, CEMA launched three working groups that focussed on the following: “Analyzis of the Inierest
Rate Swap market based on Trade Repository data™, “Corporate bond liquidity - a European perspective”™ and
“Development of AIFM risk indicators™. The CS5F participates in the activities of the working group on AIFM
rizk indicators.

2.1.5. Convergence of supervisory approaches

In 20115, ESMA hed decided to prioritise convergence of supervisory practices for the years to come. The work
programme for 2014 was established with this in mind and an assesament of the supervisory practices by the
competent suthorities is planned in 2017

3 Regulztion (EU) Mo 448/ 2012 of 4 july 2017 on OTC dervaties, central counterparties and trade reposionss.

" Ragulstion {EU) Mo 009/2014 of 23 July 2004 on improving seouities settiement in the Ewnpean Union and on central ssouritis
depositnries.

? Raguletion (EU) 205 2345 of 26 Mowmber 2016 on transpamnoy of securities financing transactions and of mus and amending

R gulsticn (L) Mo 648/ 2012 o



In 2016, a peer review was carmied out in order to verify compliance of the application of the ESMA Guidelines
on the MiFID Compliance function. The report will be finalizsed in 2017

Two reports on peer reviews conducied in 2015 were published in 2016, The objective of the first report,
on MiFID suitability, was to analyse the national competent authorities” approach regarding compliance
with the MIFID suitability requirements and to identify the areas that could benefit from greater supervisory
comvergence. The objective of the second report was to werify complisnce of the prospectus approval
procedure of competent authorities with the Prospectus Directive. In the context of thiz assessment, the
CS5F participated in the assessment group.

It should be noted that ESMA decided to establish a methodology for peer reviews which are mandatory under
certain European regulationz

Follow-up work on the peer review on best execution under MiFID was lsunched for 15 competent authorities
that had been found non-compliant or partially compliant in the 2015 peer review.

2.1.6. Consumer protection

ESMA continued it work in relation to the sale of speculative financial instruments (contracts for
difference - CFDg, binary options and rolling spot forex) by publishing a Q&A document “Ouestions and
Anzwers Relating to the provision of CFDs and other speculative products to retail imvestors under MiFID™
{ref.: ESMA/ 2016,/ 1165) and a wamning about the se products [“Waming about CFDs, binary options and other
speculative products™, ref.: EBMA/ 2016, 1166).

Az regards consumer prodection, the following documents were also published in 20164
- Questions and Answers On MIFID 11 and MiFIR investor protection topics (ref.: ESMA 2016,/ 1444);
- Dizcu=sion Paper - The Distributed Ledger Technology Applied to Securities Markets (ref.: ESMA/2016,/77 3).

3. COOPERATION WITHIN OTHER EUROPEAN BODIES

3.1. European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (EIOPA)

EIOPA, composed of the representatives of the EEA insurance and occupational pensions authorities, assists
the Buropean Commission in the preparation of iechnical measures relating to EU legeslation on insurance and
occupational pensions and ensures the harmonised and continuows application of the European legislation
in the Member States. One of EIOPA s key missions ia the protection of the policyholders as well as of the
members and beneficianies of occupational pension schemes.

In 2016, the C55F contributed to ENOPA’s work on occupational pensions by participating in the following
committees.

3.1.1. Oecupational Pensions Committes (OPC)

In 2014, the committee prepared a market development report on occupational pensions and crozs-border
inatitutions for occupational retirement provision based on data as at 31 December 2015. This report was
published in the first quarter of 2017 on EIOPA's website™.

3.1.2. Review Panel

The purpose of the Review Panel i to assist EIOPA in ensuring consistent and harmonised implementation of
EU legizlation in the Member States

" hitpe/ faiopasurope sy Publications/ Reports.
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In 20146, the CESF contributed to the finalization of a peer review launched in 2015 in order to assess the
practices regarding the statement of imestment policy principles of institutions for occupational retirement
provision. Following this exercize, the CS5F received an assezsment letier from EFJPA which did not state amy
obse rvations or improvements to be made with respect to the C55F s prudential supervision.

The final report of the Board of Supervisors on best practices is available on ENJPY s website.

3.2. European Audit Inspection Group (EAIG)

The CS5F took part in the work of the BAIG which continued its cycle of bilateral meetings with the main
imtemational audit netwaorks in order to discuss, among other things, iniemal organization and the procedures
in place at European ievel in order to improve audit guality.

Since 2013, the EANS's analyses refer to a database that coliects the results of national inapections. For the
exclusive use of the swdit oversight authorities, it covers 10 audit networks.

Moreover, the BAIG adopted a commaon audit inspection methodology for the meview of the audit firms’
procedures and continues developing control programmes for awdit mandates

Az from 10 November 2014, the EAIG s work was taken over by the Committee of European Auditing Cversight
Bodies [CEADE).

3.3. Committee of European Auditing Oversight Bodies (CEAOR)

Established by Regulation [EU) No 537 /2014 which entered into force on 17 June 2016, the CEADE iz the new
body for cooperation between the different public audit oversight authorities in the ELL

Among its members are the representatives of the European national authoritieg, including the CS5F, the
European Commizsion and ESMA. Representatives from the EEA national authorities also participate in the
mee tings, 25 well as the EBA and EIOPA as observers.

In Movember 2014, the CEADB adopied its 2017 work programme. The following priorities havwe been set: the
establishment and functioning of sub-groups and colleges, sharing experiences following the implementation
of the new audit legislation and dewelopment of a strategy for effective communication and outreach to
external parties.







CHAPTER III

MACROPRUDENTIAL
SUPERVISION WITHIN
THE FINANCIAL SECTOR
SUPERVISION

1. THE FRAMEWORK OF MACROPRUDENTIAL SUPERVISION

Macroprudential supervision aims at ensuring a global supervision of the financial system as a whole.
This is essential for the proper functioning of the financial system and the mitigation of threats looming
to the real economy. The macroprudential policy framework supplements the microprudential approach
to banking supervision.

1.1. European Systemic Risk Board (ESRE)

The European Systemic Risk Board (ESRE) is the authority in charge of the macroprudential owersight
at European level. The field of investigation of the ESRE comprises the whole financial sactor, including
banks, insurance companies, financial markets and all the activities outside the regular banking systom,
the so-called shadow banking sysiem. The sysiemic approach used by the ESRE involves analyses of the
dependencies, interconneciodness and contagion mechanisms between sub-sectors. The work of the
ESRE complements that of the Financial Stability Board (FSE) at an international level.

1.2. European Central Bank (ECE)

The S5M Regulation, which put in place the Single Supervisory Mechanism (S5M), assigned certain
powers to the ECE that are specific to macroprudential supervision. More specifically, the ECB is
empowered to impose more stringent macroprudential measures than those originally envisaged by
the national authorities (top up power] under CRD V. At ECB level, the aspects linked to the field of
macroprudential policy are discussed within a new forum, the Macro-Prudential Joint Forum, which
gathers the members of the Governing Council of the ECB and of the S5M's Supervisory Board. The work
of the Macro-Prudential Joint Forum is prepared by the Financial Stability Commitize (FSC), in which all
the SSM member authorities participate.




1.3. Systemic Risk Board (SRB)

At national level, the mission of the Systemic Risk Board (SRE) is to coordinate the implementation of
macroprudential policy in Luxembouwrg. The SRE has been establizhed in the form of a college composed
of the Ministry of Finance, the BCL, the C55F and the Commissariat aux Assurances. The SRE is chaired
by the Minister of Finance and the secretariat is with the BCL. The SRE is entitled to issue opinions,
recommendations and warnings when it identifies risks that pose significant threats to financial stability.
The opinions, recommendations and wamnings adopted by the SRE may be made public, if deemed
appropriate. The CS5F is the national designaied authority under CRD IV, As such, it is in charge of
implementing macroprudential policies in consuliation with the BCL and after requesting the opinion or
recommendation, as the case may be, of the SRE.

In 2016, the SRE met five times with one of the meetings being a thematic session. The discussions
focussed on several issues like, for example, the actions o take following the publication of the ESRE
warning on the risks and vulnerabilities in the Luxembourg residential real estate market. The SR8 also
issued four recommendations on the setting of the countercyclical buffer, an opinion on the institutions
considered as systemically important at national kevel and an opinion and a recommendation on higher
risk weights to be applied to retail exposures sacured by residential property in Luxembourg.

Opinions and recommendations of the SRB and the corresponding CSSF decisions

5RB opinionfrecommendation CS5F decision Description
Recommendation of the C55F Regulation Based on the underfying data, the buffer
Systemic Risk Board of M 18-15 on the rate has been set at 0% for the first quarter
2 December 2016 on the setting sefing of the of 2017
of the countercyclical buffier countercyclical
rate for the first quarter of 2017 buffer rate fior the
[CRSF201 TA01) first quarter of 2017
Cipinion of the Systemic Risk C55F Regulation The measure taken by the Central Bank
Bioard of 28 November 2018 on N® 18-14 on the off Estonia to apply a systemac risk buffer
the reciprocity of the systemic reciprocity of the rate of 1% to all of the exposures of
risk buffer rate of 1% adopted systemic risk buffer credit institutons authorised in Estonia
by Eesti Pank (Central Bank of rate of 1% adopbed in accordance with Asticle 133 of CRD IV
Estonia) (CRS/2016/008) by the Central Bank is recognised by the CS5SF pursuant to
of Estonia Article 58-11(1) of the Law of 5 April 1283
on the financial sector and applies to
any Luxembourg credit institution, whose
individual exposures, established based on
its consoiidated situation, wis-a-vis Estonia
excaed the threshold of EUR 200 million.
Cipinion of the Systemic Risk CE5F Regulation Five CRR insftuions have been identified
Board of 17 October 2016 on N® 18-03 conceming as other systemically important instituons
the anmueal identification and systemically based on their score, obiained in
calibraon review of the buffer imporiant accordance with the EBA Gaidelines and
for the other systemically institutions exceeding the threshold set specifically
important mstiubons authorised in for Luxembourg at 325 points. Upon a
(CRS201 80007 Luxemibs:oarg discretionary data assessment, 3 sixth
institution has been added to the list of
O-5IL
Recommendation of the C55F Regulation Based on the underlying data, the buffer
Systemic Risk Board of M® 18-05 on the rate has been set at 0% for the fourth
22 Awgust 2016 on the sefting sefing of the quarter of 2018,
of 3 countercyclical buffer rate countercyclical
for the fourth quarter of 2016 buffier rate fior the
[CRSF20H GnDa) fourth quarter

of 2016
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Recommendation of the C.E5F Regulation The measure taken by the Mational Bank
Systemic Risk Board of MN® 16-14 on of Belgam in accordance with Article 458
25 July 2016 on the reciprocity woluntary reciprocity of the CRR to impose on credit instituions,
off the risk-weight add-on for macroprudential using the mternal rati approach,
measure for exposures palicy measures a S-percentage-point risk-weight add-on
secured by residential property applied o retal morigage loan exposures.
located in Belgium aken by {mon-SME) secured by residential property
the Mational Bank of Belgium located in Belghem is recognised in
({CRSr2016/005) Luxemibourg under Article 458(5) of the
CRR and applies to Belgian branches of
Luxemb:oarg credit mstiutions that apphy

the intemal ratings-based approach.

Opinion and recommendation Circular C55F The use of rating systems as part of the
of the Systemic Risk Board of 184643 internal-ratings based approach for the
1 July 2016 with respect to the calculation of risk-weighted exposure
risk weight applied to all retail amounts for credit risk n accordance with
exposures (non-SME) secured Part Three, Tite I, Chapter 3, Section 2 of
by residential property in the CRR should not result in an average
Luxembourg (CRS2016/1004) risk weight apphed to all retail exposures

{mon-SME) secured by residential property

in Luxembourg below 15%.
Recommendation of the C.E5F Regulation Based on the undertying data, the buifer
Systemic Risk Board of MN® 168-03 on the: rate has been set at 0% for the third quarter
8 June 2018 on the setting of setfing of the of 2018.
a countercyclical buffier rate countercyciical
fior the third quarter of 2016 buifer rate for the
{CRSr2016/D003) thind quarter of 2016
Recommendation of the C55F Regulation The countercyclical buffer rates set by the
Systemic Risk Board of 15 MW 16-01 on designated authorities of the other Member
Febmnsary 2015 on the automalic the automabc States are automatically recognised up to
recognition of countercyclical recognition of 2.5% during the transitional perod refemed
capital buffer rates during countercydical to in Article 160 of Directive 201338EL. in
fhe ransitional period capital buffer acoondance with the option chosen by the
{CRSf2016/002) rates during the legislator not to adopt a transitional period

transitional period in Luxembourg.
Recommendation of the C55F Regulation Based on the underlying data, the buifer
Systemic Risk Board of W* 16-02 on the: rate has been set at 0% for the second
15 February 2016 on the seffing setfing of the quarter of 2016,
of a countercydical buffier rate coumntercydiical
fior the second quarter of 2018 buifer rate for the
({CRE/2016/D001) second quarter
of 2018

2. IMPLEMENTATION OF MACROPRUDENTIAL POLICY

The C55F has several tools, among which, for example, the possibility to require banks to build up additional
capital buffers depending on the state of the financial cycle or on structural risks, or to reciprocate the
macrogrudential measures taken by other national suthorities to ensure the consistency of macroprudential
palicy at European level. The C55F activates its macroprudential tools when variations in systemic risk threaten
the financial system and the real economy.

The decisions on macroprudential measures in Luxembourg are taken by the C55F, in consultation with the
BCL, after requesting the opimion or recommendation of the SRB and duly taking into account the comments
of the ECB.




2.1. Luxembourg real estate market

The Luxembourg real estate market has been growing for many years. A strong growth in the population
combined with a restricted supply drove up the residential property prices in the last years.

Banks sccommodated the real estate demand through a strong increase in housing credit during the same
period. This contributed to maintaining a healthy housing market, but the level of household indebtedness
alzo rose, which generated a vulnerability at macroprudential level. The repayment capacity of houssholds is
strongly linked to the evolution of interest rates and the value of household wealth depends on the continuous
growith of real eatate prices.

For several years, the G55F has been closely following the developments on the Luxembourg real estate
market, together with the BCL. The follow-up of these developments iz regularly on the agenda of the SRB
mestings In July 2016, as a follow-up of the SRB opinion, the CS5F issued a circular requirng the banks
active in the residential property market to apply & floor for the average rsk weights applied to retail property
exposures. This circular alzo de®rminea a minimurm own funds amount that banks must hold for this ype of
R pOEUE S,
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In parallel, the CE5F contributed to the ESRE's work on the wulnerabilities of the residental real estate
sactor within the ELL The findings were published in a report which put foreard 8 certain number of
short-erm vulnerabilities for Luxembourg, among which the combination of high and growing real estate
property prices and an increasing household indebtedness. In Movember 2014, in the contet of this systemic
and forward-looking assesament, the ESRB issued public warnings for eight countries, including Luxembourg,
on mediurm-term residential real estate vulnerabilites®. Momeower, the ESRB issued a mocommendation titled
“Recommendation on closing real estate data gaps™ (ESRB/ 2016/ 14), inviting Member States to collect & sat
of indicators from the residential and commercial real estate market to betier assess the risks arising fram
the real estate sector

The SRE took into consideration the warnings and observations of the ESRB. The SRE invited the member
iratitutions, notably the CS5F and the BCL, to continue their analytical work in this area and to follow up
on the compliance with the data collection requirements of the ESRB in the context of its aforementioned
recommendation.

2.2. Cyclical risk

In order to limit cyclical sk and mitigate pro-cyclicality of regulatory capital requirements, the Basel Committes
on Banking Supervision suggested an arrangement that defines countercyclical capital buffers as a function
of the credit cycle. The main objective of the countercydical capital buffer (CCyB) sa 8 macroprudential
irstrument iz to prevent and mitgate systemic sk stemming from excessive credit growth.

" Soumes: bsarateins da [ habitat, BCL
* Digtails on tha reports, recommandations and warnings am avalable on the ESRB webais at hitpe! fwswwssrbsuropacu.
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Every quarter, the C55F calculates a benchmark to determine which rate has to be applied for the constitution
of a capital buffer, which aims at providing a guide related to the adequacy of the countercyclical buffer
rate currently in force. The buffer rate reflects the credit cycle and the risks due to excess credit growth in
Luxembpurg and takes into account the specificities of the Luxembourg economy. The countercyclical rate
calibration must take into account a set of data in order to set the countercyclical buffer rate. The evolution of
the credit to the Luxembourg non-financial sector remains in Ene with its fundamentals and the countercyclical
buffer rate has been set at 0% by the C55F for all quarters of 20147,

2.3. Structural risk by six systemic institutions

In 2014, the C55F, acting as designated suthority, identified sk domestic financial institutions 25 systemically
important. The main identification criteria are the size, interconnectedness, compbexity and importance and
the lack of substiutability of the services provided®. Moreover, the buffer calibration is keft to the appreciation
of the national designaied autharity.

Buffer rates for systemically important institutions in Luxembourg

Denomination 2016 AT 2018 19
Dewtsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. 026% | O0.50° | 075% 1.00%
Spcigtd Générale Bank & Trust 026% | O0.50° | 075% 1.00%
Bangque et Caisse d'Epargne de 'Etat, Luxembourg 0.125% 0.25% | 0.375% 0.50%
BGL BMP Paribas 0125% | O25% | 0375% 0.50%
CACEIS Bank Luxembourg® 0.125% | D.25% | 0.375% 0.50%
Bangue Intemationale 3 Luxemboung 5.4 0.125% | D.25% | 0.375% 0.50%

2.4. Shadow banking and interconnectedness between banks and investment funds

Shadow banking, defined as a parallel banking system, is gaiming more and more attention at iniemational
level. An enhanced supervision of shadow banking has been put in place, for several years now, by several
institutions, notably the ESRB at European level and the Financial Stability Board [F5B) at global level.

The CE5F closely follows the ESRE analyses on the parallel banking system and contributes toit. ltshould be noted
that the ESRE will publish, in the coming monthz, the second edition of the report “EU Shadow Banking Monitor™
jointly prepared by the Advisory Technical Commitiee [ATC) and the Advisory Scientific Commitiee [ASC)
This report assezses structural changes in the shadow banking sector and gwes an overview of the main
risks associated with shadow banking activities that may affect financial stability in Burope. To this end, the
ESRB suggests two risk measures. The first measure conziders an entity-based monitoring approach, whereas
the second measure refers to an activity-based monitoring approach that certain entities contributing to
an accrued interconnectedness within the financial system may have. The two measures are meant to be
complementary and ensure that all the aspects of shadow banking are covered.

Considering the importance of the subject for Lukembourg, and given the size of the banking sector and of
the investment fund industry and the relatively important role of the OF [Other Financial Institutions) sector,
the SRE established twio working groups mandated to study, on the one hand, the OF| sector and, on the other
hand, the interconneciedness between banks and inestment fundsa.

" Ploass refar to CESF Regulations N* 16-05, N® 1403, N* 1407 and N° 15-04 (http/ S www.ossf ' en f doosmentation ! regulations/
|orws Iations-and-other-teat o naws-cats’ 130/

* Tha idant fication of 0053 in Luosenibcorg s besed on the scoring methodology specified in the ERA Guids lines {E2A /GL/ 200w, 10) which
dedenming the criteriz and mandztory indicators to be used for 2580 ssing the sysiemic importanos of national institut ions.

* In acoordanos with Articke 5L9(4) of the Low of § April 1993 on the firanoiad sectog the buffer e applicabl 1o Société Génémk
Bank & Trus? want down from LEX to 15

® CACEIS Bank Lunsenibourg, which had besn identified as the sith sysiemically important instiution in Lussmbourg, bransformed it ifinto
o branch as of 31 Deosenber 2004




2.5. Reciprocation of macroprudential measures

The macroprudential measures implemented in a country may directly or indirectly impact other countries. To
reduce potential arbitrages between Member Staies, the ESRB introduced, for the application of the principles
in CRD IV, a framewaork relating to the implementation of reciprocating macroprudential meessures of other
concermed authorities.

In 2014, the CS5F applied this reciprocity principle twice:

- The CS5F reciprocated the macropredential measure taken by Belgium in accordance with Article 458 of
the CRR which consists in adding 5 basis points to risk weights on Belgian residential real estate property
e posures. The measure taken by the National Bank of Belgium has been applied with immediate effect to
the Belgian branches of the concerned Luxemb-ourg credit instibutiona.

- The CS5F meciprocaied the sysiemic risk buffer rate adopied by the Central Bank of Estonia (Besti Pank)
of 1% applied to national exposures of all credit institutions authorized in Eztonia. The C35F requested its
application with immediate effect to the concemed Luxe mbourg credit institutions.



CHAPTER IV

THE INTERNATIONAL
DIMENSION OF THE
CSSF'S MISSION

1. BASEL COMMITTEE ON BANKING SUPERVISION

The CS5F participates in the work of the Basel Commitise, the main sub-committees [Accounting Experts
Group, Policy Development Group and Supervision and Imple mentation Group) and some working groupswhich
are particularly relevant for the prudential supervision in Lixembourg, notably the Anti-Money Laundering
Expert Group, the Large Exposures Group, the Operational Risk Group and the Working Group on Liquidity.

In 2014, the Basel Commities sought to finalise the Basel lll regulatory framework implemented according to
the meform agenda decided by the GZ0 az a response to the 2008 financial crisis. In this coniext, the Basel
Committee conducted several public consultations during the year concemning, in particular, the treatment of
operational risks, the internal ratings-based approach and the leverage ratio.

Az regards the leverage ratio, the Group of Central Bank Gowermnors and Heads of Supervision [GHDS), the
supervizory body of the Basel Commitiee, agreed in January 2014 that the Basel Il leverage ratio should be
bzsed on a capital definition within the meaning of Tier 1 capital and be subject to a floor of 3% Despite all
progrezs, & final agreement on Basel Il has not yet been reached at present. The main cause of dizagree ment
is the calibration of the capital floog, which puts a floor on the risk amounts (to be sustained by capital) which
are determined by the banks that use internal measure ment approaches rather than standardised regulatory
approaches.

Other regulatory developments with particular interest for Luxembourg banks include the publication on
21 April 2016 of the new prudential treatment for Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBE). These
rules =et out a stricter threshold for identifying outlier banks, whose ratio between simulated loss following a
varation of interest raies and Tier 1 capital is less than - 15%.

As for public consultations, there was the consultation on “Regulatory treatment of accounting provisions™,
the conzultation on *Prudential treatment of problem assets™, aswell as the second consultation of the Basel
Committee in order to finalize the new standards that should be applied with respect to implicit support
{step-in risk].




In conjunction with its regulatory work, the Basel Commitiee further strengthened it maonitoring and
assesament programme for the implementation of the agreed reforms (RCAP programme). In 2016, RCAP
reports covering solvency and/or liquidity were publizhed regerding Argentina, Indonesia, Japan, Russia,
South Korea and Turkey. For Luxembourg, which is host to many banks from other jurisdictions, including
non-EL, the RCAP iz a useful source of information helping assessing the regulatory framework applying to
parent banks

All the publications by the Basel Committee and information on its mizsion and organisational structure are
available on the website www_bis.org.

2. INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION OF SECURITIES COMMISSIONS

2.1. 41 Annual Conferance of the International Organization of Securities Commissions (105C0)

The securities and futures markets regulators, incleding the C35F, and other members of the international
financial commumity met in Lima from 8 to 12 May 2014, on the occasion of the 41% Annual Conference of
I0SCO.

Dwuring this conference, the members approved a new Enhanced Memorandum of Understanding (Enhanced
MMoll) which aime at improving and strengthening cooperation between supervisory suthorities, as laid down
in the existing MMaoll signed by 109 members. Indeed, I35C0 considered that additional powers are necessany
for its member authorities to ensure their continued effectiveness in deterring cross-border misconduct and
fraud. The Enhanced MMoll sets out fiee new powers in addition to those in the current Mol

- to obtain and exchange audit papers;

- to compel attendance for testimony (incleding persons not subject to supervision), by being able to apply a
sanction in the event of non-compliance;

- to advise and provide axisting information to another regulator on how to freeze assets, or to freeze assets
on behalf of another regulator;

- to obtain existing Internet service provider recorda (not including the content of communications);
- to obtain existing telephone records (not including the conient of communications).

Moreower, 10500 continued its work on risk identification linked to securities markets and capacity building
according to the needs of its membera.

Finally, 105C0 will support a set of initiatives in order to improve imee stor protection and has already lsunched
a campaign to coordinate an imestor wee k.

2.2. Work of the 105C0 Committees

On7 June 3014, KO5CO published the Staiement on Non-GAAP Financial Measures, intended to assist issuers
in providing disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures and to reduce the rigk of 2 misleading presentation.

The principles that izsuers should apply include:

- clear definition of the content and calculation;

- reconciliation to an ilem defined by the accounting framesrork (Le. net result);

- less or equally prominent presentation compared to the itern defined by the accounting framewark;
- explanation of the usefulness

0On 15 December 2014, MOSCO issued the Statement on the Implementation of Mew Accounting Standards,
presenting recommendations regarding the three new accounting standards (IFRS 15 - Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments and IFRS 16 - Leases) issued by the IASH and likely
to significantly affect the financial statements of many issuers. The public staiement stresses the importance
of the implementation process by issuers, aswell a& a senes of matters for their audit commitiee s and auditors
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to consider. 10500 also insists on the need for transparent disclosure regarding the possible impact that these
new standards will have on the financial statements, notably in a coniext of imestor profection and financial
stability.

In 2016, 10500 published the following documents [co-)prepared by its Commitiee 5 on Inwestment

Management:

- the report “Cyber Security in Securities Markets - An Intermaticnal Perspective,/Repart on 10500 cyber
risk coordination efforts™;

- the consultation paper *Good Practices for the Termination of Imnvestment Funds™.

Moreower, Committee 5 continued discussing the inernational work on the developments and potential
vulnerabilities in the azsset management sector. Following @ consultation on a certain number of proposals
for mcommendations in this area, the Financial Stability Board (F5B) released its final recommendations on
12 |January 2017. The=e recommendations cover the following aspects:

- liguidity mismatch of imvestment funds;

- leverage within investment funds;

- operational risks and challenges in transferring imvestment mandates in streesed conditions; and
- pecurities kending activities of imvestment funds and asset managers.

The Fourth Hedge Fund Survey was |aunched in 2018 in the industry of the participating member countries
(including Luxembourg). The survey covered data as at 30 Sepiember 20146 collecied by the supervisory
authorities.






CHAPTER YV

FINANCIAL INNOVATION

Innovation has always been conzidered by the CSSF as an essential vector of the development of financial
services and of the financial centre. Thanks to this approach, Luxembourg has become a European platform
not only for the payment services and electronic money industry, but also for new players of the financial
centre which develop ever more innovative products and services.

The financial #echnologies, commonly called FinTech, progressively imvade all the financial sector activities
and now impact their future and prospects. In this new and continuously evolving ecosystem, the C55F shows
it= capacity to adopt a proactive approach. The C35F iz indeed in permanent contact with the existing and
new market players in order to better understand their expectations and address the forthcoming challenges

On 19 April 2016, the Minister of Finance authorized Bitstamp Europe 5.A,, a platform allowing its clients to
exchange Bitcoinz, EUR and USD. If the izsue of virtual currencies as such is not subject to authorisation,
the service provided by the intermediary - receiwing funds from the buyer of Bitcoin in order to transfer them
afterwards to the seller - is covered by the authorisation as payment institution. This authorization echoed the
C55F = opinion which, in 2014, was the first regulator of the financial sector that was in fawour of the regulation
of platforms for the exchange of virtual curmencies when exercising an activity of the financial sector.

In order to continue this proactive approach, the C55F has taken different initiatives at national level.

» Identification through video chat

Under certain conditions, the C35F allows professionals of the financial sector to identify/verify the identity
of their customer through video conference. The aim of such services is to enable professionals to fulfil, in
compliance with the regulation and taking, at the same time, into account the new financial technologies,
certain tasks regarding the identification and verification obligations of the identity, as laid down in the Law of
1Z Howember 2004 on the fight against money laundering and terrorist financing.

Following the dizscussions with the main market players, the CS55F published FAQs detailing the conditions for
the use of services for the identification through video chat




* Permanent contact with market players:

The CS5SF established a constructive and open dialogue with the FinTech industry by making itsef available
for all entities wishing to present an innovative project. During these meetings, the C55F provides the entities
with advice and guidelines on the applicable regulatory framework in order to ensure that the project is
developed in compliance with the regulations in force. With a view to being reactive, the CS5F remains open
to consultation regarding the dewvelopment of the regulation to possibly meet the market s expectation.

By enhancing the communication with the market players, the CS5F offers thus means to ensure appropriate
information of the market players regarding regulation, whilst soaking up market evolution in order to anticipate
challenges

* FinTech Working Group

The CSSF created a working group dedicated to the FinTech sector which = composed of financial sector
and C55F experts in this area. lis objective = to monitor the evolutions in Finlech in order to better identify
the implications, in particular, for the financial sector and the associated regulation. Thanks to this initiative,
the CS5F iz able to understand the most innovative business models due to an extenzive knowledge of the
associated risks and advantages

In 20114, the FinTech Working Group concentraied on topice such as robo-advice, blockchain or crowdfunding as
well as the outsourcing of cloud services and KYC utilities [know-your-customer utilitie s, in crder to determine
if the curment regulation is adaptable to the development of the market or F additional regulation is needed.

Thug, the CS5F carried out, closely with the market players, important work in order to propose a viable
regulatory framewnork for the outsourcing by regulaied entities using public clouds. A circular is planned to be
published on this topic in 2007 [cf. also Chapter X11 “Supervizsion of information systems~).

The working group also discussed the opportunity to prepare a regulation regarding KYC utilitie s which allow
paoling KYC data and documents of banks’ chents onto cenfralised platforma.

* International working groups

Today, Finlech has, more than ewer, a very sirong international dimension which requires a common and
harmonised response from the regulators of the financial sector

In this context, the C55F participates actively in different international working groups in order to enhance the
Luxembourg position on the Finfech sector on the iniemational scene. The C55F works with its European and
internaticnal counterparts on the preparation of Eurcpean and intemational standards for managing FinTech
players.

At European level, the C55F = involved in a certain number of working groupe organised by the EBA on issues
related to the transposition of Directive (EU) 2015/ 23646 of 25 Nowember 2015 on payment services in the
internal market (PS0Z) and on a European regulation on financial innowation. The CS5F also participates in
the working group focussed on the European regulation of Big Data, jointly organised by the EBA, ESMA and
EIOPA. Moreower, the CESF takes part in working groups organised by ESMA, notably, on the Distributed
Ledger Technology, still with a view to finding a common response fo the expectations of the financial sector

At international lewel, the CS5F participates in the 516G Task Force on Financial Technology of the Basel
Commitiee in order to study the financial innovations and the views of the foreign authorities in this area. In
this context of exchanges, the CSSF tries to adapt its action in the bestway to the expectations of the financial
sectorn

It iz important to point out that the thoughts and the opening-up take place by taking into accouwnt any possible
rigks arising from these new technologies, whether the se riska relaie to consumer prode ction or to the stabiliby
of the financial sector. The C55F s mizsion is to mitigate the risks at best and to consider adapting the existing
financial regulation in eccordance with the development of the financial marke t=.
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With a view to enhancing communication, the C55F encourages the FinTech players to contact the division
“Innovation and payments™ of the department “Innovation, payments, market infrastructures and gowe mance™
or te send an email to innovationd@cesf.lu in order either to present an innovative project or to request
information on the regulatory framework applicable to a project



Agents hired in 20/é and 2017: Departments "Resofufion™ and Tnnovation, payments, market infrastructures and
governance”

Left to right: Charléne HERBAIN, Micolas MORENVILLE, Anne-Kathrin HASDORF, Maxime DANTEC, Micolas BAEYENS,
Sally RAAD, Bartrand TOULMONDE, Alexander HUMMEL

Absent: Dieter DE SMET, Kenny NURENBERG



CHAPTER VI

SUPERVISION OF BANKS

1. DEVELOPMENTS IN THE BANKING SECTOR IN 2016

1.1. Characteristics of the Luxembourg banking sector

The Luxembourg banking legislation provides for two types of banking licences, namely that of universal
banks {13 institwtionz had this status on 31 December 2018) and that of banks issuing covered bonds [four
institutions had this status on 31 December 2016). The main characieristics of the banks izsuing covered
bonds are the monopoly of covered bonds izsuance and the prohibition to collect deposits from the public.

Depending on their legal status and geographical origin, the banks belong to one of the following three groups
- banks incorporated under Luxembourg law (97 on 31 December 2016);

- branches of banks incorporated in an EU Member State or azsimilaied [32 on 31 December 2014);

- branches of banks incorporated in a non-EU BMember State (12 on 31 December 2014).

Furthermore, there is one epecial case: the caisses rurafes [13 on 31 December 2014) and their central
eatablishment, Bangue Raiffeisen, are to be considered as a single credit institution, according to the law on
the financial sector.

1.2. Development in the number of credit Institutions

With 141 entities suthorised at the end of the finencial year 2014, the number of banks dropped by two entities
as compared to 31 December 2015 when 143 entities were active.
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Saven banks were dergistered from the official list during the yean

* Citikank International Limited, Luxemboung Branch

= Comér Bangue [Luxembourg) SA.
= Bank Leurni [Luxembourg) 5.A.
* Europdische Genossenschaftzbank 5A.

* BHF-Bank Internatonal

= UBS (Lumembourg) 5.A.

= CACEIS Bank Luxembourg

Five banks started their activities in 201é:

* Citikank Europe ple, Luxembourg Branch

* Rakuten Europe Bank S.A.

= Bank of Communications Co., Limited
Luzembourg Branch
= LIBS Europe SE, Luxembourg Branch

= GACEIS Bank Luxembourg Branch

Transfer of activities to Gitibank Europe ple,
Luxembourg Branch on 1 January 2016,

Cesaation of activities on 1 April 2016,
Cessation of activities on 13 July 20146

Merger by acquisition with DZ Privatbank 5.A.
on 25 July 2014,

Cesaation of activities on 15 November 2016,

Cross-border merger with UBS Deutschland AG
and transfer of activites to UBS Europe SE,
Luxembourg Branch on 1 December 2016

Cross-border merger with CAGEIS Bank France
and transfer of activities to GACEIS Bank
Luxembourg Branch on 31 December 2016,

1 January 2014: the bank continues the activities
of Citibank International Limited, Luzembourg
Eranich.

1 Januwary 201&: the bank carries out corporate
banking and payment services activities.

1 December 2014 the Chinese bank camies out
corporate banking activities.

1 Decamber 2018 the bank continues the
activities of UBS | Luxembourg) 5.A.

3 December 2014 the bank continues the

Development in the number of banks established in Luxembourg

activities of CACEIS Bank Luxembourg
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The total number of branches established in other EU/EEA Member States amounted to 49 entities as at
31 December 2016, On the same daie, the number of branches set up in Luxembourg by credit institutions
originating from another EU/EEA Member State totals 32 entities.

Branches established in the EU/EEA as at 31 December 2016 broken down by Member State

Member State Branches of Luzembourg banks Branches of ELNEEA banks
established in the ELWEEA established in Luxembouwrg

Austria 1 -
Belgium i
Cyprus i
Drenmark -
France 4
Germany 14
Gresce

Iredand

Italy
Metherands
Poland

Portugal

Spain

Sweden

United Kingdom
Total

=
[=]

-
Em”ﬂ-ﬂ-”ﬂﬂhﬁ—i-ﬁﬂﬂ-ﬁd

HL"‘M-lMu

1.3. Development In banking employmeant'

As at 31 December 2016, the number of employees in Lukembourg credit institutions amounted to 26,060,
compared to 25,942 as at 31 December 2015 which iz a slight increase by 118 people on an anmual basis.

This annual increase results from the rise in staff members in over half of the banks which offsets for the
reductions recorded in a third of the banks of the financial centre.

Compared to the figures of December 2015, the distribution of employment according to men and women
remains almost unchanged. However, a net increase in the numbe rof employee s with an academic background
higher than the "BAC+3" [bachekor] degree = noticeable [+4.B%), whereas employees whose education is
equivalent or below the "BAC™ degree decfines [-3.0%).

1.4. Development of balance sheet and off-balance sheet items
1.4.1. Balance sheet total of credit institutions

As from 31 December 2014, the FINREP reporting tables are only available in extended scope, Le. including
the foreign branches of Luxembourg credit institutions’. Consequently, the comparisons between the figures
of 2016 {including these branches) and 3015 (excluding these branches) as prezented below reflect both the
development 3t constant scope and the extension of the scope.

As regerds the increase of 3.6% of the balance sheet total of Limembourg banks over a year, the estimated
effect of the extension of the scope is about 1.7%. In that case, the growth (with equal scope) would amount to
approximately 2% Regarding individual ileme, the two effects were not broken down in the rest of this chapter.

These date are based on & statistcal eporting set up by tha BCL in Dece mber 2014, Following the work on data quality camied out by the
BCL s the publication of the 305 dsts, the figures of empioyment wes mvised. Consequently, disos pancies with the data published
in tha 2015 Annued Reporl may appeac

T Cf Cirofar CSSF 15/471.



While, following the financial crisis of 2008 and the decrease in financial inermediation activity on an
international level, the balance sheet total of Luxembourg banks dropped by around one fourth, the banking
sector experiences, since 2013, an increase of its activity 23 messured by the balance sheet total. In 2014,
this growth iz spread across 59% of the banks of the financial sector, which represent 70% of the balance
shest total

1.4.2. Development of the aggregated balance sheet structure

It is worth pointing out three important developments in the aggrega®ed balance sheet structure of credit
inatiutions in 2016

First, there iz a significant decrease of loans and advances to credit institutions which have fallen to
their lowest level since 13 years. This fall concerns mainly intra-group commitments of large banking groups
that hawe to comply with the new Bguidity standard, namely the Liquidity Coverage Requirement (LCR), since
1 October 2015,

In return, loans and advances to central banks and central governments rose sharply yearonyear. This
increase mostly concems the deposits with central banks whose amount now reaches EUR 133.1 billion
(against EUR 64.9 billion in 2015). Thus, the placement of Luxembourg banks’ excess liquidity has been
diveried away from intra-group assets. This development hag further fragmented interbank liquidity flows
since October 2015.

Spcond, loans and advances to customers which include corporates and retail customers, increased
significantly compared to the previous year Among these loans and advances, the exposures to
retail customers, mainly from Lieembourg rose by 5.1% ower a year to resch EUR 53.8 billion as at
31 December 2016, Loans and advances to corporates reached EUR 162.2 billion at the end of 2016 (+ 7. 9]
The increase of the customer loans activity is partially due to the inclusion of foreign branches of Luixembourg
banks in 2016 jextension of scope). However, the scale of the growth of the activity of loans and advances to
customers was recorded for a small circle of banks, some of which have been established in Luxembourg for
only a few years.

Finally, amounts owed to customers, consisting of deposite made by companes, private customers
andy or retail customers, as well as of current accounts of imestment funds, rose by B8.6% over a year. This
positive development was registered despie the introduction of the automatic exchange of financial account
information between the Member States on 1 January 2015.



Aggregate balance sheet total - in million EUR
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ASSETS 2015 2016 {*)  Variation LIABILITIES 2013 286 (%) Variation
Loans and advances 75,710 142437 BB.1%  Amounts owed to T7.280| 10834 48 6%
to central banks and central banks
central govemments
Loans and advances | 208,584 230,340 | -19.8% | Amounts owed o 268 348 | 253,581 -5.5%
to credit institutions credit institutions
Loans and adwances | 188,832 216,116 14.4% | Amounts owed to 324 540 362 534 8.6%
to customers customers
Financial assets held 10,000 9318 46.8% | Amounts owed 54 450 5BBAEM 89.3%
for trading represented by
securties
Fixed-income 144 BER| 137618 -4 3% | Liabdities (other than 8,768 B, 7948 0.4%
transferable securities deposits ) held for
trading
Variable-yield 11,21 Q73| -12.7% | Prowisions 35381 3,504 0.5%
transferable securities
Fixed assets. and 14,017 15442 10.2% | Subordinated 5112 4400 -138%
other assets liabdities
Orher liabilities 13472 15408 14.4%
Capital and reserves hr.584| 61378 A.6%
Total T43 134 | 770,076 31.6% | Total T43 154 | 770076 36%
{*) Preliminary Ngues.
Structure of the aggregated balance sheet
ASSETS 2015 | 26 %) | LIABILITIES 2015 | MG (%)
Loans and advances to 10.18% | 18.50% | Amounts owed to central 0.88% 1.41%
central banks and central banks
govemments
Loans and advances to credit 40.18% | 31.08% | Amounts owed to credit |11 | 3293%
institutions institutions
Loans and advances to 2541% | 2B8.08% | Amounts owed to customers 436T% | 4579%
customers
Financial assets held for 1.35% 1.21% | Amounts owed represented by T.33% T73%
trading sacurtes
Fixed-ncome transferable 19.47% | 17.87% | Liabilites (other than deposits) 1.18% 1.14%
sECUrties held for trading
arable-yield transferable 1.61% 1.27% | Provisions 048% 0.46%
sacurities
Fixed assats and other assets 1.80% 2.01% | Subordinated liabiities 0GR 0.57%
Cither liabifities 1.81% 2.00%
Capital and resemnes T.75% TAT%
Total 100.00% | 100.00% | Tokal 100.00% | 100.00%

{*) Prefiminary Ngues.

The wse of derivative instruments by credit institutions mainly takes place in the coniext of hedging of own

positions and trangactions on behalf of their clients.

1.4.3. Use of derivative financial instruments by credit institutions




Motional amounts of derivative financial instruments

Notional amounts
{in bn EUR)

Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives

Foreign exchange dervatives
Credit derivatives

Total

215 | M6 ) Variation

im in %
volume

161.1 167.8 6B 4.2%
a8 18.8 50 | -21.2%
4873 583.2 G660 | 133%
7.2 6.1 -1.1 | -158%
689 .4 7359 665 9%

Structure
2015 | 2016 (%)
234% | 222%
5% | 25%
T21% | 745%
0% | 08%
100.0% | 100.0%

{*) Prefiminary figures.

1.4.4. Off-balance sheet

As at 31 December 2014, the contingent exposures of the Luwembourg banking sector through koan
commitments and financial guaranises amounted to EUR 168.1 billion, against EUR 140.5 billion at the end of
2015, which reprezents a 19.7% rize over one year. This upward trend depended on a limited number of the

financial centre’s banks.

1.5. Developmant in the profit and loss account

The significant improvement of the net result in 2014 (+18.4%) is the result of an increase of the net interest
imcome and other net income, which, however, was partially mitigated by declining net fee and commission
imcome and by sharply increasing provisions in 2016,

Dewvalopment in the profit and loss account - in million EUR

Met interest income
Net fee and commission income
Oher net mcome
Banking income
General expenses
of which: saff cosls
of which: general sdministrafive
EXDENSES
Profit before provisions
Met creation of provisions
Tax
Net profit for the year

2015 | Relative | 2046 (%)

share

4 406 0
4720 41%
2262 20
11,477 100°%:
-5,042 Eivy
-3,063 -27%
-2 878 -25%
3,335 48%
577 -5
-BBE B
4,070 %

4734
4,613
3,029

12,375

8,014

-3,068

-2,946

6,361

4819

Relative

share

3B8%
ATk
25%
100%
-40%

1%
-t
-

Variation
in in %
volume
s 5.3%
-107 -2.3%
TaT 330%
i T.8%
-T2 1.2%
-4 o1
-68 24%
B26 14.9%
158 T 1%
-8 -8.9%
T48 18.4%

(*} Prefiminary fgures.

1.5.1. Positive deve lopments of the profit and loss account

The positive development of the met intereat income (+5.3%) was shared by 53% of the credit institutions,
representing 57 of the aggregated banking income of the financial centre. For these banks, several major
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factors explain individually or collectively the improvement of the net inierest income recorded in 2014, Thus,
64% of these credit institutions recorded a growth in the volume of sctivittes and 55% managed to improve
their everage retumn on assets. 33% of banks even experienced a joint effect of both factors. Some banks
also staried passing through negative interest rates to their institutional customers. Meverthelezs, it should
be noted that the magnitude of the increase is due to a limied number of credit institutionsa. Imespective of
the positive development of the net inierest income ower the last two years, the persistence of extremely low
imtere st rates reduces significantly the profitability outlook of the inte rme diation activity and constituies a real
challenge for banks which, in the long run, will have to take ecceptional measures such as the application of
negative interest rates

Other net income, an item that is wery volatile and that mostly includes non-recurring effects generally
regietered by a Eimited number of banks, improved substantially yearonyear [+33.9%). The strong annual
growth of this item mainly comes from a gain realised following an exceptional transaction by one bank
of the financial sector Bxcluding this exceptional element, other net income only rose by 1.1% to reach
EUR 2,2B8 million. With the szame adjustment, the net profit for the year 2016 would hawe shown a slight
increase of (L 2% year-onyear (comparned to the observed unadjusted growth of 18.4%).

1.5.2. Negative developments of the profit and loss account

Met fee and commizssion income, which maink resuliz from asset management activities on behalf of
private and institutional clients, incheding the financial services provided to imvestment funds, decreased in
2014, This source of income of the credit institutions was impacted by less favourable stock market conditions
as compared to the previous year and was only partially compenzaied by the strong growth in the financial
markets during the last quarier of 2014.

Met creation of provisiona recorded a sharp increase of 37.1% as compared to 2015. Due to a limited number
of banks, the scale of this increase is attributable to reasons specific to each bank. In the past, thia item was
always characterised by significant volatility [cf. table "Long-term development of profit and boss account - in
million EUE™ below ). It should be no#ed that, in comparison to other Eurcpean countries, Luxe mbourg remains
amang the countries with the lowest rate of non-performing loans.

Long-term development of profit and loss account - in million EUR

2006 2007 206 2003| 2010| 2001| 20M12] 13| 04| 2015 () 2006 [*)

Mat Interest Income 3,848 4505 5792| S807| 4761 4060| 4671| 4231 4D66| 4406 4734
Met fee and commission 3674) 4010 3544| 3132| 3567 3E32| 3727| 3oz 4101 47| 4613
income
Diher net Income 3278) 2371 1001| 1614| 1201 76| 14p01| 2213 2217| 2262 3o
Banking Income 10,800 | 10,576 | 10,437 | 10,553, 5,543| B,B6E| 9,800 10455 10,384 11477| 12,375
Ceneral expanses -3.561| 4.420| 4,560 | 4,451 4609 | -4,785 | 4,954 5,196 5005 -5542| -6.014
af which: SiIT costs 2100| -2.572| 2461 -2.440| -2407| -2535 -2602| -2,745| 2424 -3005 -3.068
i which: geners! 1,801 -2.048| -2000 | -2002| -2,112| -2253| -2.372| -2,453| 2381 -267E| -2048
adminlsrEie axpensas
Profit befors provislons | 6613 6.556| S877| 6102 4333| AnB0| 4806 5258 5373 5535 6361
Met creaion of provisions 3p5| -10%8| 5300| 3242) o8| -1572| 7es| @es| -mw| 57| TEm
Tax 43| -7B0| -pSp| -804 63S| -1 503 -7e2| -7op|  Es8| -&no
Mat pront for the yoar SE71) 4733 26| 2056| 3617 2490| 3538 3631 4253 4070 4819

{*] Thess figures wes adjusted following the sxisnsion of the scope to foreign branche s of Lucembourg banks.
{**] Preliminary figures.




1.6. Prudential ratios

1.6.1. Solvency ratios

» Regulatory framework and calculation approaches implemented

In accordance with Article 92 of Regulation (EU] Mo 575,/2013 (CRE), Luxembourg credit institutions must
comply with the following three structural ratios relating to solvency since 1 January 2014

- 8 Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5%;
- a Tier 1 capital ratio of &%; and
- a total capital ratio of BE

These ratios include the eligible own funds in the numerator and the total risk exposure amount in the
denocminator a& defined in Article 92 of the CRRL

Besides the minimum requirements a& laid down in Article 92 of the CRR and the specific capital reguirements
pursuant toArticle 53-1 of the Law of 5 April 1993 on the financial zector, Lixembourg banks must hold capital
buffers in accordance with Chapier 5 of Part lll of the above-mentioned law. Thus, based on Article 59-5 of the
Law of 5 April 1993, the banks must hold a Commaon Equity Ter 1 capital conservation buffer equal to 2.5% of
the total amount of their risk exposures

In addition, pursuant to C55F Regulation N® 14-0B and the opinion of the Systemic Risk Board, the CESF
designated six credit institutions as other sysiemically important nstitutions within the meaning of Article
50-3 of the abowe-mentioned law. As “other sysemically important institutions™, these banks must hold
additional capital buffers of (5% or even 1% These capital buffers must be phased in over three years as from
1 January 2016.

Finally, in accordance with Article 59-6 of the Law of 5 April 1993, the banks maintain a couniercychcal capital
buffer which vares sccording to the geographical composition of assets beld by banks and the countercyclical
buffer raies that the macroprudential authorities apply at national level 50 a5 to mitigate the risk of excessive
credit growth in their respective countries. The countercyclical buffer rate applicable to the relevant exposures
located in Luwembourg is set at 0% in CS35F Regulation N® 16-15

Az at 31 December 2016, nine banks were authorised to use the iniemal ratings-bazed approach regarding
credit riek, s of which have used advanced methods allowing not only own estimates of probabilities of
default but also of the boss given default andfor of the comeersion factorz. These banks are exclusiely
significant banks within the meaning of the 55M. They represent 2B.1% of the aggregate balance sheet total
of the financial centre a& at 31 December 2016. Compared to the end of 2015, the number of banks using the
IRE approach decreased by one entity, one bank having recewed suthorisation by the ECB to etum to the
standardised approsch

As regards operational risk, 10 banks (among which eight significant banks within the meaning of the S5M)
hawe an authorisation to use the AMA approaches. The other banks used the basic indicator approach
{77 banks) and the standardized approach {19 banks) to determine the capital requirements for operaticnal
risk.

Moreower, only one Luxembourg bank (significant within the meaning of the 55M) used an intemal model

for calculating own funds requirements for market risk. Mo bank established in Luxembourg submitted an
application file in order to use the IMM approach.

Information on internal models wsed by banks iz alzo available under point 2.4. below.

= Solvency ratios

At aggregate level, the total capital ratio for the financial centre was 24.8% as at 31 December 2016 which
represents an increase companed to the ratio of 20.7% as at 31 December 2015. Hence, it largely exceeds the
minimum threshold of 8% and 10.5% (minimum threshold of B% plus the capital conservation buffer of 2.5%),
respectiveby.
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The Tier 1 capital ratio, whose numerator only incledes own funds which absorb losses in going concem
situationg, was 24.1% as at 31 December 2014 (a rise compared to 20.0% at the end of 2015). The Commaon
Equity Tier 1 capital ratic (CET1 ratic) was 24. 0% as at 31 December 2014 [a rize compared to 19.9% at the end
of 2015). The levels of the CET1 and Tier 1 capital ratios, which largely exceed the regulatony minima (incleding
the capital conservation buffer] of 7% and 8.5% respectively, bear witness to the robust solvency and to the
preponderance of high-quality capital #iems in the banking sector.

The high lewel of capitalisation is also meflected at dizaggregaied level As illustrated in the following
table, no bank was within the weasker capitalisation bands with respect to the total capital ratio, as at
31 December 2014 However, it should be remembered that for banks whose ratio falls below 10.5%,
restrictions in terms of bonus and dividend payments apply [Articlke 59-13 of the Law of 5 April 1993 on the
financial sector]. The ecommendation of the ECB of 13 December 2016 [ref.: ECB/ 2016/ 44) on dividend
digtribution policies lies within the same context and addresses poesible distribution of dividends based on

the results of 2016

Distribution of the solvency ratios

Common Equity Mumber of | Tier 1 capital ratio Humber of Total capital | Mumber of
Tier 1 capital ratio banks banks | adeguacy ratio banks
[CET1)

%4 5% a0 <% 1] <8% 1]
4 50T a f%-8.5% 1] B%-10.5% 1]
To-B% a B.5%-10% 1] 10.5%-12% 4
B9%-B% a0 10%-11% 3 12%-14% [i]
B9%-10% a0 1M1%-12% 4 14%-18% il
=10% a3 =12% o =18% T
Total 54 58 58

= Elements of own funds

Apgregate own funds, efigible for compliance with the minimum solvency requirements, amounted to ELUR
50,120. 4 million as at 31 December 2016



Elements of own funds

Owen funds

Tier 1 capital

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1)
Capital instruments that qualify as CET1
capital

Retamned eamings, other reserves, funds for
general banking risks

Oiher accumulated comprehensive income
Minority interests

Adpustments of CET1 deriving from prudential
filters

{-) Intangible assets, goodwill and differed tax
assels

{-) Hoddings in financia instruments of financial
sechor enfities

{-) Ctther deductions

Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1)

Capital instruments that qualify as AT1 capital
Dther items that qualify as AT1 capital

{-) Deesdhuctions from AT1 capital

Tier 2 capital [T2)

Capital instruments and subordinated loans
that qualify as T2 capital

Dther items that qualify as T2 capital

{-) Diesdhusctions from T2 capital

2013

Amount
{in millon

47,6008
45,8937

45,7362
264241

23,6238

22840
032
-83.0

-2.115.3

-840.0

-3.448.1
1573
1575

0.
0.
1.707.0
18872

438

Relative
share

100.0%
96.4%

96.1%

0.3%

36%

2016

Amount {*)
{in million

30,120.4
48,693 1
48,5338
I7. 7485

24,4401

14269
0.1
-153.6

-1.0252
-328.7

-2,833.3
1993
150.2

0.0
0.1
14273
1.407.5

042
744

Relative
share

100.0%
97 2%

96.8%

0.3%

2.8%

{*) Prefiminary figures.

* Risk axposure amounts

The rigk exposure amounts fell by EUR Z7,47215 million between the end of 2015 and the end of 2016 to
EUR 202,365.1 million -12.0%). This development s mainly influenced by the reduction of risk-weighted
exposure amounts for credit risk which dropped by EUR Z7.17 13 million. This decrease mainly results from
the transformation of some credit institutions into EU branches which are not subject to Article 92 of the CRRL

As at 31 December 2014, the average credit risk weight of banks in the financial centre amounts to 28%. The
above reflects the fact that the banks hawve exposures to counterparties which benefit from a good credit
assessment (mainly to reted institutions, rated corporations and central administrations) 2s well a3 exposures
for which the credit risk ia mitigated by recognised mitigation techniques. These weights are in line with the
lowi ratia of non-performing loans of 1.4% at the end of December 2016,
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Risk exposure amounts

{im miliian ELIR) A5 in% | 2016(*) in %
Total risk exposure amount 2298376 | 100.0% | 2023631 | 100.0%
Exporsure amounts for credit nisk, counterparty risk and 2035287 88.6% | 175.568.2 B7.3%
diluticn risks and free delivenies

of which: Standardised Approach (5TA) 158.877.2 6o1% | 13,7058 | 651%
of which: internal relings-based approach (IRB) 44 6470 15.4% 448585 | X2IN
Total dearing/settlement risk exposwre amount 05 0.0% 05 0.0%
Total position risk, foreign-exchange misk and commodity 1,888.6 0.8% 24485 1.2%
risk exposure amount

Total operational risk exposure amount 223514 9.7 % 21,762.9 10.8%
Total credit valuation adjustment risk exposure amount 18184 0.8% 1475 0.5%
Cither risk exposure amount 2541 0.1% 0.8 0.3%

{*) Prefiminary Ngues.

1.6.2. Liguidity ratios

* Regulatory framework

Regulation [EU) No 575,/2013 lays down three structural ratios relating to lquidity:
- Liquidity Coverage Requirement [LCR] in accordance with Delegaied Regulation (EU) 2015/ 61;
- @ ratio on the asset encumbrance pursuant to Implementing Regulation (EL) 2015,/7%; and

- Met Stable Funding Ratio or NSFRL In accordance with the Basel Il Agreement, the NSFR should enter into
force in January 2018 as a binding standard Curmently, it only represents an instrument to monitor liquidity.

= Liguidity Coverage Requirement (LCR)

As at 31 December 2014, the weighted average of the LCR of Luxembourg banks and Luxembourg branches
of banks that hawe their registered office outside the EU amounied to 230% as compared to 157% at the end
of December 2015. The regulatory minimum to be cbserved amounted to 70% at the end of December 2014.

On the aggre gated level, a significant concentration of the liguid assets buffer in Level 1 assets stands out. The
shori-term deposits made at the BCL represent the major part of Luxembourg banks® liquid assets.

During 2014, the C55F was confronied with a small number of breaches of the minimum regulatory threshold
of 70% After analysiz, these breaches are rather explained by involuntary negligence at the level of the
management of liquidity than by real liquidity insufficiencies. Every breach led to a monitoring of the swift
restoration of the compliance with the regulatory minimum as well as to an examination of the root causes
of the breach in crder to determine the proper measures required so as to avoid repetition, in particular with
respect to imternal control.

Finalhy, it should be noted that Implementing Regulation (EU) 201&,/322 of 10 February 2016 introduced nes
reporting tables of the LCR.

* Met Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)

The weighted average of the NSFR of Luxembourg banks and Luxembourg branches of banks having their
regietered office outside the EL, calculated with the assessment tool developed by the EBA, amounted to 130%
in December 2014, This assessment tool emaine appraximate wntil new reporting tables are implemented
which will be based on common rules introducing the MSFR as binding management standard for EU credit
institutions.



= Asset ancumbrance risk ratio

Luxe mbourg banks have a low azset encumbrance risk ratio. Az at 31 December 2014, this ratio amounted to
7.24% on aggmegated basiz against 7.40% on 31 December 2015, which shows that most of the Lixembourg
banks’ assets are unencumbered. Only 10 banks have an asset encumbrance risk ratio exceeding 15% due to
their business model. This iz, in particular, the case of banks izsuing covered bonds. As a consequence, these
banks are subject to additional reporting requirementz.

Moreower, credit institutions generally have significant liquidity reserves in the form of received and reusable
collateral.

= Ganeral situation regarding liquidity

Generally, the overall liquidity situation in the Luxembourg banking sector may be considered as comfortable.
The year 2014 did not witness any particular event leading to Bguidity strains fior banka.

Duwe to their wealth management and imestment fund activities, most credit institutions in Luxembourg
hawe liguidity surpluses which guarantee them, if need be, a stable refinancing. Liguidity surplus is often
imvested via the interbank market with counterparties which generally belong to the zame group as the bank
in Luxembourg. As regards the banks which, as a result of their credit activities, have a net funding need, their
liguidity shortage ie covered using resources of the group. The management of liquidity of Luxembourg banks
is thus widely integrated in that of their respe ctive group

1.6.3. Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRREB)

» Regulatory framework

Az regards interest rate risk in the banking book, Article 30(4) of C55F Regulation N® 15-02 relating to the
supenvisory review and evaluation process that apples to CRR institutions provides that the CS5SF shall take
measures at least in the case of CRR institutions whose economic value declines by more than 20% of their
own funds & a result of a sudden and unexpected change in interest rates of 200 basis points or equivalent
as given in the EBA guidelines. The review and evaluation are gowermned by the provisionz of Circular CS5F
0B/ 338 regarding the implementation of a stress test in order to assess the interest rate risk arising from
non-treding ook activities.

= Structural interest rate risk evaluation ratio

The analysiz of the stress test resulis according to Circular CS5F 08,338 confirmed that, as at 30 June 2014,
the Luxembourg banking sector as a whole is only moderately ex posed to structural interest rate risk. Indeed,
the average of regulatory ratios (reporting simulated losses following a scenario of changes in the interest
rates ower eligible own funds) amounts to-3.B%. In other wordg, the impact of an immediate 2% rize in owerall
interest rates would cut the intrinsic value of the financial centre’s banks only by about 3.8% of their own
funds.

0n 30 June 2014, the structuralinierest rate risk was fairly stable compared to the results 3 at 31 December 2015
where the awerage ratic amounted to -4.1% Whereas the regulatory ratio remained fairly stable ower the
year, there is an important heterogeneity acrozss the banks. Thug the regulatory ratio deteriorated for
approximative by half of the banks of the financial sector.

As far as dispersion of results is conce med, 70% of the banks of the financial centre had a ratio higher than or
equal to-5% and only 4% of the banks had a ratio of less than -15% In 2014, the C55F identified two banks whose
regulatory ratios were kess than -20%, a threghold which requires the authorities to take measures pursuant to
CRD V. Hence, the CSSF entered into contact with these banks to receive supplementary information. Afier
analysis, it was decided that an on-site inspection will be carmed out at one of these banks in 2017
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Supervision of the inerest rate risk according to Circular C55F 08/ 338 did not lead the CS5F to adopt other
specific measures in 2014, Gieen the curment context of historically low interest rates and the concomitant
preesure on income, the CS5F continues to closely monitor the taking of structural intere st rate risk. The CS5F
reminds banks of their obligation to manage interest rate risks in a prudent and sound manner in accordance
with Articke 14 of CESF Regulation N® 1502 and with the new Chapier 8 of Part Il of Circular CSSF 12/552.

In April 2014, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision published new rules for inierest rate risk in the
banking book. These rules provide for a stricter threshold for identifying risky banks. Any bank whose ratio of
simulated loss, resulting from a variation of interest raies, over Tier 1 capital becomes losrer than - 15% will be
considered an “outler”. Momeover, the Basel Committee calls for more effective prudential measures when a
rizky bank iz identified.

2. PRUDENTIAL SUPERVISORY PRACTICE
2.1. Organisation of the supervision

Since 4 Movember 2014, the direct supervision of significant banks has been camied out by the ECB. Less
significant entities continue to be supervised directly by the CS5F, under the control of the ECB. Thiz conirol
framework, called Single Supervisory Mechanism (35M), provides that the ECB authorises any new bank
which iniends to be established in Luxe mbourg.

At the end of 2014, 58 banks established in Luxe mbourg were directly supervized by the ECB, either because
theyexceeded the criteria for being considered as significant matitutions [Sls) at solo or consolidated level, or
because they were part of 8 group considered significant. These banks represenied 49.7% of the total assets
of the Luxembourg banks

Seventy-one banks were considered as kess significant institutions (LSks) and 12 banks were branches of
bankswhose regisEeed office was established outside the EL and which did not fall within the scope of the S5M.

The supervision of 5l is exercized by the Joint Supervizory Teams [I5Te) formed of staff members from the
ECB and from the national compeient suthorities. The C55F ie taking part in 28 |5Ts for a8 many banking
groupa. Twenty-nine C55F agents and 10 C55F experts are directly or indirectly (as support] involed in this
supernvisory framewark.

Banks established in Luzembourg by category

SSM status Number of banks In % of assets
Significant institutions - Sis 40 51.5%
Branches of an S 18 18.2%
High-priority less significant institutions - High-priority LS1s 3 3.8%
Less significant inssitutions - LSs 61 16.3%
Branches of an LS 7 13%
Dutside the scope of S5M 12 B9%
Total 144 100.0%

The national competent authorities remain responsible for the supervision of less significant entities and the
ECB ensurez quality checks thereof. In the context of these quality checks, the C55F iz required to send a
certain number of ex anie or ex post notifications conceming the measures taken during the supervision of
these entities. It is noeworthy that the ECB endeavours to increasingly harmonise the supervizion of kess
significant banks.

The 55M's supervisory approach iz described in detail in the document “Guide to banking supervision™.

" Wablink: hizps-// weew benkingsupardision sumpa s fechy’ puby/ pdfY ssmeguides banki rision 20041 Lanpdf 74048 dobé | dbde D075
oHT 22d5afi? fod. In this regand, ses also the annual reports of the ECB published under hitpe/ fwww sch sumpa suy’puby’ annual Mhomb!
indaegn himl



2.2, Authorisations

The CESF mainly iniervenes in three banking-related authorisation processes

2.2.1. Authorisation of new credit institutions

Since the introduction of the 58M, the authorization of new credit inetitutions in all euro area countries
iz granted exclusively by the ECB. The CS55F remains competent for the suthorisation of branches of
third-country credit institutionz.

However, the CS5F is still the entry point for the submigsion of all the suthorization filke 'When receiving
an apgplication, the CE5F first informs the ECE and then analyses the file in order to verify compliance with
the legal and regulatory requirements. Afier the examination of the file, the CS5F prepares a proposal and
submits it to the ECE, in the case of Luxembourg credit institutiong, or to the Minister of Finance, in the case
of branches of third-country nstitutions, for a decision

In 2014, the CS5F worked on eight authorisation requests for new credit institutione Two authorisation
requests for branches of third-country banks were approved by the Minister of Finance. The examination of six
authorization files continues in 2017

2.2.2. Authorisation for acquisitions of qualifying holdings

Like the authorisation of a new institution which requires prior examination of the file by the CS5F, including
the authorisation of ite shareholders, the subsequent acquisition of holdingz that reach or exceed 10% of the
capital (known as gualifying holdings) must alzo be examined by the C55F and authorised by the ECB. In 2014,
the CS5F examined 14 files regarding acquisitions of qualifying holdings, 12 of which were authorized by the
ECE during the year.

2.2.3. Authorisation of directors and managers of banks

In 2016, the C55F dealt with 232 files regarding the nomination of new directors and authorized managers
in Luxe mbourg credit institutions. The nominations in significant institutions [Sis) which are subject to direct
supervigion of the ECE under the 55M are transferred to the ECB for authorization, following the examination
of the file by the C55F, whereas the nominations in less significant institutions [LSis) are directly authorized
by the GS5F

2.3. Banking supervision

2.3.1. Supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP)

The banking supervision in the EU is based on rules and principles harmonised to a great extent via Directive
2013 /36,/EU [CRD IV). Article 97 of this directive establishes the supervisory review and evaluation process
{SREF] which requires the competent authorities to examine the arrangements, strategies processes and
mechanisme implemented by the institutions to comply with the CRD IV /CRR framework and to ensure a
sound management and coverage of their risks In this context, the competent authorities must, in particular,
evaluaie the risks to which the banks are or might be exposed, the riske that a bank poses to the financial
zystem and the risks revealed by strees esting.

In Luxembourg, the SREP is codified in Article 21 of C535F Regulation N* 1502 relating to the supervisony
review and evaluation procees that applies to CRR institutionz. The SREP is applied in a proportionate manner
to credit instiutions according to a supervisory examination programme established having regard to the
nature, scale and complexity of their activities and risks and, if relevant, their situation within the group.

The supervizory examination programme mainly provides for two types of complementary controlz, namely
on-site supervision, carmed out via on-site inspections, and off-sile predential supervision which is based on
amy other information collected.
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» Off-gite supervision

COff-gite supervision consists in analysing key figures and pericdic reports that the banks must submit to the
competent suthorities. It i supplemented by meetings with the authorized management and key function
holders and, if necessary, by additional information requests. This supervision aims to assess compliance with
the applicable regulations and the capacity of banks to remain in conformity with these nules.

The key figures are submitied via the legal reporting, which includes the following information, in particular:
- own funds and risk exposure amounts;

- financial information [balance sheet, profit and loss accounts and relating detailed takbvles);

- loases stemming from collateralised real estate lending;

- large exposures;

- leverage ratio;

- asset encumbrance;

- liquidity cowerage reqguirements; and

- net stable funding requirementz.

The follow-up of the pericdic reports includes analy sing the key figures, particularly regulatory ratios [schency,
liquidity and large exposures), and other indicators of risks and profitability (e.g. the amount and development
of non-performing loans, interest rate risk in the banking book or development of the main items of the profit
and loss account). These analyses are mainly quantitative and aim to assess compliance with the regulatory
ratios and the extent of the risks taken compared to the capacity of the banks to bear these riske

Besides the legal reporting, the CS5F mlies on the following information to evaluaie and assess the guality of
the organisation and the risks incurmed by the bank=

- analytical reports prepared by the révisewrs o'entreprizas agréés (approved statutory auditors);
- management letters izsued by the révissurs o'entreprizes agrads;

- reporis prepared by the banks’ internal auditors;

- reporis of the Compliance function;

- reparis of the risk control function;

- ICAAR/ ILAAP reporte

The CS5F requires, on a yearly basiz, a long form report from every Luxe mbourg credit institution as well as
from Luxembourg branches of non-EU credit institutions. Furthermone, the credit institutions supervised on a
consolidated basis are required to submit, on a yearly basizs, a consolidated long form report and individual long
form reports for each subsidiary included in the consolidation and cammying out an activity of the financial sector

The C55F examines the individual and consoldated long fiorm reporte drawn up by the révieswrs d'antreprizes
ggregs aswell as the long form reports of Luxembourg banks' subsidiaries. These documents contribute to the
assessment of the quality of the ocrganisation and of the exposure to the different risks of credit institutions
By design, the abowe complete the on-site supervision camied out by the C55F ams.

Management letters drawn up by the révisews o entreprises for the attention of the banks’ management are
an additional source of condensed information on the quality of the credit institutions” organisation. The CESF
analyses these management letiers in which the ex®rnal auditors state, in particular, the inemal control
gystem weakne=ses identified during their audit.

The C55F meets, when need be and at bleast once a year, representatives of the main audit firms in order to
discu=s topics relating to the awdit work in banks.

Moreover, the CS5F takes into account the work of the intermnal control functions when assessing the quality
of the organisation and risk management by analysing the summary report prepared every year by the internal
auditor and the reports of the Compliance function and risk control function in eccordance with the provisions
of Circular C55F 12/552.




Pursuant to the good practices in prudential supervision, the offsite supervizory framework of the CS5F
includes regular meetings with the authorised management and the responsiblbes of the inermal control
functions of the banks.

NHumber of meetings
2015 2016
Meetings with the dingeants (managers) of banks or 185 T3
persons responsible for the control functions:
Meetings with the other stakeholders (inchding other 44 50
supervisors or external auditors)

» On-gite supervision

The programme of inspections to be camed out by C55F agents is drawn up at the beginning of the year This
programme is based on the assessment of the risk areas of the different credit institutions. On-site inspections
generally follow standard inspection procedures, in the form of inierviews with the people responsible, the
assessment of procedures and the verification of files and systema.

For banks under the direct supervision of the ECB, the programme of inspections is drawn up centrally by
the ECB which takes into account the opinion of the J5Ts fwhich include C55F agents). These inspe ctions are
carmied out according to the 55M methodology, wsually by ®ams composed of agents of several authorities
{the ECB and national authoritie s).

Deetailed explanations on on-sie inspections are provided in Chapter XV “Instruments of supervision™.

2.3.2. Summary of the SREP

At least once a year, the analyses, information and insights of the on-site and off-sie supervision are gathered
and completed by specific analyses in order to reach an overall azsezsment in line with the relevant guidelines
issued by the EBA [EBA /S GL/S 2014/ 13]. To this end, these analyses, information and insights are aligned to the
following three dimensions:

- a risk asseszment sysem [RAS);

- an analysia of the credit institutions’ Intermal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Iniermal
Liguidity Adequacy Azsessment Process [ILAAP);

- a guantification of own funds and liquidity which cormesponds o the banks’ capital and Bguidity needs given
the resulis of the RAS, ICAAP and ILAAF analysis and the stress testa.
The RAS includes the following fiour element=z

- an assessment of the viability (ower 12 months) and sustainability (ower three years,/ over a complete cycle) of
the business model by assessing, in particular, the capacity of the business model to generate [risk adjusted)
positive net profite.

- an aszessment of the quality of the intemal governance arrangements, among which the intemal control
mechanizma, and the compliance of these arrangements with the provizions of the Law of 5 April 1993 on
the financial sector, C55F Regulation N® 1502 and Circular CS5F 12/ 552;

- an aszessment of the risks to capital which focusses on the inherent rizks and on the management and
control of these risks;

- an assessment of the liquidity and financing risks which covers the short-term Bguidity risks and the
long-term financing rizks as well as the management and control of these risks.
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Overview of the SREP framework

Risk Assessment System (RAS)

In accordance with the guidelines EBA/GLS 201413, the conclusionz of the assesaments of the differsnt
SREF elements are translated into an overall score ranging from 1 (no discernible rsk for the viabiliy of
the institution) to 4 (high risk for the viebility of the institution). A score of F may be given, meaning that the
institution iz deemed to be falling or likely to fail. Based on this overall assessment, the CS5F decides whether
to apply the supervisory measures as laid dowen in Article 53-1 of the Law of 5 April 1993 on the financial
sectar,

On average, as regards the SREP 2016, the overall score was 2.1 for leas significant banks that remain under
the direct supsrvision of the CS5F The CS5F decided to require additional own funds for 10 banks, deeming,
with regard to the SREP azsessments, that the minimum mequirements for own funds according to the GRR
do not cover appropriately the risks incurred. These credit institutions are subject to Pillar 2 capital add-ons
ranging from 0.5% to 4%, Moreower, the CS5F hes taken other supervisory messures to address risks and
weaknesses, particulardy in terms of intemnal govemance or business strategies deemed too aggresaive.

Allin all, the C55F sent 185 observation letters to banka of the financial sector during 2014,

2.4. Review of the approaches used to calculate the risk exposure amounts

The internal ratings-based approaches used by banks to determine the risk exposure amounts in sccordance
with the CRD IV /CRR framework require prior authorsation by the compeent authorities. In addition, these
imemal models are subject to controls ez provided for in Articles 78 and 101 of CRD W, transposed in
Luxembourg through Articles 23 and 24 of CS5F Regulation N® 1502 melating to the supervisory meview and
evaluation process that applies to GRR institutions. In Luxembourg, the inernal models which mainly cover
cradit and operational risks are used, with a few exceptions, by significant banks within the meaning of the S5k,

The meconsideration of the degres of undue variability of sk weights that these internal modsls can achiewe
azswell as the harmonization of the rules (via the EBA) and practices (within the 55M) led to the enhance ment
of the comntrols laid down in Articles 23 and 24 of G55F Regulation M® 15-02.

The CE5SF supports the ECB, as the competent authaority for the supervision of significant banks, in the
implementation of prudential proceases relating to the use of intemal models: neteork of exparts in internal
madels, handling of authorisation files, planning and performance of on-aite irepections or monitoring process
for internal models, induding relevant supervisory measures. In 2018, the CE5F analysed, among others, the




adequacy of the iniemal mode| validation as well as the EBA benchmarking results for Luxembourg significant
banks whose group head is domiciled in Luxembourg.

Regarding credit risk, the ECE had two on-site inspections carmied out at Luxembourg banks using the iniernal
ratings-based approach, in 2014, These inapections, which were under the authority of a C55F head of mi=sion
and which included, among others, C55F agents, were linked to requests for the author=ation of new models
as well a& to changes of internal models requiring permission. With the implementation of the 55M, these
ingpections are governed by common processes and procedune s within the S5M.

As regards operational risk, in 2014, the CS55F carmed out an on-sie inspection at one bank that uses an
advanced approach (AMA) to deiermine the operational risk exposure amount. For these types of iniernal
modelz, developed for the whole banking group and deployed at the constituent entities, among which the
Luxembourg bank, the CE5F, acting in ite capacity as competent authority, expects that within the Luixembourg
entity, the capital allocated to operational risks is duly analysed, argued and justified as to its adequacy for
the entity"s operation in Luxemb-ourg. The comparizon of scenarics with histornic losses, the exient of expected
losses as well as the analysis of sdequacy of scenarios with respect to local characieristics must enable
Luxembourg banks to make judgements on the adeguacy of the AMA approach implemenied at local level

In 2016, the ECB continued the initialisation of the TRIM project (Targeted Review of Iniernal Models) which

aime to bring back trust and reliability in the intemnal ratings-based approache z. This major project mobilize s
significamt resources, including at the CS5F

2.5. Suparvision of Luxembourg branches of banks having their registered office in another
EU Member State

Pursuant to EU regulations on the European passport for financial services, the responszibility of the prudential
banking supervision of these branches lies with the supervisory authority of the country where the regisiered
office i=. The prudential banking supervision includes mainly the supervizion of financial and operational riska.

Besides the prudential banking regulations, the legislator attributed to the CSSF the tzsk of supervising
other regulations, most importantly the supervision of professional cbligations regarding the fight against
money laundering and financing of moram as well a5 the supervision of the provisions relating to consumer
protection (MiFID). Moreower, the CS5F is responsible for the supervision of obligations in respect of the
depasitary bank function arising from the sectoral regulationz on UClz. The supervision of these regulations,
which is outside the remit of the ECH, is mainly performed through reports of the réviseurs d’entreprizes and
on-site inspections camed out by CS5F agents.

2.6. Supervision on a consolidated basls

As at 31 December 3014, 23 banking groups are supervised on a8 consolidated basis. The consolidated
supenvision is camed out based on the consolidated siuation of the parent institutions, among which 19 are
banks incorporated under Luxe mbourg law [20 in 2015), three are financial hobding companes incorporated
under Luxe mbourg law (idem in 2015%) and one is a financial holding company incorporaied under foreign law
establizhed in another EU Member State (none in 2015).

Thirteen [idem in 2015} of the 19 banks are part of banking groups considered as significant and their
supervigion, including the consolidated supervision, is exercized by the ECB. The consolidated supervision of
the other six banks, considered as less significant according o the criteria laid down in the 55M regulation,
continues to be exercised by the C55F, under the control of the ECB.

Likewise, one of the four financial holding companies i= subject to the consolidated supervision of the ECB
while the other three remain under the conzolidated supervision of the CE5F.

The conditions triggering a8 consolidated supervision, the scope, conient and means of supervision on a
conzsolidated basis are specified in Chapier 2, Title Il of Part | of Regulation (EU) Mo 575,/2013.

In accordance with the Eurcpean regulations, the main prudential standards and norma to be complied with
by an institution or a financial holding company at a consolidated level concerm:
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- consclidated own funds;

- observance of the consolidated solvency ratios;

- large exposure Emits on a consolidated basis;

- BITange Ments Conceming exposures to transferred credit sk
- consofidated liquidity;

- consclidated beverage ratio;

- information to be published (Pillar 3).

For those entities that remain subject to ite consolidated supervision, the C55F pays special attention to the
“group bead™ function exercised by the parent institution. It takes a particular interest in the way the parent
company communicaies ite policies and strategies to its subsidiaries as well as in the controls set up at the
Luxemb-purg parent undertaking in order to monitor the organisation and activities of the subsidiares and
their exposures.

The C55F has not identified financial conglome rates forwhich it should ensure additional supervision pursuant
to Chapter 3b of the Law of 5 April 1993 on the financial sector and which iz supplemented by Circular
C35F 15,/6209.

2.7, International cooperation in banking supervision

2.7.1. Suparvisory colleges

The cooperation between European competent authorities by way of supervisory colleges, as governed by
Articles 112 to 118 of Directive 2013 /36,/EL, did not become entirely unnece ssary with the implementation of
the 55M and these colleges continue o be in place at national level for lese significant banks. This cooperation
also exiends to non‘European suthorities In order to improve the functioning of the colleges of supervisors,
the EBA drew up regulatory technical standards on the functioning of colieges of supervisors (Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2014, 98 and Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2018/ 99).

In 20114, the C55F organised three supervisory colle ges for the supervision of less significant banking groups for
which it emercizes an ultimate consolidated supervision at European level [Quile st Wealth Management 5.A.,
EFG Imestment [Luxembourg) 5A. and Bangue Havilland 5.A ).

As a |large number of banking groups are present in the Luxembourg financial centre via subsidianes which, on
the one hand, are subject to the supervision of the C55F on an individual basiz and, on the other hand, belong
to the scope of consolidated supervision carried out by their home authorities, the C55F participates, as host
supervizor, in many colleges of supervisory authorities set up for these banking groups. In 20146, the CESF
participated in 38 meetinga of supervisory colleges, among which four supervisory colleges organised by the
supe rvisory authorities from non-EEA countries, which concemed in total 23 banking groups.

The establishment and functioning of the colleges ame baszed on written agreements (Memorandum of
Understanding, Moll) and Written Coordination and Cooperation Arrangements (WCCA) signed between the
different authorities participating in the colleges. In 2014, 31 Molls were in force and the CS5F was party to
eight WCCAs. Howewer, some Molls will be replaced by Molls signed by the ECB insiead of the CESF, thus
reflecting the new organisation of the banking supervision within the euro area.

The Joint Risk Assesament is a key objective of the colleges of supervisory suthorities. Based on this Joint Risk
Assessment, the colleges assess the capital adequacy of the banking groups and their subsidiane s with regard
to the incurred rigks, as well as their liquidity situation. The colleges then drew up a Joint Decision on Capital
and Liquidity which either confirms the adequacy or impose s capital surcharges or additional liquidity buffers
that the banking groups and for their subsidianes must comply with at a consolidated and /or individual level
These oint Decizions on Capital and Liguidity, which state the motivations underpinning the decision, anre
formally tranamitted to the banking groups and their subsidianes

Furthermore, the colleges aim at promoting joint missions carmed out by the authorities from different
countries participating in the colieges and the delegation of work between authorities.




2.7.1. Cooperation with other authorities

Besides the institutionalised cooperation in J5Tz and colleges, the C55F works closely with the foreign
supervisory authorities within the context of the consultations provided for by the Eurcpean directives and in
all circumstances in which cooperation is needed. Cooperation generally takes place in the form of requests
for advice, information or assistance initisted or received by the C55F. In this context, the CS5F =ent 109
letters to supervizory authorities in 2014,

The C35F also cooperates with the national judicial and law enforcement authorities in accordance with
Article Z of the Law of 23 December 1998 establishing a financial sector supervisory commission (Commission
de Surveillance du Secteur Financier] and Article 81 of the Law of 12 November 2004 on the fight against money
laundering and terrorist financing. Moreover, within the coniext of the assessment of the professional standing
conditions to be complied with by the persons called upon to form part of the authorised management or the
Board of Directors of a bank, the C55F refers to the State Prose cutor’s office of the Tnbunal " Amondissement
|District Court) of Luxembourg and to the Grand-ducal Police.

2.8. EMIR (European Market Infrastructure Regulation)

Regulation (EU} No 648,/2012 of 4 July 2012 on OTC dervatives, central counterparties and trade repositories
(EMIR) introduced a set of new rules and requirements aiming to improve transparency and reduce the risks
related to the derivatives markets. EMIR reqguires all derivatives contracts to be reported to trade repositories
and overthe-counter derivatives coniracts to be centrally cleared. It sets a framework that enhances the
zafetly of central counterparties and trade repositores and introduces a series of risk mitigation &chnigues
aiming to create sounder financial markets.

Commigsion Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/2205 with regard to regulatory technical standards on the
clearing obfigation of certain classes of interest rate derivatives eniered into force on 21 December 2015 In
addition, Commission Celegated Regulation (EU) 2016,/2251 with regard to regulatory technical standarda
for risk-mitigation technigues for OTC dervative contracts not cleared by a central counterparty has been
adopied by the Buropean Commission on 4 October 20156 and entered into force on 4 January 2017, These
standards foresee procedures for the counterparties and the compeient authorities to be followed when
applying exemiptions for intragroup transactions for collateral. Following the entry into foree of these delegated
regulations, affecied market participants have started to apply to the CS5F or notify to the CS5F that theywish
to exemipt intragroup tranzsactions from these re quirements.

The C35F has deweloped an interactive form to be used for the application/notification of intragroup
exemptions from chearing and collateral. Until the beginning of April 2017, 39 requests to exempt intragroup
transactions from the clearing requirement and eight from the collaeral requirement were submitied

2.9. Recovery plans
Directive 2014,/59/EU of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit
imatitutionz and imestment firms (BRRD) provides authoritie s with
- comprehensive and effective arrangements to deal with failing banks at national level; and
- cooperation arrangements to tackle cross-border banking failures.
The BRRD alzo requires banks to prepare recovery plans to owercome financial distreze

In 2016, the CS5F has ecenved 21 recovery plans and provided feedback regarding their overall completenesa,
quality and credibility. It also contribuied to the assesament of ecovery plans of significant mstiutions
consolidating in Luxembourg. Furthermaore, the CS5F actively participated in different working groups and
drafting teams imvoheed in the wider context of the BRRD and the crisiz management framework at the EBA
and 35M kevel




Agents hired in 2018 and 2047: Departments “Supervision of banks”, “Single Suparvisory Mechanizm®, “Supervizion of
imeaztment firms" and Internal awdi

Left to right: Eugénie STRADIOT, Nicolas BERNON, Christefls FAEDDA, Loway KHEDER, Mélanie FRANSSEN,
Jansica GONCALVES, Dirk MEV]S, Rositsa IVANOWA, Laura FABER

Absent : Louis LAMG







CHAPTER ViI

SUPERVISION OF PFS

1. INVESTMENT FIRMS

1.1. Development of Investment firms In 2016
.11 Development in the number of investment firms

The number of iwestment firms subject to the C55F s supervision increased from 104 umite as at
31 December 2015 to 108 units at the end of 2014, ie. a shght rise following the fwve-unit drop recorded

in 2015,

Nine entities hawe been granted an guthorization as imestment firm in 2014, against seven new entities
in 2015.

Sewen entities gave up their imestment firm stetus during the year under review, compared to 11 in 2015
These seven entities gave up their imestment firm status for the followng reasons

- change or cessation of ectivities, implying that the entity no longer reqguired an authorisation as investment
firm, as it no longer fell within the scope of the Law of 5 Aprl 1993 on the financial sector (two entitiea);

- judicial figuidation (one entity];
- merger (three entrties];
- change into specialised PFS [one entityl
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Among the imestment firms, the activity of private portfolic manager was the most widespread with
84 entities authorised in this eapect as at 31 December 2016, It is also worth mentioning that the majority

of the new entities registered on the official list, i.e. seven out of nine entities, adopied the status of private
portfolic manager.

1.1.2. CRR investment firms

In the comext of Regulation (EU) Mo 57 5/2013 of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit
iratitutions and imvestrment firms and amending Regulation (EU} Mo 6482012 (CRR), certein categores
of imveatrnent firma must comply with the new equirementa on prudential eporting since 1 January 2014,
GCircular G55F 15/606 darifies the categorisation of imvestrnent firma and explicitly sets out the crieria which
allowr determining whether or not an ifvestment firm fallz within the scope of the CRR.

The numbser of CRR imestment firma falling within the scope of the CRR amounted to 30 units as at
3 December 2014, as against 35 units a3 at 31 December 2015. Among the nine imfvestment firms newly
authorised in 2014, none fall within the scope of the CRRA.

1.1.3. Development in employment

After an employment decline over the last three years, mainly due to transfers of sctivities betwesn entities
of the financial sector which hed no impact on the aggregete number of jobs in the financial sector, the
imvestrment firms' staff stabilised in 2006, Indeed, employment in all imestment firms amounted to
2,285 people as at 31 December 2018, as against 2,27 8 people at the end of December 2015, Le. an increase
of +0.31%.

The upwiard variations of 8 certain number of players noticed in 2016 as well as staff variations related to
newi authorizations as imestment firms enabled to counteract the dowmward development of total staff due
to the demegistration of seven imestment firma from the official list and the staff reduction recorded in some
irvestrment firma.
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Employment in imve stment firms

Year Number of imrestment firms Total staff
2010 10 2358
1 118 241
2012 102 2 52
2013 107 2 580
2014 111 2380
2015 108 2278
2016 108 2285

It should be noted that the deregistrations in 2014, in particular the mergers by taleover by entities of the
financial sector and the change of an invesstment firm into a specialised PFS, do not necessarily reflect a loss
of joks in the financial sector. These transfers of activiies do not impact employment in the financial zector as
awhaole, but only affect the breakdown between the different categonies of financial playera.

It should alsa be noted that, &s at 31 December 2016, about half of the imestment firms had eight or less
employees.

1.1.4. Development of balance sheets and profit and loss accounts

The prowvisional balance sheet total of all investment firme established in Luxembourg amounted to
EUR 3,164 million' as at 31 December 2014, against EUR &,004 million as at 31 December 2015, ie. a
substantial decrease of 4. 30%. This fall is mainly attributable to one imeestment firm with a very high balance
sheet total and deregisiered from the official list in 2014, The nising balance sheet total recorded for a certain
number of players and, in particular, for one imvestment firm with a wery high balance sheet total as well as the
increase due to the imvestment firma newly authorised in 2016 were unable to foil the reduction of the balance
sheets related to deregistrations from the official st in 2016 and, to a lesserextent, to the decreasing balance
sheet total of some playera

Imvestment firms also recorded a8 negative development in their net results. Indeed, provisional net results
amaunied to EUR 1321 million® a& at 31 December 2014, agrinst EUR 249. 3 million as at 31 December 2015,
repre senting a substantial decrease of 47.03% This drop was largely driven by a player deregistered from the
official kst of investment firms in 2016 and having shown a significant profit as at 31 December 2015

It should alzo be noted that approximately one third of the ime stment firms, including notably several players
authorized during the |ast three years, registered a negative result as at 31 December 2014

Development of the balance sheet total and of the net results of imre stment firms

{ir o ELIR) .y 2016 Variation in %
Balance sheet total 6,004 3164 <47.30%
Mt results 2403 132.1 A7 02%

The branches @ stablished in Lusssmibourg: by ims stment finms origineting from ancther ELL/EEA Member State and included, since 2009,
in the total numbsr of irse st ment firms a% not induded in thas figuss.

* CF footnots Mo 1 abow.



1.1.5 International expansion of imsestment firms

» Subsidiaries created and acquired abroad during 2016

In 2014, one Luxembourg imestment firm opened a subsidiary in France.

* Freadom of establishment

In 2016, two branches were established in other EU/ EEA Member Staies by one imvestment firm incorporated
under Luxembourg law and one branch was closed. The total number of branches of Luxembourg ime stment
firmes in other EU/EEA Member 5tates amounted to 28 entities at the end of the year, compared to 27 entities
as at 31 December 2015,

Following the opening of a branch originating from Germany, the number of branches established in Lixembourg
by imvestment firma originating from other ELLY EEA Member States totala 10 entities as at 31 December 2016

There are no branches established by Luxembourg imvestment firms in a country cutside the EU/EEA.

* Freadom to provide services

In 2014, 15 imestment firms incorporated under Luxembourg law applied to pursue business in one or
several EU/EEA Member States by way of free provision of services. The total number of imeestment firma
which were active in one or more EU/EEA countries following a notification amounied to 7B entities as at
31 December 2014 (74 in 2015). The majority of the imwestment firma concemed carried out their activities in
several EL/EEA countries by way of free provision of services.

1.Z. Prudential supervisory practice

1.2.1. Compliance with the quantitative standards by investment firms

= Capital base

In accordance with Articles 24 to 24-9 of the Law of 5 Aprl 1993 on the financial sector, the authorization of
invesstment firms ie subject to the production of evidence showing the exisience of minimal capital base. This
capital bese consisting of 3 subscribed and paid-up share capital, relevant share premiums, legally formed
reserves and profits brought forward, after deduction of possible losses for the current financial year, must be
permanenthy available to the imestment firm and imvested in its own interest.

The CS5F reminds that the subordinated loans or the profits for the current financial year must not be taken
into account for the determination of the minimum capital base of a professional of the financial sector”.

Based on the financial data that imeestment firms must provide to the C55F on a monthly basis in accordance
with Circular CS5F 0%/ 187 [completed by Circular CSSF 10/ 433}, the C55F verifies particularly the compliance
of imeestment firma with the minimal capital base conditions. In 2014, the CE5F iniervened at five imee stment
firms fior non-comipliance with the legal provisions relating to capital base.

= Capital ratio

Imvestment firms falling within the scope of Circular CS5F 07 /290 [2s amended by Circulars CS5F 10,/451
10/4B3, 10,/497 and 13/568) defining the capital ratios pursuant to Article 56 of the Law of 5 April 1993
on the financial sector and investment firms falling within the scope of the CRR* must permanently fulfil the
capital ratio requirements.

* Purssnt fo Articke 20[E) of the Low of & Aprl 1003 onthe financial sector.

* CHA imestmant firms (of. point 112, of this chapser) no longes fall within the scops of Cirodar CESF OF /350 but must oomply with the
mquimmants of Directhe 2013/ 34/EL of 24 June 2003 [CRD V) and Regulztion (EL) No 675/ 2013 of 3¢ June 3013 ICRRY on capital
ratios and large axposurs limits.
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During 2014, the C55F recorded 10 cases of non-compliance with the capital adequacy ratio. Most investment
firme concerned regularized meanwhile the situation of noncompliance or are in the process of being
regularized. The C55F used its right of injunction in eccordance with Article 59 of the Law of 5 April 1993 on
the financial sector in one of the aforementioned cases. The CS5F attaches utmost importance to permanent
compliance with the structural ratios that investment firms are required to observe and closely monitors the
regularisation processes implemenied by imestment firms in case of capital adeguacy ratio deficiency.

= Large exposure limits

In the context of the supervision of compliance with large exposure Emits®, the applicable limits wer not
exceeded in 2014, so that the C55F did not have to interve ne.

1.2.2. Supervision on a consolidated basis

Following the Law of 23 july 2015 epealing Chapier 3a of Part Ill of the Lew of 5 Aprl 1993 on the financial
sector and introducing 8 common chapter gaverning the supe rvision of CRR institutions on a consolidated basis
[{Chapter 3 of Part lll}, only investment firms subject to Regulation (EU) Mo 57 5/ 2013 fall within the scope of
supervizion on a consolidated basiz®. The relevant articles define the scope and parame ters of the supervision
on a coneolidated basis. The comtent and means of consolidated supe rvision as well as cooperation with other
supe rvizory authorities with respect to consolidaied supervision are also defined the rein.

Az at 31 December 2014, the following three imeestment firms were submitted to the supervision on a
consolidated basis by the CS5F:

- CapitalatWork Foyer Group 5.A.
- FIL {Lixembourg)] SA."
- Fund Channel 5.A.

2. SPECIALISED PFS
2.1. Development of specialised PFS in 2016
2.1.1. Development in the number of specialised PF5

After several years of stability, the number of specialised PFS drified downwards in the financial year 2014 to
119 units [against 124 at the end of 2015).

Five entities were authorised as specialised PFS in 2014 [idem in 2015} However, 10 entiies gawe up their
status of specialized PFS in 2014, against four in 2015

* Lorge saposss imits am gowemed by tha CAR [Part Four rbating o fargs auposures | end e not applicsbls o it finma plying
with the criteria set out in Articks 5| 1) or Artick 04(1) of the CRR. imestment firms outhorised to provids imesbment e rvioes 3 and'or
ti Fall within the soons of the lws and regulations on large @ posursa.

® |rmam stmaet firma which do mee within the scops of the CRE are no longer sublect 1o comsolidmsd sups reision carmed o by the C33F.
" Corsolidsted supssision by the CE5F on the pasnt financial holding company in Lasmiboong, fa. AL Heidings (Lussmbourg) 34
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Among the specialised PFS, the statuses of corporate domicilistion agent and professional providing company
incorporation and management services are the most prevalent with 94 and 99 entities, eapectively,
authorised under these statuses sa at 31 December 20016 (2015: 93 and 98 entities, eapectively], followed by
the status of registrar agent with 60 entities authorised at the same date (2015 58 entities).

Breakdown of specialized PFS according to status

COperators of a regulated market authonised in Luxemboung
Financial postal senvices

Status Mumbser
Professionals providing company incorporation and management services a4
Corporate domiciligtion agents G
Regisirar agents 60
Farridy Offices® 36
Professional depositaries of assets other than financial instrumenis 12
Professionals performing lending operations T
Professional depositanies of financial mstruments 4
Diebt recovery 2
Muiual savings fund administraiors 1

1

1

Out of the five entities registered on the official list of specialised PFS in 2014, three applied for and exercise
the activity of Family Cffice, two requested the status of corporate domiciliation agent, two that of profe saional
providing compamy incorporation and management services, two that of registrar agent and one that of
profeasional depositary of assets other than financial instrumenta.

2.1.2. Development in employment

Dwring 2016, the number of people employed by all specialized PFS rose by 187, representing an increass of
4.9% a3 compared to the end of the financial year 2015,

¥ The: kem “Family ffice™ arly includes the entities authorissd and camying out this acthity:
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This growth iz mainly the result of a significant r=e in staff of eight entities, most of which operating in
the field of central administration of imvestment funds (+237 people). Specialised PFS which returned their
authorization in 2014 represent a etaff decrease of 112 people.

According to the figures as at 31 December 2014, 12 speciaksed PFS employed more than 100 people [against
10 at the end of 2015) and 55 specialised PF5 employed 10 or less people (against §1 at the end of 2015).

Development in employment of specialised PFS

Year | Mumber of specialised PFS Total staff
2010 13 3,552
am 113 R
2012 124 3,048
2013 124 3.2M
2014 123 34
2015 124 3,797
2016 113 3,972

2.1.3. Development of balance sheets and profit and loss accounts

The decrease of the provisional balance sheet total of all epecialised PFS by EUR 411.4 million a& compared
to 2015 [-5.6%] iz mainly atiributable to one large entity. 'With the exception of this entity and the entities
created or closed during the financial year, the balance sheet total of the other entities, however, rose by
EUR &&é million over one year [+12.2%).

Ower @ one-year period, the specialised PFS show an overall rize in their net results of EUR 114.2 million
(+546.5%), alzo mainly attributable to one |large entity. With the exception of this entity and the entities cre ated
or closed during the financial year, the net re sults of the other entities, however, roze by EUR 13.3 million over
one year [+4.5%).

Development of the balance sheet total and of the net results of specialised PFS

{in million ELIR) 2015 2016 Variation in %
Balance sheet total | 7.080.8 | 667B.2 5.8%
Net results 201.8 B0 +56 6%

2.1.4. International expansion of specialised PF5

During the financial year 2014, one specialised PFS closed its branch in the United Kingdom and another
one opened 3 branch in Malta. Thus, as &t 31 December 2014, two specialised PFS (idem im 2015) wene
represented by means of branches abroad, one in Malta and one in Denmark.

2.2, Prudentlal supervisory practice

Within the coniext of the prudential supervision exercised on specialised FPFS, the CS5F verifies compliance
with the quantitative and qualitative standards by specialised PFE.



2.2.1. Capital base

In accordance with Article 20 and Articles 25 to 28-10 of the Law of 5April 1993 on the financial sectog the
authorisation of speciali:ed PFS is subject to the production of evidence showing the existence of minirmum
capital base for a PFS suthorised as & legal person, or own essets for a PFS authorised as a natural person.

In 2014, the GS5F regisered cases of non-compliance with the legal provisions in this respect by 11 entities
(against sk entities in 2015). Their situation was regularised in & satisfactory manner within the months
following the noncompliance.

2.2.2. Complianca of the day-to-day management and Corporate Governance

In 2018, the GS5F imtervened three times (against 14 times in 2015) by way of defidency leters due to a
situation of non-compliance in the dey-to-day management of specialised PFS, mainly linked to insufficient
presence and/or effective imvolvement of one of the two daily managers in the day-to-day mansgement of
the entity or to the need for reorganisation of the composition of the administrative or management body of
the entity.

3. SUPPORT PFS

3.1. Development of support PFS in 2016
3.1.1. Development in the number of support PFS
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In 2014, the number of support PFS fell by one entity to 77 entities a8 at 31 December 20116, against

7 8 entities at the end of 2015,
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T
S support PFS were authorised in 2014, including taro secondary |T systems and communication neteorks
operators (D515), one client communication agent (ACC), one administrative agent (AA), one support PFS
curmulating ACC and Q515 statuses and one support PFS cumulating A& and 0515 statuses,

Devalopment in the number of support PFS
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Seven support PFS were demegistered from the officlal list for the following reasons: three for mergern, teo for
renunciation of autharisation, and o for liquidation induding one voluntary liquidation).
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Breakdown of support PFS according to status

Administrative
mgents [AA)

Primary IT systems
operators (0SIF)

Secondary IT systems and
communication netwaorks
operators [DS1E)

Client communication
agents (ACC)

It should be noted thet administratiee agents are ipso jure authorsed to exercise the activities of clisnt
communication sgents. As a result, no entity hes only the status of administrative agent. The same applies to
primary T systems aperators which are ipso jure authorised to carmy out the activities of secondary IT systems
and communication networks aperators of the financial sector.

3.1.2. Development in employment

The numbser of staff of support PFS dropped from 2,218 people as at 31 December 2015 (78 active entities)
to 9,185 people a3 at 31 December 2016 (77 active entities], representing an annual decrease of 33 positions
0. 36%).

Development in support PFS employment

Year Number of support PFS Total staff
2010 T3 B.248
201 a3 BATH
2012 a5 B,016
2013 ) AT
2014 ) B,043
2015 73 8,218
2016 17 B,185

3.1.3. Development of balance sheets and profit and loss accounts

The balance sheet total of all support PFS established in Luxembourg reached EUR 1,127.8 million az at 31
December 2014, as against EUR 1,107.2 million a= at 31 December 2015, L2, an increase of 18568

Cwer one year, support PFS show & drop in their net results from EUR 68.1 million as at 31 December 2015 to
EUR &6.5 million as at 31 December 2016 {- 2. 35%).

3.2, Prudential supervisory practice

The CS5F exercisea its prudential supsrvision based on several instruments, mainly financial and ad hoc
information, documents to be submitied in the context of the Risk Assesament Re port (RAR) and the Descripthe
Report (DR), imtroductony visits and on-site inzpections jof. Chapter XV “Instruments of supervigion™). This
aupervision also involves sending deficiency letters,

The G55Fawork in order to align its supervisory approach more with the continuously evolving specificities of
the activities of the various caegories of support PFS continued in 2014, Taking into account the weaknesses
identified ower the last years both in terms of quality and consistency of the Risk Aassesament Reports (RAR])
plays a major role in this context.







CHAPTER VIl

SUPERVISION OF PAYMENT
INSTITUTIONS AND
ELECTRONIC MONEY
INSTITUTIONS

1. PAYMENT INSTITUTIONS

The Law of 10 Nowember 2009 on payment services (hereinafter LPS) transposed Directive Z0OF /b4/EC
of 13 Nowember 2007 on payment =ervices in the intermal market into national law. This directive aims at
establishing a coberent legal framework in order to establish a single European market for payment services
and to ensure its proper functioning.

The LPS introduced the financial institution status of payment institution authorised to provide and execute
payment services, and imposes authorisation, exercise and supervisory conditions on these payment
institutions. The relevant payment services are specifically listed in the annexe to the LPS.

Following the authorization of two new payment institutions and the cessation of the activity of three payment
institutions in 2014, eight Lluxembourg payment institutions were listed in the public register of payment
institutions established in Luxe mbourg as at 31 December 2016, Moreover, one branch of a payment institution
established in another EL) Member State ceased ite activities in Luxe mbourg.

The balance sheet total of payment institutions amounts to EUR 418.0 million as at 31 December 2014,

which represents a 55% increzse compared to the end of 2015 when the balance sheet total reached
EUR 269.9 million.

In 2014, two payment institutione infringed the provisions regarding own funds laid down in Article 16(1) of
the LPS. Following the C55F's intervention, these institutions took appropriate measures in order to rectify
their capital situation.




2. ELECTRONIC MONEY INSTITUTIONS

Directive 2009/ 110/EC of 16 September 2009 on the taking up, pursuit and prudential supervision of the
buziness of electronic money institutions, repealing the first Directive 2000/ 46,/ EC on electronic money, was
transposed into national law by the Law of 20 May 2011, amending the LPS.

The major purpose of this directive is to provide electronic money with a sustainable and atiractive regime
and, in particular, to make the prudential supervisory regime of electronic money institutions consistent with
that applicable to the payment institutionz gove med by Directive 2007 / 64/ EC.

Following the author=ation of one new electronic money institution and the cessation of the activity of two
electronic money institutions in 2014, four electronic money institutions were listed in the public regiser of
electronic money institutions authorized in Luxembourg as at 31 December 2014,

The balance sheet total of electronic money institutions amounted to EUR 7946 million as at
31 December 2014, which represents a 16% increase compared to the end of 2015 when the balance sheet
total reached EUR 484.1 million.

In 20146, twio electronic money institutions infringed the provisions regarding own funds laid down in Article
24-12{1) of the LP5. Following the CS55F 3 intervention, these institutions took appropriate meazures in order
to rectify their capital situation.



CHAPTER IX

SUPERVISION OF
INVESTMENT FUND
MANAGERS AND UCIS

1. AUTHORISED INVESTMENT FUND MANAGERS

Authorized imvestment fund managers (authorised IFMs)' comprise the following types of fund managera:
- management companies subject to Chapier 15 of the Law of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for
collective imee stment (hereinafter 2010 Law); and

- authorised alternative imestment fund managers [AlFMs) subject to the Law of 12 July 2013 on aliematie
imvestment fund managers (hereinafter 2013 Law).

These managers vary greatly in Luxembourg, in #£rma of size and investment straeges as well as in terms of
exercised activities.

1.1. Development in numbers

The total number of authorized IFMs amounted to 294 as at 31 December 2014, compared to 2B2 as at
31 December 2015. This net increase of 14 entities is the result of 21 registrations and seven withdrawals
in 2014. Among the new regisirations, only one entity exercised activities in the imestment funds sector in
Luxemixourg for the firet time.

1.2. Geographical origin

Az in previous years, the main countries of origin of authorised IFM= are Germany, France, the United States
of Amerca and Switzerand. It should be pointed out that most managers regisiered in 2016 are of German
or French origin.

" It should be noted that this section’s statistios do not includs the 44 intmeally authorisd managers, namely 32 SICAVE which did not
dasignate n managemant company under Articke 77 1) of the Law of 17 Dsoemnber 2010 redating to undertakings for ool octhe inrestmant
and 12 inermally managed stemathe imestment funds (AlFs), as laid down in Articlke 401)[b) of the Law of 12 Jul 2003 on aliemathe
imestment fund managem.
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1.3. Development in employment

As at 31 Decermber 2016, total steff of authorised IPMs amounted to 4,513 employess, as against
4,232 employess as at 31 December 2015, ie. an increase of 281 employees. This rize results, on the one

hand, frorm a general increass of the number of employess within the existing authorised IFMs and, on the
other hand, from the amival of new entities in 2016,

1.4. Assets under management

Az at 31 December 2018, authorised IFMa managed assets of EUR 3,069 billion. The share of assets under
mianagement of UGITS mmains preponderant at 846.3%. The share of the 387 non-regulated AlFs managed by
authorised IFMs is marginal in terma of managed assets [ELUR 32.4 billion).

Breakdown of azsets under management according to type of product

Regulated AlFs Maon-regulated AlFs
EUR 365.8 bn EUR 29.4 bn
198 1.3%
Ragulated non-AlFs
EUR 14.7 bn
5% LICITS
ELR 2 44%.1 Bn
BE.2%

The category of “Regulated non-AlFs™ is composed of apecialised inestment funds [51Fs) governed by the Law
of 13 February 2007 and imestrent companies in risk capital (SICARs) governed by the Law of 15 June 2004
which do not qualify as AlFa.

* Others Andoma (3], Australia (2], Austrin (2] B (1L Canasda (31, Chili (1L Fnlard (2], Grescs [3), lersay (2] Lisohtanstein [2) Maka [Z],
Mauritius [1), the Matherlards [2), Morway (11 Poland [1), Portugal [2) Catar [2), Russia (2], the United Arab Emirees (1)
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It should be noted that the 50 authorized IFME which are the most significant in terms of asseiz under
management manage 0% of the asseta.

1.5. Investment strategies

The following table shows the breakdown of the imestment strategies of UCITS and regulaied or non-regulated
AlFs managed by authorised IFMs according to the categorizsations laid down in Commission Delegated
Regulated (EU) Mo 2312013,

Breakdown of investment strategies

Investment strategies UCITS  Regulated AIFs  Mon-regulated AlFs Total
Fixed income W% 28% 04% 40.9%
Equities 37 5% 14% 0.2% 30.1%
Funds of funds 3.6% 31% 0.3% T0%
Real estate 0.0% 1L1% 0.1% 1.2%
Capital investment 0.0% 04% 0.1% 0.5%
Speculative 0.0% 02% 0.1% 0.3%
Commedities 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.1%
Infrastructures 0.0% 02% 0.0% 0.2%
Others 0.1% 1.6% 0.0% 10.7%
Total 87.9% 10.9% 1.2% 100.0%

With respect to all the funds managed by authorized |FMa, the most epresentative imestment strategy is
“Fixed income”. Within the UCITS, the second most representative strategy is “Equities™ whereas, within the
regulated and non-regulated AlFs, the strategy “Funds of funds™ represents the second largest categony.

1.6. Discrationary management

The 2010 Law and the 2013 Law allow swthorised |FMe to benefit from an extended scope of activity, in
particular for the provision of discretionary management services. As at 31 December 2014, 42 suthorised
IFMe (idem in 2015) provided thiz service for a total of EUR 4 2.5 billion of assets under management (compared
to EUR 44.4 billion in 2015).

1.7. Financial situation

The provigional balance sheet total of all suthorised IFMz, including their branches, reached EUR 14.5 billion
as at 31 December 2014, 25 against EUR 13.0 billion as at 31 December 2015, ie. an increase of 11.5% This
positive development is due to a significant increase of “loans and advances™ and “amounts owed™, respectively,
cormelated with an increase of assets under management Mevertheless, this rise in assets under management
did not allow the suthorized IFM= to increzse their net results, due to a downward trend of operating margine
Indeed, provisional net results amounied to EUR 2.6 bilkon as at 31 December 2014, as against EUR 2.7 billion
as at 31 December 2015, representing & decrease of 3.3% Finally, from the 296 authorised |FMs,
232 recorded a net profit and 64 a net loss. Among the suthorised IFM= that recorded a loss, 12 are newly
created authorised IFMs.




Devalopment of the balance sheet total and of the net results of authorised IFM=

(in b ELIR) 2015 2016 Variation im %
Balance sheet total 13.0 14.5 11.5%
Met resulis 27 28 -3.3%

The financial data of suthorised IFMs alao shows that:

- liquidities held by the authorsed IFMa cover 118% of their own funds, showing a sound and prudent
ENEE T

- staff costs increased by 8.3%, due mainly to the strengthening of the presence of authorized IFMs.

2. OTHER INVESTMENT FUND MANAGERS

The following cther imestment fund managers are present in Luxembourg:
- 606 registersd imestment fund managers (registersd IFMs);

- 74 management companies subject to Article 1251 of Chapier 16 of the 2010 Lawe these management

companies manage UG lewhich do not qualify as AlFs or UCITS or which fall within the scope of the derogatony
of transitory provisions of the 2013 Law;

- 32 self-managed LICITS investrnent companies (SIAGS);

- 12 imtemally managed alemative investment fund managers;

- one management comparny set up under Chapter 18 of the 2010 Law.

At EUR 98.%9 billion, the share of the asssts under manasgement of these other IFMia memaine moderate
compared to the authorised |IFMs. The other IFMs mainly manage UCITS and AlFa.

Breakdown of assets under management by other IFMz according to type of product

Non-regulsted AlFs UCITS
ELW 2.5 ba EUR 55.3 bn
2.4% BE.0%
Regulnted AlFs Regulated non-AlFs
EUR 210 bn ELR 2.1 Bn
21.2% 20.3%

The following table shows the main imestment strategies of UCITS, regulated AlFs and non-regulated AlFs
managed by the other IFMa.
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Breakdown of investment strategies

Investment strategies UCITS  Regulated AlFs  Nonsegulated AlFs Total
Fixed income 01% 1.6% 0.0% T
Equities 20.9% 1.1% 0.2% 31.2%
Funds of funds 29% 8% 07% 10.3%
Real estate 0% 21% 027% 23%
Capital investment 0% 8.5% 0.5% 0%
Speculative 0% 0.8% 00% 0.8%
Commodities 0.0% 0.5% 0.0% 0.5%
Infrastructures 0% 23% 00% 23%
Others T2% 5% 17% 13.0%
Total 70.1% 26.6% 13% 100.0%

With respect to all the funds managed by the other IFMs and similarly to the authorsed IFMs, the most
epresentative imestment strategy is *Fixed income™.

Within UCITS, the second most representative strategy is “Equities®, whereas within the megulated and
non-regulated AlFa, the second most e presentative strategy is "Funds of funds".

At EUR 2.5 billion, the share of nonregulated AlFs managed by registered IFMs remains marginal in terms of
azsets under management for 51 wehicles, similarly to the trend observed in authorised IFMa

* EuWECA and EuSEF

In 2016, sk EVWVECA registration requests under Regulation (EU) Mo 345/ 2013 of 17 April 2013 on Evropean
veniture capital funds were submitied to the CS5F From the e sk requests, four entitie s were registered by the
C55F and can use the denomination EvVECA, which brings the total number of registered EWECAS to seven
as at 31 Decemnber 20716,

However, no authorisation request for an EuSEF in accordence with Regulation (EU) Mo 346/2013 of
17 April 2013 on Europe an social entre preneurship funds was submitted to the CS5F

3. CROSS-BORDER ACTIVITIES

3.1. IFMs established in anothar EU Member State

IFMs established in ancther ELl Membear State and ensuring the management of Luxembourg UCITS or AlFs
under Article 119 of the 2010 Law and,for Article 33 of the 2013 Law manage EUR 487.9 billion of assets.

Breakdown of products managed on a cross-border basis”

Regulated AlFs ucITS
ELIR 4.1 bn ELML£11.8 bn
15.4% 24.4%

* Data nat avaiabk for non-regulsted AlFs.




IFMs established in another EU Member State and exercising cross-border activities in Luxembourg break
diown as follows:

- &8 managers manage UCITS;
- 116 managers manage regulated AlFs;
- seven managers manage both UCITS and regulaied AlFs.

Among these 191 IFMe, five managers originating from Germany, France, Malta and 5Sweden provide
management services for UCITS and AlFs via a branch in Luxembourg as at 31 December 2016

3.2. IFMs established in Luxembourg
3.2.1. Freedom to provide services under the UCITS Directive

In 20146, seven authorized |FMs (compared to five in 2015) notified their intention to carmy out the functions
included in the collective management activities in ancther EU Member State in the framework of freedom
to provide services. The host Member States are Germany, Belgium, France, Ireland, the Netherlands and the
United Kingdam

3.2.2. Freedom to provide services under the AIFMD

In 2016, 13 authorized IFMs [compared to 12 in 2015) notified their iniention to manage AlFe under the
freedom to provide services in one or several other EU Member Statea. As in 2015, the host Member States
are Germany, Finland, France, ltaly, the United Kingdom and Sweden.

3.2.3. Free astablishment of branches under the UCITS Directive and the AIFMD

As at 31 December 2014, 28 authonsed |FMs [compared to 26 in 2015) were represenied by a branch in one or
several EU Member States under the LICITS Directive or the AIFMD. This comesponds to a total of &0 branches
{compared to 54 in 2015).

3.2.4. Subsidiaries/joint ventures created and acquired abroad during 2016

In 2018, two authorized IFMz opened a subsidiary abroad (one in Spain and one in Skovakia). Another authorized
IFM took part in a joint venture in the United Kingdom.

4. EVOLUTION OF THE UCI SECTOR IN 2016

Az at 31 December 2014, 4,144 UClz were registered on the official list, compared to 4,160 UCls at the end of
the previous year [(-0.4%). This decrease iz linked to 8 consolidation trend in the UC| sector, combined with a
preference to create umbrella structures.

From the 4,144 UClg, 2,656 had adopied an umbrella structure, representing an increase of 40 entities
compared to the previous year Treditionally structured UIC|s decreased by 546 entities.

The total number of fund units rose from 14,496 as at 31 December 2015 to 14, 595 as at 31 December 2016,
Thi= rise: results from the net creation of 115 sub-funds within LUICls with an umbeella structure.

Through the inflow of new capital and the positive developments in the financial markets, total net assets of
Luxe mbourg LCla grew by ELIR 197.7 billion ower one year to reach EUR 3,741.3 billion a& at 31 December 2014
|+5.6%]). This increase originates for 52 8% from net subscriptions and for 47.2% from a positive impact of the
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financial markets. Met capital imestments in Luxe mbourg UClz amounted to EUR 104 4 billion in 2014, which
provides evidence of imestors” confidence in the financial markets.

Evolution of the total number, number of fund units and net assets of UCls

Year Total number of UCk Number of fund units Net assets (in bn EUIR)
2008 2353 2,588 1.856.4
2007 3.050 11,287 20758
2008 3,582 12546 1.578.5
2009 3,609 12472 18584
2010 3814 12,203 22204
2011 4,121 13,565 21200
2012 4117 13,757 24137
2013 4,131 14,048 20457
2014 4,193 14,237 R berir)
215 4,180 14,406 35436
2018 4,144 14,565 37413

Similarly to preceding years, the Luxembourg UCITS sector benefiied from a positive balance between mergers
inwhich the receving UCITS iz domiciled in Luxembourg (77 projects]) and those in which the receiving UCITS
iz domiciled in another EU Member State (52 projects).

5. PRUDENTIAL SUPERVISORY PRACTICE

5.1. Prudential supervision

The CE5F = prudential supervision aims to ensure that IFMz and UCls subject to its supervision continuousky
observe all iegal, regulatory and contractual provisions relating to their organisation and operation, with the
objective to ensure imeestor protection and stability of the financial sysem.

Prudential supervision is exercised via:

- off-site supervision based on the analysis of the periodic financial information, annual reports, other reports
[including the reports of the reviseurs o antreprzes agress (approved statutory suditors)) and regular or ad
hoc infarmation recerved by the C55F;

- onesite supervision, Le. on-site inspections cammied owt by the C55F agents at the offices of supervised
entities.

5.2. Off-site supervision
5.2.1. Review of monthly, half-yearly and annual financial information

Circular CS5F 15/ 627 requires that all Luiwembourg UCIs [UCITS, UCls subject to Part Il of the 2010 Law, SiFs
and 51CARs) provide, on a monthly basis, functional information and financial information on the activities of
authorized funds and sub-funds (prudential report U1.1.).

Circulars IML 97 # 136, CESF OF 310, CS5F OB/ 348 and C55F 08,374 apply to halfyearly (prudential report
K3.1) and annual {prudential reports O4.1. and 04.2.) financial information.

The deadline to transmit the monthly financial information is 10 days following the reference date, which is in
principle the last day of each month. The deadline for communicating the halfyearly financial information s
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45 days after the reference date. As regards annual financial information, the reference date depends on the
closing date of the financial year and of the legal deadline for filing the annual accounts. Consequently, the
deadline for transmitting the information is four months for UCITS governed by Part | of the 2010 Law and six
manths for UCls governed by Part Il of the 2010 Lew and S1Fz.

Luxembourg UCls must transmit the finencial information electronically to the GS58F and, where applicable,
through a duly appointed provider, The CS5F expects that the UCls rigorously comply with the deadlines for
the communication of the financial information to the CS5F The GS5F also points out the importance of
prepanng the reports with dus care so that they are accurate in form and content.

The CS5F camries out quality and cohersnce controls over the data received and, where necessary, takes
sanction measures if the reporting entities do not comply with their obligations. In this comext, the CS5F
highlights that it publishes, on ita website, several docurments such as guidelines, control rules, examples and
FACE in order to clarify a certain number of recurring questions in elaton to prudential eporting.

Diata collected in the framework of prudential supervizion are shared with the BCL and STATEC for statistical
purposes.

§.2.2. Bupervision based on annual and half-yearly reports, management letters and long form reports of the
UCI activity
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In the framework of the review of annual and halfyearly reports, management letters and long form reports’,
the CESF had to take decisions, in the form of injunctiona, formal equests and ecommendations for the
atenton of the dinjgeants [directora) of some UCIa, These decisions wene designed to remedy organisational
deficiencies noted by the réviseurs d'entrepnzes agréds in their reports or management letters.

In 2014, the CS5F sent 20 letters to mquire cormective measures in order to remedy more serous defickencies
identified during the review of the above-menticned documents. Beaides the formal imterventions and pursuant
to & risk-based supervision, the CS5F intervened in 2016 incressingly vie &lephone of email to clanfy or deal
with less critical deficiencies

The following chart highlights, per type of mport, the number and proportion of reports inwhich one or several
daficiencies were noted by the révisew dentreprizes qgréé and which were subject to a eview by the CS5F.

Number and share of reports with or without deficiencies noted

Sumber
L83

arnr

1B

Mnnual reports [ Long form reports | Managerent Iothers
Il Wit iregetarities [ Without iregelarities

* Whils the anrual mports and managsment ktbers oonosen UCITS), S1Fs and SICA Rs, the long form reports only concern UCls subject 1o
tha P00 Law, La UCITS Part | and UGk Part IL

® It should b rioted that the reperts and maragsment ks rsoshed in 2016 mostl cenosmed the year 2015
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In 2016, the C55Fs interventions via letter, addressed mostly to 5IFs, mainly concerned the waluation of
assets, non-compliance with investrment rulea or asset eligibility and the fight against money laundering and
terrorist financing.

Gheen that the obsered valuation deficiencies notably concemed the absence of independent valuation or
the lack of documentation supporting the valuation process, the CS5F reilerates that the dingesnis of the
entities must ersure that appropriate and coherent procedures are established so that an appropriste and
inde pendent valuation of the UCIs assets may be performed in accordance with the applicable regulaticns
and constitutional documents of the LICL

§.2.3. NAV calculation emors and noncompliance with investment rules
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= Daclarations mada in 2016

In 2016, the CSSF received 1,738 declarations on the basis of Circular CSSF 02/77°, compared to
1,551 declarations in 2015, representing an increase of 12.0% that is entirely attributable to norrcompliance
with imestrment rules (+16.6%).

Evolution of the number of NAV calculation errors and instances of non-compliance with investment
rules reported to the CESF over the last three years

Murbar
1409
1,008
118
|
1
2004 I 2018 IF 2014 i

. MY ealculation amor | Momecompliance with immatrant rales

As in previous years, the aimplified procedure could be applied in most cases of MAY caloulation errors and
nancompliance with investment rulea.

" Ban if Ciroular C3SF 02/77 dess not automatically apply to SiFs, the C33F, nevertheleas, considers that SIFs may either opt for
the spplication of Circular CS3F DZ/77 or st othar imernal nuks that must remain within reasorabls limis with eepeat to the 3Fs
imsstrmant polioy. In this oonisat, the C35F cormiders that S1Fs, that hevs not sst specific internal rues, must apply Cinoular CE3F 02777,
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Ewvolution of the origin of NAV calculation emrors over the last three years
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Although the number of booking errora is declining, they remain the main cause of NAY calculation errors.

Failure to observe legal limitz of diversification, holding and bormowing emaing the main source of
non-compliance with investment rules with 987 casea (816 cases in 2015, Le. +21.0%). This was followed
by 317 cases of excesding internal limits defined in sales documents (305 cases in 2015, e +3.9%) and
105 cases of legal constraints breaches sa regards aaset eligibiliy (87 cases in 2015, Le. +20.7%).

The 16.6% increase in instances of noncompliance with investment rules i3 mainly linked to a rse of
naotifications regarding the 20% limit in deposits as laid down in Article 4.3(1) of the 2010 Law.

Breakdown of the instances of non-compliance with the legal limits of diversification; holding and bormowing
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* Compensation in relation to comrection of NAV calculation errors or instances of
noncompliance with investment rules

Compensation in 2015 and 2018"

Investors UCVSub-fund

2015 2016| Variation 2015 2016 | Variation

in % in %

Total armoant of
compensation following | 7.147.14078 | 315038134 |  550% 400072644 574861281 +152%
NAY calculation emors
Total armoant of
“’“‘“F'E"'“i“i ""'“m"'"“ 833780 338411.11| +5230.5% | 3351.16085| 191423114 420%
imvestment rules

Az in previous years, the large variations of the compensation amounts (increase or decreasze] are the result
of a few isolated cases requiring more significant compenaation. Overall, the total amount of compenzation
remains moderate a5 compared to the amount of assets under management.

* New form file for notifications

Az announced in Press release 17 /01" of 3 January 2017, the C55F introduced a form file for the tranamission
to the CS5F of information relating to non-compliance with imee stment rules or MAY calculation errors. This
form file iz applcable to UCls subject to the 2010 Law and to 5IFs subjct to the Law of 13 February 2007

The C55F expects that the notifications collected in this manner will contribute to the standardisation of the
process both in the indusiry and at the CESE

5.3. Ad hoc surveys

In 2014, the C55F carried out various ad hoc surveys within the contest of the supervizsion of UCls and in order
to meet a specific information request from 108C0.

5.3.1. Siress testing and confirmed credit lines

In june 2014, the C35F camied out a survey on the following aspects:

- confirmed credit linee made aveilable by Luwembourg end foreign credit institutions to [FM= and/or
Luxe mbourg UCls {LCITS and non-UCITS);

- the market and liquidity stress testing apphed by Luxembourg and foreign [FMEe to the Lusembourg LICITS
they manage.

This survey was carmied out with 3 representative sampie composed of the 50 IFMs domiciled in Luxemboung
with the highest net assets.

In particular, the survey showed that owerall the use of confirmed credit lines was very Emited. As regards the
existing credit lineg, confirmed credit line= concluded between Lixembourg UCle and credit institutions wene
predominant

As far as stress testing is concerned, the survey showed that most of the sempled IFMs apply market stress
test= consistently on all UCITS. Where necessary, they are supplemented with customised stress tests,
including for certain LICITS that wse the commiment approach for the calculation of the global exposure.

The risk factors used for these calculations come from both historical and hypothetical scenarios.
T Thi dats as at 31 December 2014 ans incomplets as the final compensation amounts hed not wet been fmalisd for some fies.

B Wablink:
ity /¥ wewrw oosi b/ Mfilsadming ks Pubfioations Communiquesy Communigues 2017/ PR1TD_form_fie_cirouiar 0277030007 pdf
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Moreower a large majority of the sample carries out, for all or part of the managed UCITS, liquidity stress teats
on bath the assets and lisbilities of the UCITS.

Thus, with respect to asset liquidity risk, 90% of the sample useseithera measuement of loas incumed following
the liquidation of assets, or an estimate of the liquidation time needed to sell the assets and, frequently, both
approaches simultansously. As far as fund liabilites are concemed, the approach of basing estimais on
historic redemptions is vesed as often as an approach based on hypothetical redemption scenariosa.

Following the mcommendations of the FSB ("Policy Recommendations to Address Structural Welnerabilities
from Aszset Management Activities™) published in January 2017 and the current Eurapean and international
discussions on asset management, the CS5F expects that future additional effort will be required from IFMs
in order to enhance their stress esting frameworks.

Themsfom, the CE5F wishes to remind the industry that, in accordance with Articles 45(2)i(c) and 45(3) of CE5F
Regulation MN® 10-04, IFM= must, where applicable, carry out market and liquidity stress ests in order to take
into account the risks resulting from possible market condition developments likely to negatively impact UCITS
and in order to assess UGITE liquidity risk ecposure in exceptional circumstances,

Pursuant to the requirements in place, the G55F expects that IFMs carmy out stress &sts on the UCITS
they manage by duly taking imto account their risk profile. Consequently, the CS5F considers that for UCITS
imvested, for example, in risky sasets fg.g. high yield bonds, emenging markets or ABS/MBS), the IFMs must
carmy out market and liquidity stres= tests. Thus, it is not sufficient to limit market stress tests only to UCITS
using the VaR calculation me thod for the calculation of the global exposune,

5.3.2. Other surveys

Following a referendum on the EL membership of the United Kingdom in June 2014, the CS5F implemented
a follow-up on & sample of IFMs managing Lusembourg UCls and Luxembourg self-managed imsestment
companies. This was to obtain information on possible significant developments or problems (for example,
large medemptions or assessment problems] encounterad in the UCls they manage and on the decisions or
mieasures taken in this respect. Generally, this mview did not highlight major problemns in the companies.

In Movember 2018, the G55F participated in a survey on behalf of I0SC0. This questionnaire concerned UCs
that follow so-called alernative strategies and had ower USD 500 million in net asssts as at 30 Septernber 20146,

5.4. UCITS Risk Reporting

In April 2018, the CS5F implemented, via circulardetter, & new hal~yearly risk rporting, called UCITS Risk
Reporting, for 30 Luxembourg and foreign IFMs managing UCITS domiciled in Lmembourg or sef-managsd

irvestrment companies. The purpose of this reporting is to increase the C55F's data on different sk indicators
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of UCITS. ltwas put in place as part of European and international discussions during which organizations,
auch as D800 or the FSB, roommendsd enhancing the collection of data in the assat mansgement field. By
thiz initiative, the C55F would like to be proactive at the European level in order to set up a common reporting
for UGITS, similar to the one in place for ARz,

The first UCITS Risk Reporting covered a period of six months ending on 31 March 2018, whemas the
subsequent reporting covered the second half of 2016 ending on 31 December 2016 in onder to adjust to
calendar half years

The UCITS Risk Reporting applies to all UCITS domicled in Luke mbourg, with & mone significant granularity of
the information requested from UCITS fuffilling at least one of the following twio criteriaz

- net azsets above EUR 500 milliong

- uge of WaR for the calculation of global exposumss covered by Article 42(3) of the 2010 Law with an average
groes leverage” used in the first half year that exceeds 250%.

Thia additional information concems, in particular, the applicable investrment strategy, the leverage used,
the rsk indicators such as wolatility or the application of univariate stress teats, the use of efficient portfolic
management techniques, the counterparty risk, the liquidity and credit risks, a8 well as 8 decomposition of the
leverage coming from derivatives per underlying type.

The first exgrcise concemed 10,323 UCITS (sub-funds) together totalling EUR 2,850 billion in net sasets as at
31 March 2016, Based on the above criteria, 1,474 UCITS (sub-funds) with an ageregate outstanding amount
of EUR 2,100 billion were concerned by all the information in the reporting,

Thia first exercise geve rise to some important statistics which are presented below

5.4.1. Methods for calculating global exposures and the level of gross/net leverage
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Around §6% of the 10,323 UCITS {subfunds) concemed by the mporting use the commitment approach for
the calculation of global exposures, whereas 19% use the relative WaR and 14% the absclute VaR approach.
In regard to the total net assets of ELUIR 2,850 billion, UCITS using the commitment approach represent 58%,
whereas LICITS using the relative VaR approach represent 25% and those using the absolute WaR approach
represent 7%

Average' gross' leverage of UCITS categorised by the calculation method of the global exposure
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The following ekements in relation to the graphs should also be pointed out:

- UCITS with net assets excee ding EUR 500 million and wsing the commitment approach to calculate the global
& pOsUre, Neport an average net leverage level of 4% (after taking into account the netting effects) for a gross
leverage [cabculated wia the nominal sum) of 19%. On awerage, bond or mixed UCITS hawe a net leverage
abowve that of equity LICITS.

- UCITS calculating global exposure via the absoluie VaR approach report, on everage, a gross everage of
206%. Among these UCITS, the maximum gross keverage reached over this period is 3,030% and the second
highest is 2, Z77%

- UCITS calculating global exposure wia the relative VaR approach report, on average, a gross leverage of
T5E Among these UCITS, the maximum gross leverage reached over this pericd iz 2,220%, and the second
highest iz 910%.

- Among the UCITS calculating global exposure via the VaR approach and fulfiling the megquirements of
additional information described abowe, ower half of currency derivatives and short-erm raie derivatives
contribuie to the leverage usage

- The analyses performed do not show strong cormelation between gross everage and the UCITS wolatility.
In addition, UCITS reporting a high gross leverage do not necessarily have the highest siress test results

5.4.2. Use of sacurities-financing transactions by UCITS

At the end of March 2014, about 30% of UCITS fulfiling the detziled information criteria reported that they carry
out securities lending activities for an awerage amount ™ of 11% of net assets. These activities concemn bond UCITS
as well as equity LICITE.

2% of this sample’s UCITS held repo transactions for an everage amount of 7% of net azsets. These repo transactions
concem mainky bond UCITS

Finally, the reverse repa transactions concern Z.6% of UCITS for an average amount of 12% of net assets and are
mazinky used by money market LCITS.

17 Explaratices for the “plot box™ dingrame: the first and third guarties of the sample delinests the b box so that G0% of the sampls is in
the bow The horzontad e going through the blue box is the median so that 50% of tha sampks is undamaath and 50K is abowe this .
The kemggth of the “plots™ outside the b equals 15 times the intemuartis range. The obssrmtions which are greater than L5 times the
intemquartik range of the box 2re marke d indrriduzlb.

e " The mweraps keils indicated am waighiod by net assets of e mspectie LCITS.
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Securities-financing transactions of UCITS categorised by imestment poliey™

Bond UCITS|  Equity|  Mixed Money|  Other| Total
UCITS market|  UCITS
UCITS
m;dﬁfﬁ;s camying out 27% 37.6% 219% 4% 143%n| Ao
mﬁm&m 4% 31% 28% D4%  44%| 35%
m of funds carrying 4.4% 0.8% 0.8% 0.0% ool 20%
mﬂm of the D.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% e
mf”"“ canrying out 23% 10% 0.8% 33.3% 57%|  26%
HAverage proporon of the D.5% 0.1% 0.1% 7.3% 0%l oon

reverse repo MAV

5.4.3. Liquidity profila of the UCITS" assets and liabilities

The following chart highlights the assessment by the IFMs and seff-managed imestment companies of the
liquidity profile™ of UGITS assets in normal market conditions. It should be pointed out that among the bond
LICITS, those with high yield strategies banafit from a lesser liquidity eatimate with 30% of asseta likely to be
liquidated within one day.

In this context, the CS5F stresses that IFMs must take the necessary measures in order to be able to provide
an asset liquidity profile, even when markets are under stress, at least for bond, miked and money market
LICITS"™,

Aggregated profile of the UCITS assats liquidity by BCL imvestment policy
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The GS5F observations show that IFMs and sel-mansged imestment companies may sometimes hawve
difficulty in providing information on the typology and concentration of imeestora in the menaged UCITS. In
this context and according to discussions at Evropean and imternational level, the CS5F highlights that, for
the purposes of adequate liquidity risk management, it is essential to develop knowledge in relation to the

™ Insstmart polioy ancording bathe BCL clemsification.

"= In the chart, tha meney market funds show 2 low valus undar the one-day liquidity nate gory dus to one major pleyer that calouated the
portfolio liguidity by using the maturity of the assets without taking into aocount the possibility to resel the assets on the secondary
ma

"% Thia fiald "UCITS portfolio iquidiy profilke in stressed markst conditiors at s mester-end™ of the UCITS Risk Reporting is still aptional at
the: momant.



“liabilities™ component of UCITS {for example, imvestor typology, possible concentration of imeestors,
irvestors’ rdemption behaviour).

The reporting confirmed that, in general, the liquidity management tools such 8s suspension and gating are, in
accordance with the prospectus and constitutional documents, available at the lavel of UGITS.

5.5. On-site supervision

In 2014, the *UC] on-site inspections” department increased to seven agents. It ia planned to substantially
increase the number of agents over the next two years. The team’s mission is to prepare, camy out and fiol low
up or-sie inspections in elaton to the govemance of IFMs, bassd on a long-term ingpection plan using a
risk-bazed approach. Momover, the department also coordinates and follows up on all the on-site inspections
conducted within the UCI de partments.

The *Prudential supervision and risk management” department performs thematic on-site inspections on risk
management, procedures related to Circular CSSF 02,77 and money market UGCla,

In addition, the *On-site inspection”™ department may camy out thematic on-site inspections at IFMs in relation
to the central administraton activigy, MIFID regulations and the fight againat money laundering and terrorist
financing,

5.5.1. Statistics

In 2014, the CS5F camried out 36 on-site inspections at UG departments’ lewel.

Authorised IFMs inspected represent about 15% in ®rms of assets under management of the IFMa. Momeower,
the inspections concerned nine authorised IFMs whose assets under management excesd EUR 15 billion.

Themes of the UCI departments’ on-gite ingpections in 2016

Gowedra noé of IFls
(imchuding 2 SIAGsfE 13

Cerilral administration™: 12

Othess (MIFID, AML/CFT)™: 2

Risk Al
Cirgular CSSF 02,77 4 Ak manageme

5.5.2. Main findings

Enhanced monitoring of delegates is currently being carmied out within authorised IFMs, which is encouraged
by the CE5F. Howewver, the CS5F noted that monitoring activities thatwene delegated by the authorised IFM to
one or several entitiea of the group wers still incomplets.

The CS5F stresses that an authorised IFM must have an appropriate infrastructure in order to manage, among
athers, its tasks in the framework of the monitoring/ follow-up of delegates This means that the authorised
IFM must prove the presence of suffident numbers of competent staff as well 8a an appropriate technical, IT
and accounting infrastructure. Furthermore, the authorised IFM must have proper documentation in relation
to the tasks/operations performed directly by the authorised IFM and those performed by the delegates on
behalf of the authorised IFM.

T Wigsions carmied out by the " On-gits ingpection” gepartment.
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The abowe principles of substance and implementation of equipped and competent monitoring units are also
applicable if the authorised IFM uses external services such as imvestment advice and risk management
support, compliance, internal auwdit and assessment

Among the other most recurrent findings, the CS5F noted that several authorised IFMz carried out the initial
due diligence on service providers or delegates after entry into a business relationship. In addition, the CESF
observed that some initial due diligenceswere not sufficiently substantiated to allow appropriate identification
and assessment of the risks related to delegation

The CSSF also noted during the on-site inspections that part of the continuous monitoring amangements of
authorized IFMs: relies on key performance indicators [KP) from different repart= transmitted by delegates
In this context, it was observed that the controle camied out on the comectness of these entry data are not
sufficiently formalksed.

Inthe framewnork of the on-sile inspections regarding risk management, the C55F noticed that some authorised
IFMe did not have a risk management policy in line with the regulations, since it was inedequately documented
and lacked a detailed description of the manner in which each sk is measured, monitored and managed by
the manager. |t should be pointed out that, in view of the abowe, the risk management policy and the risk
management procedure must be dealt with as two distinct documents.

As for the regorting of risk management information to the dingeaniz of the IFMs, it was observed that
the dirigeants did not regularly and consistently receive sufficiently detailed information to support decision
making of, where appropriate, the establishment of corrective measures. In this context, the C55F stresses
that the dirigganiz must, among others, regulary receive clear, precise and detziled information via reports
on the current risk level incurred by the UCITS they manage. The information must take into account the
established risk profile together with explanations for any breaches of intermal or regulatory limits.

Finally, the C55F noted weaknesses/ shortcomings in relation to the following

- compliance with the provisions on capital adegquacy;

- compliance with the submizsion deadlines and the comprehensiveness of prudential reports;
- compliance with the deadline= for sending quarterty reports;

- poor guality of the data transmitted in the framewaork of the AIFM reporting.

In this context, the CS5F reiterates that authorised IFMEe must always comply with their legal and regulatory
requirements and adequately prepare for report submission deadlines.

6. DEVELOPMENTS IN THE REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

On 11 October 2014, the C55F published Circular C5SF 16/644 on the provisions applicable to credit
institutions acting as UCITS depositary subject to Part | of the 2010 Law and o all UCITS, where appropriate,
represented by their management company.

This circular followe the entry into force of the Law of 10 May 2016 transpasing into Luxembourg law Directive
2014,/91/EU of 23 July 2014 amending the UCITS Directive (2009, 45,/EC] as regards de positary functions,
remuneration policies and sanctions (UCITS Y Directive] and amending, among others, the Law of 7 December
2010 relating to undertakings fior collective imestment [t akso follows Commission Delegated Re gulation [EU)
2016/ 438 with regard to obligations of depositaries which entered into force on 13 October 2014, These texts
provide for a set of (partially new) reguirements on the duties of the depositaries regarding the safe keeping of
aseets, supervisory obligations as well as the monitoring of cash flows and they modified the liability regime
of depositaries towarde UCITS and unit-holders. The circular specifies organizational cbligations applicable
to UCITS depositaries subject to Part | of the 2010 Law by clarifying, among others, certain aspects of the
above-mentioned Law of 10 May 2016 and/or Commission Delegated Repulation (EU) 2016/438 in the
Luxembourg coniext. This circular repeals and replaces Circular CS5F 14/587 as amended by Circular
C55F 15,/608.







CHAPTER X

SUPERVISION OF
SECURITISATION
UNDERTAKINGS

Dwring 2016, the CS5F received two applications for registration on the official list of authorised securitization
undertakings subject to the Law of 22 March 2004 on securitization.

Four multiple-compartment securitization undertakings were granied suthorisation by the CS5F whereas two
securitisation undertakings were deregistered from the official kst of authorised securitization undertakings
in 2014,

Az at 31 December 2014, 34 securitization undertakings were registered on the official liet of authorised
securitisation undertakings, against 32 entities at the end of 2015. The balance sheet total of suthorised
securitisation undertakings amounted to EUR 35.2 billion at the end of 2014, representing an increase of
EUR 4.9 billion against 2015.

The submitted application files reveal that securitization tramssctions mainly consist in repackaging
tranzactions in the form of structured products issues linked to varous financial asse ts, notably equity indices,
baskets of shares or units of undertakings for collective imvestment, as well 28 in securitisation of debd, loans
and other comparable assets. The repackaging transactions are mainly synthetic securitisation tranzactions
in respect of the risk tranzfer echnigue.

In general, the securities issued by securitisation undertakings are bonds and subject to foreign law. |t is
also pozsible for some securitization undertakings to izsue warrants As at 31 December 2014, 12 of the
34 authorised securitisation undertakings issued securities admitted to trading on a regulaied market

To date, no application file for a securitisation fund haz been submitted to the CS5F. Meither has the CESF
recenved amy application file for a fiduciary-representative under Luxembourg law, even though the Lew of
22 March 2004 on se curitisation has establishe d a specific legal framework for these independe nt profezsionals
in charge of representing imestors’ interesta.

The CE5F expects securitization activities to continue their slow but ongoing pace in 2017
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CHAPTER XI

SUPERVISION OF
PENSION FUNDS

1. DEVELOPMENT OF PENSION FUNDS IN 2016
1.1. Major events and trends observed in 2016

As at 31 December 20146, 14 pension funds subject to the Law of 13 July 2005 on institutions for occupational
retirement provizion in the form of pension savings companies with variable capital (SEPCAYS) and pension
savings associations (ASSEPs] were regisiered on the CS5Fs official list of pension funds (idem in 2015}
Dwring the year, one new cross-border pension fund was registered on the official kst and one pension fund
was deregistered from this liet as it decided to transfer its commitments to a group insuramce.

The year 2014 was mainly marked by the development of new cross-border pension schemes within existing
pension fundz. Within the framework of the Budapest Protocol, which organises the practical implementation
of the relations between authorities for cross-border activities, two notifications were sent by the C55F to the
competent authorities acting as host Member State and five pension schemes have been approved by the
C355E

The CESF notes that the trend towards increased cross-border activities already observed in 2015 continues,
notably through the settingup of pension schemes conceived for international groupa.

1.2. Pension fund activities

The majority of the pension funds in Luxembourg manage one or several pension schemes set up by
Luxemb-purg or foreign companies for theiremployees.

As at 31 December 20146, three pension funda managed cross-border pension schemes. These pension funds
provide their services to sponsoring undertakings established in Ireland, the Metherlands, the United Kingdom,
Germany, ltaly and Belgium, as well as to non-EL sponsoring undertakings.

Qut of the 14 pension funds registered on the official list, 12 have adopted the begal form of a pension savings
association and two have adopted the legal form of a pension savings company with variable capital.




1.3. Development of pension fund assets
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At the end of 2016, gross assets of pension funds amounted to EUR 1,512 million against ELUR 1,440 million as
at 31 Decernber 2015, representing a 5% growth.

The assats of cross-border persion schemes amounted to EUR 463 million aa at 31 December 2016,
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1.4. Development of assets according to the type of pension scheme

Attheend of 2016, gross assets of the defined benafitacheme s amounted to ELIR 1,092 million and repressntad
7 2. 2% of overall gross assets of pension funds. Gross assets of the defined contribution schemes amounied to
EUR 219 millizn and represented 14.5% of overall gross assets of pension funds.

The following table highlights the breakdown of assets between defined benafit schemes, hybrid schemes and
defined contribution schemes,

Development of assets according to the type of pension scheamea
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1.5. Allocation of pension fund assets

In 2016, pension funds imvested primarily in bonds, epresenting a total of EUR 650 million, le. 42.9% of
total groes assets of pension funds Total irvestrment of pension funds in imestment funds amounted to
EUR 772 million, 46.9% (EUR 342 million) of which were exposed on the equity market and 45.9%
(EUR 354 million) on the bond market. The remaining 7.2% (EUR 56 million) were imested in mixked funds,
manetary funds and alternative investment funds.

1.6. Development in the number of pension fund members

At the end of 2014, the pension funds had 14,372 members against 16,398 a3 at 31 Decermnber 2015

Analysing the member population of the pension funds supervised by the CS5F confirms the trend towards
inzreasing intermationalisation of certain pension funds via schemes offersd in multiple host countries. This
trend iz reflected by an increasing proportion of intemational members compared to the previous years
(2,795 members a3 at 31 December 2016 compared to 2,506 as at 31 December 2015). Five new cross-border
pension schemes were authorsed in 2014,

Development in the number of pension fund members
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2. DEVELOPMENT OF LIABILITY MANAGERS IN 2016

In 201184, the number of lability menagers of penslon funds subject to the Law of 13 July 2005 and approved by
the C55F has incressed by one to 18 as at 31 December 2014,
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CHAPTER XII

SUPERVISION OF
SECURITIES MARKETS

1. APPROVAL OF PROSPECTUSES FOR SECURITIES RELATING TO
OFFERS TO THE PUBLIC OR ADMISSIONS TO TRADING ON A
REGULATED MARKET

1.1. Application of the Law of 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities (Prospectus Law)

In 2016, only Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015,/301 dated 30 November 2015, which entered into
force on 25 March 2016, amended the regulations on prospectuses for securities. Thiz delegated regulation
supplements Directive 2003/71/EC (Proapectus Directive) with regard to regulatory techmnical standards
for approval end publication of the prospectus as well as the dissemination of adwertisements and amends
Commission Regulation (EC) Mo 809 /2004 [Prospectus Regulation). Its entry into force led the C5SF to publish
Circular CS5F 16/ 635 amending, among otherg, the proce dure for the submission of documents for approval

In thi=s coniext, reference should also be made to the publication of Circular CS5F 16,/ 636 in order to reflect
the ESMA Guidelines on Alemative Ferformance Measures which must be complied with in relation to
prospectuses, inter alia

In 2014, the CSSF contributed to the drafting of the new Prospectus Regulation (New Regulation) which wall
replace the Prospectus Directive. After the adoption by the European Parliament, this regulation should enter
into force in 2019, Consulied as an expert during the negotiations on the text within the Council of the ELL, the

C55F made many comments on the different articles of the Mew Regulation in order to take into account the
objective sought in the framework of the Capital Markets Union.

The Mew Regulation should facilitate the sccess of the izsuers to capital markets by simplifying procedures
for secondary izsuances of iesuers whose securities have already been admitted to trading on @ market, for
small and medium-sized enterprises (SME], for issuers freguently using capital markets and for those carmying
out issues of which the denomination per unit exceeds EUR 100,000 or which are exclusively iniended for
gualified imestore




The reliefs in question affect not only the level of information to be included in the prospectuses, but also the
form of the documentation and the approval deadlines.

A= regards the approval deadlines in particular, the CS5F, which has always been aware of the fact that
undertakings generally need access to the capital markets as fast as pozsible, constantly makes all the means
necessany available to its prospectus reviewers, in order to reduce as much as possible the approval deadlines,
whilst maintaining a high level of quality of review.

Thug, it should be noted that in 2014, the sverage deadline for dispatching the final comments was
5.29 working days and the avwerage deadline for dealing with a file was about 24 working days.

In this comtext, the C55F encourages the issuers whose base prospectuses expire in May, June or July, to
introduce their updates as soon a& poesible, since, in general, the deadlines for responzes slightly exceed the
average deadlines during this period, whereas they are a litthe shorter than the average at the beginning of
the year.

A=z regards the guestions sent via the address prospectus helpi@cssflu before the actual submission of
documents to be approved, the C55F notes that the number of requests for an advicewas quie high once again
with 115 requests dealt with in 2014. Most of these requests concemed questions on allemative performance
measures, financial statements regarding the izsuer or the guarantor or even submission of final termea

The C55F appreciaie s such initiatives because the se que stiona, dealt with and discussed before the submission
of the files, ofien saved substantial time during the instruction of the files concemed. Moreover, as some of
these requests for an advice concemed the fees for the submigsion of final terms, the C55F reminds that the
regulation in force does not provide for such a fee.

In 2014, in accordance with Article 23(4) of the Prospecius Regulation, the C5SF approved two prospectuses,
each with an omizsion of information due to non-pertinence

Finally, the CS55F received and accepied four requests for omission of information pursuant to Articke 10 of
the Proapectus Law.

1.2. Approvals and notifications in 2016
1.2.1. Documents approved by the CSSF in 2016

The number of document=s approved by the CS55F marginally decreased compared to 2015, with a total of
1,560 documents approwed in 2016 (of which 343 prospectuses, 309 base prospectuses, s registration
documents and 902 supplements) against 1549 m the previous year FOL57EL The number of base
proepectuses approved in 2016 remained stable compared to the preceding year, whereas the number of
approved prospectuses declined by 7.55%. However, there has been a 2.97% rize in the number of approved
supplements

1.2.2. Documents drawn up under the European passport regime in 2016

In 2014, the CS5F received 1,296 notifications [relating to 254 prospectuses and base prospectuses and to
1,042 supplements) from the competent authorities of several EEA Member States, against 1, 241 notifications
{redating to 286 prospectuses and bese prospectuses and to 755 supplements) in 2045 (+4 43%). Thus, the
number of notifications from EEA Member States slightly increased between 2015 and 20146.

In 2014, the CSSF sent notifications for B92 CS55F-approved documents (283 prospectuses and base
proepectuses and 609 supplements) to the competent authorities of EEA Member 5tetes, Le. the same
number but a somewhat different distribution than in 2015 291 prospectuses and base prospectuses and
&01 supplements



SUPERVISION OF SECURITIES MARKETS

1.2.3. ESMA statistics

The last statistics released in 2016 by ESMA refer to the year 2015 and show that Luxembourg still comes first
with respect to the number of approved documents by the competent authorities of the EEA Member States
The CESF approved 18% of the approved documents in the EEA, Le. 684 prospectuses and base prospectuses

1.2.4. Approvals

In 2016, the development of the activity did not follow a clear trend with some months recording significant
rizes and others recording significant decreases compared to 2015, Owerall, the CS5F nofes that until June
and, in particular, until 23 June {Brexit), the activity progressed compared to the zame period of the previouws
year; then it sharply fell over the following four months and stabilised towards the end of the year.

It should be pointed ocwt in this context that the CSSF may rely year-onyear on a solid basis of about
300 issuers which submit their base prospectuses for approval, whether these documents are new or updaied

Az regards prospectus approvals, 97 of them were approved in the framework of issues of asset-backed
securities. This number is relatively stable compared to the preceding year during which the C55F approved
93 files of this categony.

This year again, the CS5F observed great diversity in the geographical origin of the issuers, whether in relation
to prospectuses of base prospectuses. The top three geographical origine are composed of issuers from
Germany (15.83%], Luxembourg (14 45%] and the United Kingdom (11.32%). As far as the other issuers are
concemed, 38.41% come from EEA Member States other than the above-mentioned ones and 19.7B% come
from third countries.

With respect to Luwembourg issuers, the C5SF approved 238 files relating to Luxembourg isswers, among
which 55 prospectuses, 51 base prozpectuses, one registration document and 131 supplements.

2. TAKEOVER BIDS

The C35F is the competent authority to ensure compliance with the Law of 19 May 2006 transposing
Directive 2004, 25,/EC of 21 April 2014 on takecver bids [Law on Taleower Bids). The Law on Takeower Bids
provides for several cases in which the CS5F is the competent authority, notebly depending on whether the
company concemed by the takeover bid has its regisiered office in Lumembourg or in another Member State
and whether its securities are admitied to trading on a regulated market kocated in Luxembourg or in encther
Member State.

2.1. Files for which the C55F was competent as the authority of the Member State where the
company concernad has its registared office and where the regulated market on which the
sacurities of the company concerned are admitted to trading is located

On & June 2016, CPl Property Group 5.A. acting on behalf of its wholly-owned subsidiary Mukesso Holdings
Limited {hereinafier Mukasso) announced the launch of a mandatory taleover bid on the shares of the
company Orco Property Group 5.A. (hereinafter OPG) a& the control threshold had been exceeded. OPG has its
regietered office in Luxe mbourg and its shares are admitted to treding on the regulated markets Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (since autumn 2015) and Warsaw Stock Exchange. According to CP1 Property Group S.A.,
the obligation to launch a mandatory takeower bid on the shames of OPG by Mukasso and the persone acting
in concert with the latter (hereinafter Offerors) arose in 2014 due to direct and indirect acquisitions of 0PG
shares carried out by Mukesso on 8 June 2016 when Mukasso acquired the whole ghare capital of the three
companes Aspley Ventures Limited, Fetumar Development Limited and Jagapa Limited (holding each 30.4%
of OPG shares] and when Mukasso directly acquired abowt 8% of OPG shares. in total, Nukasso ecquired over



95% of OPG ghares on B June 2016 and exceeded the conirol threshold set in Article 5(3) of the Law on
Takeower Bids for the companies having their registered office in Luembourg at 33 1,/3% of the voting rights
of the company concermed.

Since OPG has its registered office in Luxembouwrg and since itz shares are admitted to trading on the regulated
market Luxembouwrg Stock Exchange, the CS5F is the competent authority under the Law on Takeower Bids for
the supervision of the bid, including the control of the price of the mandatory takeover bid which, pursuant to
Article 5(1) of the Law on Takeower Bids, must be equitable.

0On 1 August 2016, the C55F asked the Offerors to submit proposals for the appointment of an independent
expert for the determination of an equitable price of the mandstory takeower bid in gquestion On
22 Geptemnber 2018, Mr Grégoire Huret from Pricewaterhouse Coopers société coopérative was appointed as
independent expert by the CESF upon proposal by the Offerora.

The file has not been finalised in 2016; for the follow-up, reference is made to CS5F communications on its
wabsite.

2.2. Files for which the CS5F was competent as the authority of the Member State where the
company concerned has its registered office whereas its securities are admitted to trading on
a regulated market of another Member State

On 15 September 2014, the Luxembourg compamy Marsella Holdings 5.3 rl. [hereinafter Offeror), a
wholly-owmed subsidiary of the American company Standard Industries Inc. [hbereinafier Standard Industries],
announced the launch of a voluntary takeower bid on the sharesof the company Braas Monier Building Group 5.A.
(hereinafter Braas Monier), a company with registered office in Luxembourg. The shames of Braas Moner
are admitted to trading on the egulated market Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The CS5F cooperated with the
competent authority of Germany, BaFin, with respect to the review of the offer document which was published
on 14 October 2016 by the Offeror after being approved by BaFin.

On 28 October 2014, the Board of Directors of Braas Monier published a reasoned opinion on the bid of
Standard Industries in which it recommended to the sharehobders not to accept this offer for reasons relating,
in particular, to the price. On 29 Nowember 2016, the Board of Directors of Braas Monier announced its
intention to increase the share capital of Braas Monier by 10% by incorporation of reserves and to distribute
an interim dividend of EUR 0. 57 per share. By way of amendment to the offer document on 20 December 2014,
the Offeror decided to increase its offer with an exiension of the acceptance period of the takeover bid until
& January 2017 in accordance with the applicable German lew. On 30 January 2017, Standard Industries and
the Offeror announced that, at the end of the [additional] acceptance pericd according to the applicable
German law, the voluntary takeower bid was sccepted for a total of 38,853,708 shares [egualling over 90%
of the share capital and voting righte attached to the shares of Braas Monier], including the shames held by
certain parties acting in concert with the Offeror at the time of the voluntary takeover bid announcement

According to the offer document, the voluntary takeover bid of Standard Indusiries on the shares of Braas
Monier ie subject to the condition that the compe &ent competition suthorities approve the transaction refermed
tz in the offer document by 14 October 2017 at the latest (hereinafter Regulatory Condition). At the time of
the announce ment of the results of the voluntary takeover bid at the end of the [edditional] scceptance period
according to the applicable German law, the Regulatory Condition has not yet been realised. As long as the
Regulatory Condition iz not fulfilled, the shareholders hawe the right to withdrew their acceptance of the
offer [heminafter Right of Withdrawal} pursuant to the offer document. The CS5F considered that due to the
Right of Withdrawal, one should await the realization of the Regulatory Condition before determining whether
the conditions for a possible mandatory squeeze-out or sellout under Articles 15 and/or 16 of the Law on
Takeower Bids are met. By extension, the CS55F considered that, in this case, due to the Right of Withdrawal,
the deadline of three montha provided for in Article 15(4) of the Law on Takeover Bids for the exercize of a
mandatory squeeze-out or sellout must be interpreied as starting from the moment when the Regulatory
Condition iz realised rather than from the end of the period laid down in the applicable German law on the
acceptance of the offer
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2.3. Derogations granted by the C55F under Article 4(5) of the Law on Takeover Bids

In the cases and under the conditions laid down in the Lew on Takeower Bidz, the C55F may grant derogations
from certain provigions restrictively Ested in the Law on Tekeover Bids in particular circumstances and by way
of a specifically reasoned decision. The poesibility to request derogations exists, in particular, for Article 5[1)
of the Lew on Takeover Bids which lays down the obligation to launch a mandatory takeower bid in case of
excess of the control threshold set at 33 1/ 3% of the voting rights of the company in Article 5{3) of the Law on
Takeover Bids with respect to companies having their registered office in Luxembourg.

During 2016, one derogation reguest wae submitied to the CSSF The regquest concerned the issuer
KS5G Agro 5.A., a compamy with registered office in Luxembourg and whose securities are admitied to trading
on the regulated market Warsaw Stock Exchange. In this case, the derogation was granted by the CSSE

2.4, Offer file not falling under the scope of the Law on Takeover Bids

On & July 2014, the compamy Cuilvest announced its intention to make a limied and conditional buyback
offer conceming a certain amount of shares (hereinafter Buyback Offer) and to leunch a process aiming to
withdraw all its shares from trading on the regulated market and from the official listing on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange. The Buyback Offer started on & July 2016 and closed on 29 July 2014, whereas the last day of
trading of the Cuilve st shares on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange was on 26 August 2014,

The Buyback Offer was camed out outside the scope of the Lew on Takeower Bids. Mewertheless, the
C55F reviewed the documentation and monitored the Buyback Offer process and the above-mentioned
withdrawal in its capacity as compei®nt authority under Luxembourg law, particularly, pursuant to the Law of
23 December 1998 establishing a financial sector supervisary commission (Commission de Surveillance du
Secteur Financier] and the regulations on markets i financial instruments, transparency requirements for
issuers and market abuse.

3. MANDATORY SQUEEZE-OUT AND SELL-OUT OF SECURITIES

3.1. Proceduras monitorad by the CSSF under the Law of 21 July 2012 on mandatory squeeze-out
and sell-out of securities of companies currently admitted or previously admitted to trading
on a regulated market or having been offered to the public (Squesze-Out/Sell-Out Law)

As the compeient suthorty under the Sgueese-Out/SelHOwt Law, the CS5F mondors the mandatory
squeeze-out and sellout procedures which derive from thie law. The CS5F alzo receives majority share holder
notifications as laid down in Article 3 of the Squeeze-Out/SellOut Law and pubishes a list of companies for
which it received such notifications on its website.

In 2014, the CS5F decided on a fair price in two mandatory squeeze-out procedures under the
Sgqueeze-Out/SellOut Law with respect to the shames of Metro Iniemational 5.A. and the shams of
Colt Group 5.A. These two procedures were initiaied in 2015 and were finalised at the beginning of 2014'.

3.2. Clarification on the coordination of the Squeem-Out/Sell-Out Law with the Law on Takeover Bids

The C55F dealt with requests from minority shareholders of a8 Luxe mbourg company which was previousky
sulrject to a takeover bid in another Member State where its shares were admitted to trading on a regulated
market This takeower bid, which took place in accondence with Directive 2004,/25/EC of 21 Apdl 2014 on
takeover bids (Takeover Directive] as transposed in the Member State concemed, was followed by a mandetory
sellout in Luxe mbourg pursuant to Articles 15 and 16 of the Law on Takeover Bids. Following thiz mandatory
sellout procedure under the Law on Takeover Bids, eome minority shareholders contemplated to exercise their

" Cf CE5F Arnual Report 20156 {pp. 200-2011L



right of sellout under the Squeeze-Out /Sell-Out Law. Afier analysig, the C55F considered that by laying down
in Article 2{3) of the Squeeze-Out/ Sel-0ut Law that the Squeeze-Dut/ SelH0ut Law does not apply as long as
the talkeover bid and other procedures under the Takeover Directive are in progre=s and until six months afer
the end of these procedures [or expiry of the deadline for carrying them out) {hereinafter Suspenszion Period],
the intention of the Luxembourg legislator was to clearly separate the mandatory sellout rights set out in the
Law on Takeower Bids and in the Squeeze-0Out/ Sell-0ut Law, respectively. Therefore, a person who could have
requested the mandatory sellout of his,/her,/its securities under the Law on Take over Bids but who did not do
=0, cannot request the mandatory sell-out of his//her /its securities under the Squeeze-Out/ SellOut Law afier
expiry of the Suspension Period if the conditions laid down by the Sgueeze-Outy SelF0ut Lew for exercising
the right of mandatory sellout are not fulfilled, since the Squeeze-Out/Sell-Out Law requires, in particular, the
acquisition or holding of additional securities of the company concemned by the majority shareholder within
the meaning of this |law.

4. SUPERVISION OF ISSUERS OF SECURITIES OF WHICH THE CSSF IS
THE COMPETENT AUTHORITY

4.1. Issuers subject to supervision

Pursuant to the Law of 11 January 2008 on transparency requirements for issuers (Transparency Law], the
CE5F iz in charge of the supervision of issuere falling within the scope of this law. Az at 20 March 2017,
568 iszuers were subject to the supervision of the C55F as Luxemiourg was their home Member State within
the meaning of this law. This number greatly increased compared to March 2016, notably due to the fact that,
zince 31 August 2014, Liwembourg has been imposed as home Member State by default on issuers which
omitted to disclose their home Member State in accordance with Articie 1(1){9) of the Transparency Law.

Owerall, during 2014, Luxembourg was confirmed as the home Member State of 1646 issuers, whereas
80 is=zuers no longer fall within the scope of the Transparency Law. The list of issuers supervised by the CS5F
as well as the issuers onwhich the home Member State has been imposed is available on the C55F s website
{Supervision > Securities markets > Transparency = Information on the population of isswera).

Out of the &68 issuers supervised by the CS5F, 187 are Luxembourg isswers, of which 44 issvers of shares and
thres isswers whose shares are represented by depositary receipts in respect of shares admitted to trading
on a regulated market Among these Luxembourg issuers, 13 are banks, 11 are securitisation undertakings
authorised pursuant to the Law of 22 March 2004 on securitisation and three are UClz

216 issuers hawve their regisie red office in another EEA Member State and 245 =suers ame established in a third
couniry [outside the EEA)

The statistice related to the issuers of securities whose home Member State is Luxembourg are regularfy
updaied on the C55F s website [Supervision > Securities markets > Transparency > Statistics).

4.2. Reviews in relation to the Transparency legislation
4.2.1. Periodic information

The review of the periodic information to be drawm up by issuers of securities of which Luxembourg is the
home Member State pursuant to the Transparency Law continued during the 2016 review campaign. The CS5F
sent 18 reminders, issued 16 injunctions and imposed 10 administrative fines pursuant to Article 25 of the
Transparency Law related to annual and halfyearly financial reports. The work camied out shows that, oversall,
the isswers were aware of their obligations in relation to the Transparency ke gislation and maintained their ievel
of compliance in this regard.

The C35F published the names of the Luxembourg issuers subject to the Transparency Law which failed
to publish their annual and half~pearty financial reports as required by Articles 3 and 4 of the Transparency
Lewi. In accordance with Article 26b of the Transparency Law, the administrative sanctions imposed under
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Articke 25 of this lew are also being published since the entry into force of the Lew of 10 May 2016 amending
the Transparency Law. This information is available on the CS5F s website |Supervision > Securities markets >
Trangparency = Information on the population of issuers).

4.2.2. Ongoing information

In 2014, the CS5F continuwed its reviews of notifications relating to the scquisition or disposal of major holdinge
In total, the CS5F received about 200 notifications relating to major holdinge. The review of these notifications
led the C55F to izsue 16 wamings and one injunction.

The main infringements noted during the reviews consisted of late notifications. The wamings, issued notably
for late notifications, imvolee that the holder or issuer concerned will be monitored more strctly in relation to
itz notifications of major holdings for & period of 18 montha

5. ENFORCEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Within the context of its mission of supervising securities markets, the CS5F is in charge of examining the
financial information publizhed by isswers of securities. Through this activity, generally known as enforcement,
the CS5F ensures that the financial information complies with the relevant reporting framework, e, the
appliceble accounting standardsa.

Beyond the legal and regulatory require ments, the examination of the financial information contributes to the
imvestors’ protection and confidence in the financial markets.

5.1. Ganeral framework of consistent enforcement of accounting standards

5.1.1. Legal and regulatory framework

= Transparency Law

The CE5F accomplishes ite enforcement mission pursuant to the Transparency Law which empowers it to
examine the financial mformation published by issuers of securities falling within the scope of application of
that law.

The powers end penaltes evailable to the C55F as regards enforce ment are set out in Articles 22, 25 and 26 of
the Transparency Law.

= EEMA Guidelines on enforcement of financial information

The CESF comples with the ESMA Guidelines on enforcement of financial information since theirentry into
force on 29 December 2014. These guidelines are based on principles that describe, among others, the
selection Echniques to be followed, the types of enforcement decisions and actions thet enforcers may use
and explain how enforcement activities are coordinaied within ESMA. These guidelines are available on the
CS55Fe website (Supervision > Securities markets > Enforcement of financial information)”

5.1.2. Population of issuers subject to enforcement

Under the Transparency Lew and taking into account the exemptiona provided for in Articke 7 of thiz law, the
population of issuers falling within the scope of enforcement as at 1 January 2016 amounted to 224 entities
{2015: 218 entities).

The characteristics of these issuers [egistered office, types of securities issued and accounting standards
used) are awailable on the C355Fs websie [Supervision > Securnties markets > Enforcement of financial
information = Statistics)’.

¥ bt wewres. 38t byfany mapers ision,” seouritics- merks ts/ enforoeme nt/s sma- guidslines
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5.1.3. European cooperation

ESMA's work in the field of accounting, auditing, periodic information and storage of the regulated information
is led by the Corporaie Reporting Standing Committee of ESMA. Enforcement-specific topics are mainky
discussed within the European Enforcers Coordination Sessions (EECSE) forum The CS5F actively contribuies
to the work of this working group whose purpose is to ensure, through a comeergent approach of the supernvision
implemenied by the national competent suthorities, the consistent enforce ment of the IFRS by the companies
lisied on a European regulated market.

5.2. Enforcement process

The enforcement process set up by the CSSF and which complies with ESMA guidelines, specifies the
implemenied selection methods and examination type s as well as the characteristics of the decisions available
to the CE5F.

5.2.1. Salection method

The enforcement process begins with the selection of the issuwers which will be examined in the coniext
of enforcement The selection model applied iz based on a mixed model whereby a risk-based approach is
combined with a sampling and rotation approach. The risk-based approach adopied by the CS55F considers the
riek of misstaterments and the possible impact of such a misstaement on the financial markets.

§.2.2. Types of examination

In the context of ite examination process, the CESF identifies the most efficient way to enforce financial
information. The examination programme, defined ewery year for the selecied izsuers, includez

- unlimited scope examinations: evaluation of the entire conient of the financial information of an issuer in
order to identify issues/ areas that need further analysia and to assess whether the financial information iz
compliant with the relevant financial reporting framesork;

- focussed scope examinationz evaluation of pre-defined msues in the financial information of an issuer
and the asseasment of whether the financial information is compliant with the relevant financial reporting
framework in re=zpect of those issues; this type of examination covers, in particular, thematic examinations
during which the C55F reviews the practices followed by 8 sample of issuers conceming epecific issues; and

- follow-up examinations during which the CE5F ensures that the decisions taken in relation to the different
misstaie ments identified during the previous examinations were taken into account by the issuers concemed.

These examinations include mamy direct and repeated contacts (meetings, exchange of mails and conference
calls] with representatives of the issuer and /or its external suditor in order to analyse the most sensitive
problema and issues and obtain information, documents and other objective evidence required o perform the
examination. Some examinations may also lead to on-site inspections at the msuers concerned.

§.2.3. Types of decisions

Following the examinations described above, the CS5F may conclude that a specific accounting treatment
doea not comply with the relevant financial reporting framework. The CE5F must then determine whether a
mizstatement consists in a maerial or an immaerial departure from the financial reporting framework and i
any relevantenforcement decisions should be taken accordinghy. In case of a material misstate ment, the CS5F
may take cne of the following measures, as laid down in Article 22 of the Transparency Law:

- require 3 reissuance of the financial staements;
- require a cormective node; or

- require a cormection in future financial statements with restatement of the comparatives, where relevant
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The C55F notifies itz decisions appropriately to the issuer, namely in the form of injunctions, rcommendaticns
and follow-up measures of the comections or improvements of financial information proposed by the issuer
itzalf.

5.3, Activities and results in 2016
5.3.1. Summary of the enforcement activities in 2016

* Unlimited scope examinations

Dwring the 2014 enforcement campaign, the unlimited scope examinatiors camied out by the GS5F coversd
16% of the issuers falling within the scope of enforcement (compared to 16% in 2015 and 15% in 2014}, As the
tables below show, the unlimited scope examinations applied to different categories of issuers and accounting
standards, covering & representative sample of the population of issuvers supervised by the CS5F

Ereakdown of unlimited scope examinations of financial information according to the accounting
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Following thess unlimited scope examine tions, the CS5F concluded that certain apecific accounting trestments
were non-compliant and had to take decisions vie-b-vis certain issvers, aiming to either correct the identified
errors of amend and improve the subssquent published financial statements.

Dwring the 2014 enforcemsant campalgn, the CS5F notified on sversge 6.2 misstatemantsfimegularities per
iszuer [compared to 4.2 in 2015).



Breakdown by topic of notifications issued to issuers by the CS5F following the unlimited scope
examinations carried out in 2015 and 2016

Topic 2015 2016
Disclosure of financial statements {IAS 1, |1AS 34, IAS T) M% 20%
Impaiment of assets (A5 34) 5% 18%
Fair value measurement (IFRS 13, I1AS 40) 15% 13%
Business combinations [IFRS 3) 1% B%
Financial instruments (lAS 32, IAS 38, IFRS T) 14% B%
Income taxes (45 12) 3% B%
Alternative performance measures - 3%
Consolidation standands (IFRS 10, IFRS 12) 4% 2%
Cither accounting standards and issues 24% 1%

* Focussed scope axaminations

Several focussed scope examinations were carmied out on different samples of issuers during the 2014
campaign. During these examinations, the C55F particulary ensured that these issuers comply with the main
requirements set forth by:

- |AS 34, "Interim financial reporting”, ensurng that the main presentation and disclosure requirements have
been properly addressed in the nodes to the halfyearly financial statements;

- A5 7, *Statement of cash flows™; or

- ESMA Guidelines on Altemative Performance Meazures

* Follow-up examinations

lszuers subject to an examination during the 2015 campaign, and whom the CS5F requesied to modify or
improve the 2015 financial staiements conce med, were subject to a follow-up examination in order to ensure
compliance with the decisions taken by the CS5F

Administrative sanctionswene imposed on two izsuers which did not comply with the injunctions and measures
required by the C55F. Except for these two cases, all the decisions taken by the CSSF were respected by the
IsEUBrE.

* Examination within the context of the issue of prospectuses

As in the previous years, in 2014, enforcement examinations were carmed out within the context of the
prospectus approval process, and, in particular, in the event of an application for the admission to trading on a
regulated market. Besides the aspects directly related to accounting standards, the topics covered concemed,
notably, the preparation of consolidated financial staiements, certain issues regarding thewvaluation of financial
assets as well a3 compliance with the ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures following their
entry inta force in the second half of 2014,

5.3.2. Main observations and recommendations issued in 2016

The findings and recommendations described below provide an indication of the C55F's main observations
in 2014, Although this information could be wseful for the isswers and their auditors, it consists, however, of
specific guestions which do not directly apply to all iesuers and must, therefore, be conzidered in view of their
relevance and materaliy. In particular, these observations must not be considered as inerpretations of the
international accounting standards for which only the IASE and its interpretation commitiee, the IFRS IC, are
comipetent.
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* Presentation of financial statements and general and specific disclosures in accompanying notes

Given the significant number of decisions which are related to the guality of the disclosures and the
preeentation of financial staements, the C55F draws, once mone, to the atiention of issuers that they must
ensure the disclosures are relevant, coherent and readable and that compliance with the standards does not
only depend on the volume of data but also on the quality of the disclosures.

Considering all the disclosures required by IFRS standards, the materiality and specificities of the information
provided in the financial statementzs should be taken into account in order to favour the relevance of the
information to be disclosed against an ezsentially quantitative approach aiming at including all requirements
and descriptions presented in the standards. Indeed, this approach does nof, or only marginally, allow the
identification of material izssues and topics of issuers for the use of financial statements.

Thus, the CS5F requests issuers to ensure that the information presented in their financial statements
is relevant, adapted to their market and ectivities and that it allows the users to understand the financial
situation, the performance and the significant issues of the entity.

Finally, during the focussed scope examinations conceming the halfyearly financial statements drawn up in
accordance with IAS 34, the CS5F noted that, as in the past, qualitative as well as quantitative information
on the fair value of financial instruments was still incomplete for a great number of examined hafyearly
financial stalementz. The C55F observed again misstatements conceming the presentation of comparative
information. Therefore, the C55F reminds that the comparative periods to be prezented in the interim financial
staements are ciearly defined by paragraph 20 of IAS 34. Issuers concemned are requesied to comply with
these requirements.

* Impairment of assets and disclosure of detailed gquantitative and qualitative information
about the impairment tests

This year again, the C55F thoroughly examined the impairment tests carried out on intangible and tangible
assets by izsuers. Thus, the C35F noted that significent information relating to estimates and data wsed
to measure the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill or intangible assets
with indefiniie useful lves were not always disclosed. Indeed, it is important to remember that, for each
cash-generating unit for which the camying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful
liwes allocated to that unit is significant, in comparizon with the entity’s total carrying amount of goodwill
or intangible assets with indefinite useful lves, IAS 35 reguires quantitative and qualitative information to
be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Paragraph 134 of IAS 36 requires, among others, to
provide information as to the basis on which the unit’s recoverable amount has been determined (ie. value
in use or fair value less costs of disposal) and, i the unit's recoverable amount is based on the value in
use, the discount rate applied, a description of each of the key assumptions on which the management has
bzsed the cash flow projections for the period covered by the most recent budgets /forecasts as well as the
key assumptions to which the unit's recoverasble amount is the most sensitive. The period over which the
management has projecied cash flows and the key sssumptions must be justified [past experience, external
sources or other reasons). Furthermore, |1AS 36 equires the disclosure of information and justifications on
the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the most recent
budgets,/ forecasts and on the discount rate applied.

Finally, the CS5F draws the attention of the issuers to the sensitivity analysis required by paragraph 134{f) of
IA5 34. This analysis must be disclosed in the financial statements if a reasonably possible change in a key
assumption on which the management has based its determination of the unit’s recoverable amount would
cause the unit's carmying amount to exceed its recoverable amount

* Fair value measurement: disclosure of information on the methods for fair value
measurement and assumptions retained

During the review campaign, the C55F reviewed the guality and relevance of the fair value measurement and
the related information disclosed in the issuers’ financial staements. As regards the information on fair value




measurement to be provided, the C55F considers that this information is ofien essential for users of financial
statements in order to be able to assess the accuracy of the valuations presenied in the financial statementa.

The CSSF remindz that IFRS 13 “Fair Value Me asurement™ require s from Essuers to provide detailed information
on the fair value meazsurement, the methods chosen and the relevant essumpdions. In some cases, sensitivity
analyses of fair values to the possible change of some assumptions are also required, allowing the users of
financial instruments to better apprehend the impact of these fair values on the isswer's financial situation.

Moreower, as reqguired by IFRS 13, the CS5F enzured, while performing its examinations, that the entities
concermed also reflected the effect of non-performance risk in the measurement of a liability’s fair value.
Mon-performance risk include =, but may not be limited to, an entity’=s own credit risk [defined in IFRS 7 “Financial
instruments: Disclosures™). Conzidering the fair value measurement of financial derivatives and in addition to
taking into account non-performance risk for dervative financial liabilities [Debit Value Adjestment, OVA), the
CS55F ensured that entities included in the fair value measurement of derivative financial azsets (Credit Value
Adjustment, CVA) the effect of the entitys net ex posure to the credit risk to any counierparties. In this context,
the CS5F recommends izsuers to provide in their financial statements qualitative and guantitative information
in relation to the fairvalue adjustments referred to above, if such adjustments are deemed material.

* Alternative performance measures

AlEemative performance measures are financial measures that are not defined by the applicable financial
reporting framework (examplez EBITDA, free cash flow, etc.). They are used by issuerz in their financial
information in order to provide additional clarifications on the performance measure

In 20146, during the focussed scope examinations, the CE5F noted some imegularities related to compliance
with the ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures in the isuers’ annual or half-yearly reports.
In particular, the C55F found a lack of information conceming the definitions of the measures used and their
reconciliation to one/ several ilem{s) of the financial statement=z, and a lack of justifications put forward for
the use of aliemative performance measures.

In thie context, the C55F published, on 22 December 2014, Prezs release 146/ 44 conceming the compliance
of the issuers with the ESMA Guidelines on Altemative Performance Meazures®.

5.4. Prospects for the 2017 campaign

The enforcement campaign for the financial year 2017 will follow an approach similar to the one of the
preceding financial year. The selected isswers will be subjct to unlimited and focussed scope examinations.
In addition, within the coniext of the 2014 closing of accounts, the C55F announced in Press release 17 /03,
published on 16 January 3017, a certain number of topics and issues which will be specifically monitored
during the 2017 campaign of enforcement examination of izsuers preparing their financial statements in
accordance with the IFRS &,

6. SUPERVISION OF MARKETS AND MARKET OPERATORS
6.1. Reporting of transactions in financial instruments
6.1.1. Obligation to report transactions in financial instruments
The reporting regime in respect of transactions in financial instruments is mainly set down in Article 28 of the

Lewi of 13 July 2007 on markets in financial instruments (MiFID Law).
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&.1.2. Credit institutions and imestment firms concerned by the obligation to report transactions in financial
instruments

Az at 31 December 2016, 243 entities [credit institutions and imee stment firms incorporated under Luxemboung
lewr and Luxembourg branches of credit institutions and imestment firms incorporated under foreign law) fell
within the scope of Article 28 of the MiFID Law and were poientially concemed by the transaction reporting
regime (244 entities in 2015), incleding 141 credit institutions {143 in 2015) and 102 imvestrment firmes {101 in
2015). Among the iwestment firmg, only those authorised to carmy out transactions in financial instruments,
Le commi=sion agents, private portfolio managers, professionals acting for their own account, market makers,
underwriters of financial instruments and distributors of unite,/ shares of UCls, are subject to the reporting
obligation.

As at 31 December 2014, B8 entities (90 in 2015), of which 77 credit nstitutions (80 in 2015) and 11 vestment
firme (10 in 2015}, were required to send their transaction reporte to the CS5F as their interventions are
considered a& “executions of transactiong™ within the meaning of the MiFID Law, as specified by Circular
CS5F 07/ 30Z The difference compared to the number of entities that are podentially concermed by the
reporting regime resulis from the fact that, in practice, a certain number of entities, mainly imestment firms,
are not subject to the cbligation to report tranzactions in financial instruments because they do not conclude
immediate market facing tranzactions and do not execuie transactions on own account.

6.1.3. Development in the number of transaction reports in financial instruments

In 2016, the number of tranzaction reports sent by the entities and accepied by the C55F reached &7 2,524
[-13.20% compared to 2015).

Monthly breakdown of transactions by type of instrument in 2016

Bonds Shares | Fulures | Options | Rights | Others | Monthly
total
CFI Code (ooood | (Excccx) | (Froooog) | (Chooox) | (Ruoooo) | (Mbooood)
January 23174 27353 8813 5,142 624 770 65,676
February 28,400 16,075 8,967 7.274 523 309 71,377
March 20,230 21432 6,808 4,713 rdl 286 61,557
April 28.014 16,360 4,415 4,293 487 7 87.636
May 31,811 14718 0,933 2515 725 203 63,038
June 24320 14,146 2403 2,388 048 BE1 68,145
July 32,131 14,685 12,854 4,027 443 27 54.204
August 20413 20672 B.424 6,735 703 281 50,061
September 20,343 15,465 7.503 3,897 347 302 45,134
October 28,335 15,041 3,770 2,908 435 M3 64,362
Movembser 23284 19,652 0,400 4,030 207 BEO 66,270
December 23,581 14,674 2478 2,304 114 208 56,747
Annual total 4TI 234,911 63334 | 47743 6.116 5691 | 672524

These data as well as the evaluation of the information received via TREM [Tranzaction Reporting Exchange
Mechaniam], set up between competent suthorities for their respective supervisory missions, reveal the trends
on European markets and, particularly, on the Lixembourg market The main purpose of the supervision of
the markets iz to prevent and detect infringements of financial and stock market lews and regulations. In this
context, monthly intemal reports as well as specific intermal reports are drawn up on the basis of the recefved
reports. These ex post analyses of transactions in financial instruments can be used as a starting point for the
C55F s inquiries



7. INVESTIGATIONS AND COOPERATION

The mizsion of the CS5F is to combat insider dealing and market manipulation in order to ensure the integrity
of financial markets, enhance imvestor confidence in those markets and thereby ensure a kevel playing field for
all market participants

In the context of its supervision of securities markets, the C55F either initiates inquiries itee or conducts
them following a request for azsistance from a foreign administrative authorty within the framework of
international cooperation.

Based on Article 23(2) of the Code of Criminal Proce dure, some facts which may constituie a breach of the
Luxembourg criminal provisions and which were nofed during the aforementioned investigations are also
brought to the attention of the Staie Prosecutor

7.1. Investigations initiated by the C55F

In 2016, the C55F opened one inve stigation into market manipulation. This imvestigation is still on-going as are
eight other imve stigations inta insider dealing and /or market manipulation which were opened previously and
of which two are being finalised. One imvestigation was closed following administrative fines imposed by the
CS5F for market manipulation (cf. Preas release 17 /10 of 1 March 2017).

7.Z. Investigations conducted by the C55F upon request of a foreign authority

In 2014, the CS5F received 74 cooperation reguests from foreign authorites (FO in 2015) in relation to the
following subjects®.
Cooperation requests by subject

Subject 2

Market abuse Insider dealing
Manipulation

MIFID [markets in financal instruments)

Takeover bids

Transparency

Others

m.hh:-hmgu
mhmhﬁ%g

Mine of these requests came from administrative authorities of non-EEA States.

The CS5F processed all the requests with the necessary diligence befitting cooperation between authorites.

7.3. Susplcious transaction and order reports

Based on Article 12 of the Law of 9 May 2006 on market abuse and, since 3 July 2014, based on Article 16 of
Regulation [EU) Mo 594,/2014 of 16 Aprl 2014 on market abuse (MAR), the CS5F received 28 suspicious
transaction reports in 2016 {20 in 2015), among which 22 suspicious transaction and order reports under MAR

For underlying financial instruments admitied to trading on one or several foreign trading venues, the CESF
transmitied the reports received to the competent authorities of the trading venues concemed, in accordance
with the cooperation obligations provided for by the regulations on market abuse and the relevant multilateral
cooperation agreements. The se reports can kead these authorities to open inve stigationa.

In 2014, the CS5F also received 25 reports tranamitted by foreign authorities (st in 2015).
The CS5F analy=ed all of these reports with the necessary diligence.

* Plsase nol that & eguest may conoern one or saweral of thess subjects.
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8. INDICES USED AS BENCHMARKS

The benchmarks play an important role in capital markets and they also determine the interest rate of
consumer knans and mortgage loans for many consumers

Lack of reliability in the integrity of the indices used =5 benchmarks may hawve a negative impact on confidence
in the markets and may, thus, lead to losses for conzumers and imeestore a5 well as to distortions of the real
ECOnNomy.

Manipulation of some inerest rates benchmarks and foreign exchange benchmarks revealed significant
deficiencies in the current regulations. These deficiencies led the European Commizsion to propose a strong
regulatory framework guaranieeing the accurscy and integrity of the benchmarks in order to make them
reliabbe and to avoid that they become subject to conflicte of inierest or manipulationa. This proposal resulied
in the publication of Regulation (EU) 2016,/ 1011 of B June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial
instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of imvestment funds and amending
Directives 2008/ 48,/EC and 2014/ 17 /EU and Regulation [EL) No 534,/2014.

This regulation imposes new reguirements on three types of market participants, namely on entities which
provide inierest rate benchmarks, foreign exchange benchmarks, securities benchmarks, commodity
benchmarks and other benchmarks or eference prices (administrators], on entities providing mput data
required for the provision of a benchmark (zontributors) as well as on supervised entities using them [users).

In this context, it i important to know that:

- Benchmark administrators will have to be authorised or egistered. They will be subjct to supervision
with respect to gavermance and conflicts of interest, the owersight function, the control framework, the
accountability framework ag well as the record keeping

- The comtributors to benchmarks will henceforth be obliged, among others, to adhere to a code of conduct
specifying clearly their responsibilities.

- The uzers which are supervised entitie s will no longer be permitted to use a benchmark unless it is provided
by an administrator authorised or regisiered in the EU o, where the benchmark iz provided by an entity
established outside the EL, by an administrator recognised orwhose application toendoree a benchmark in
accordance with the provisions of the abowe-mentioned regulation was authorsed.

The regulation in its entirety will be applicable as from 1 January 2018, whereas some proviziong, relating to
critical benchmarke for example, have already been applicable since 30 June 20145,

In this coniext, the European Commission has already designated EURIBOR a8 being the firet critical benchmark
pursuant to the regulation.

In Luxembourg, a draft lawwhich will soon be subject to approval by the Council of the Gowernment, lays down
that the C55F will be designated as the competent authority responsible for camying out the duties under
Regulation (EL) 2016/ 1011, Thus, the C55F is curmrently implementing a structure which will allow fulfilling its
obligations and duties under the regulation. Moreover, in 2014, it actively contributed to the preparation of
level 2 measures within ESMA s groups.

It should also be noted that the CESF is represented in the EURIEOR College in its capacity as the suthority
supervising Bangue et Caisse d Epargne de FEtat (BCEE), being contributor to EURIBOR.

Amy guestions in relation to the benchmark regulation may be submitted to the CS5F at the addmess
benchmark@cast. lu.







CHAPTER XIII

SUPERVISION OF
INFORMATION SYSTEMS

This chapier deals with the supervision of nformation systema of financial professionals, mchuding mainky
credit institutions, imvestment firma, specialised PFS, payment institutions and electronic money institutions
Az regards the specific supernvision of support PFS, please refer to point 3. of Chapier Vil * Supervision of PFS™.

1. ACTIVITIES IN 2016

1.1. Major avents

In the framework of the cloud computing project, initiated beginning of 2014, the C55F performed a detailed
analysis on the functiocning and management of cloud computing service provisions of some major players
in this area, including public cloud service providers. The aim of this project was to assess the risks which
financial institutions face when subscribing to this type of outsourcing and, if neceszary, to make changes to
the existing regulatory framesork.

The C55Fs analysis shows that the main risk arising from a cloud computing solution is a potential lack of
control of the cloud computing solution by the financial institutions wishing to use it Due o the complexity
of the cloud computing infrastructures, this risk may notably lead to an inappropriate configuration of the
IT resources (and thus introdwce security flaws), an nappropriate business continuity management and a
control ervironment which is only partially compliant with the financial sector requine ments.

Another conzideration emerging from the C55F = analysis iz the breach with certain traditional IT outsourcing
governance principles. The standardisation of cloud computing solutions changes the way to address the
control environment: the latier can no longer be imposed on the service provider, a8 this would imply that the
service providerwould have to meet az many (even contradictony] requirements as clients. In this new coniext,
the financial institution is supposed to analyse the control emvironment offered by the service provider to
ensure that it meets its needs or, should this not be the case to desist from the envizaged outsourcing.

In general, the identified risks hewe shown that cutsourcing on a cloud computing infrastructure reguires
particular attention, as it differs from traditional IT outsourcing. An evolution of the regulatorny framework and
the swareness, by the service providers offering cloud computing solutions, of the specificities of the financial
sector are thus necessary to take into account these particularities. The CS5F iz drafting a circular clarifying
the regulatory framework applicable to IT outsourcing relying on a cloud computing infrastructure.



1.2. National cooperation: working groups and conferences

In 2014, the CSSF participated in the committees, commissions, associations or working groups notably
dealing with the following topics:

- security and evalution of means of payment, through its participation in the Commission de Paiement of the
ABBL and ALMUS [Association Luxembourgeoise des Membres et Uilizateurs SWIFT);

- the new technologies used to deliver financial services (FinTech), through ite participation in Luxe mbourg for
Finance / FinTech.

The conferences and events on new technologies or new [T service provision offers represent interesting
information and exchange platforms in order to stay abreast of the evolution of new technologies In this
respect, the C55F participated in many events organised in Luxembourg on topica such as mobile paymenits,
cybersecurity, robo advisors or blockchain.

1.3. International collaboration with other authorities

As technology is rapidly and constantly changing bringing about new forms of financial services [mobile,
contactless payments) or more complex operational models [mutualisation of equipment), which are expozed
to new threats (e.g cyberattacks), it is in the interest of any supervisory authority to tale part in working
groups to discuss the se various subjects with its peers and benefit from each other's experience.

Thiz iz the reason for the C55F = long-lasting membership in the ITSG (IT Supervizors Group), an internaticnal
working group, composed of IT supervisors of different European, Asian, American and African countries

In 2014, the annual meeting was held in Miami under the aegis of the three US financial sector suthorities,
ie. the Federal Reserve Bank, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency. Discussions concemed three major themes (1) Finfech and innovation [notably blockchain, the
regulators” approach and the new payment solutiona), (2] cybersecurity (the regulators’ approach on pentests
andethical hacking, the new vulnerabilities and attacks observed), and (3] outsourcing (notably public clowds).
The exchange of views also allowed sharing information on the development of risk, regulation and supervisony
practices.

In 2016, the C55F also actively participated in the following working groups in charge of analysing issues
relating to IT supervision within the European institutions

- European Forum on the Security of Retail Payments [SecuRe Pay forum), co-chaired by the EBA and the ECE.
The SecuRe Pay forum is composed of national EL/EEA supervisory authorities and central banks. The work
of this forum focusses on the security of electronic payment instruments, services and schemes available
in the EL/EEA Member Staies. Its aim is to facilitate common knowledge and understanding between the
authorities of the challenges in this matier and to enhance their cooperation. [t can submit its analy=es and
recommendations to the ECE and the EBA which adopt them, where appropriaie, in the form of an oversight
framework, guidelines or i chnical standarda.

Task Force on IT Risk Supervision (TFITE the Standing Commitiee on Oversight and Precticea (SCOP),
which essists and advises the EBA with regard to the permanent risk assessment in the banking sector,
the promotion of cooperation between authorities and the enhanced comvergence of supervisory practices,
creaied this new task force on IT rsk supervision in June 2015, reflecting thus the growing importance of IT
and of the ensuing operational risks for the financial sector.

the DOrafting Team on IT Rigk Methodology [DTIT): in the framework of the Single Supervizory Mechanism
[S8M) of the ECH, the DTIT was creaied at the end of 2015 comprizing the members of the 550 s on-site
inspection teama, with the purpose of reviewing the [T-related part of the existing me thodology based on the
feedback received and adapting it to address emerging IT risks.

In 2014, the three working groups mainly focuzsed on the following topica
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1.3.1 Security of retail payments (PSD2)

Published in December 2015, the revised Payment Services Directive (PSD2) entrusts the EBA, in close
cooperation with the ECE, with the drafting of guidelinez and technical standarde on the security of retail
payments. Under the aegia of these two European institutions, the SecuRe Pay forum dedicated the year 2016
to the preparation of the below regulatory texis.

* Regulatory Technical Standards (RTS) on authentication and communication

Upon a twofold market consultation [via the publication of a discussion paper at the beginning of 2016 and
of draft technical standards in the summer of 2014), the EBA published the final version of these &chnical
standards in February 2017, after having taken into consideration the largest number of market replies ever
received for this type of consultation. The standards will enter into force 18 months after their adoption by the
European Commission, ie. at the end of 2018 at the earliest

These standards define:

- the requirements which a strong customer authentication procedure must fulfil in order to be conszidered
gz such and o allow compliance with Article 97 of PS02, as well as the authorized exemptions from these
requirements according to the risk level associated with the action performed;

- the requirements aiming to protect confidentiality and integrity of the payment service users’ personalised
security credentials;

- the mequirements for stendards of communication between all the participants in a payment service
[providers or users), notably between account servicing payment service providers and two new types of
payment service providers from now on subject to PSDZ, iLe. account information service providers and
payment initiation service providers.

Orne of the main challenges in drafting these standards was to define balanced requirements which guaraniee

both an appropriate security level that does not inhibit the development of innovative and user-friendly means
of payment, and fair competition between all payment service providers.

» Guidelines on the management of operational and security risks

In autumn 2014, the SecuRe Pay forum started working on Article 95-3 of PSDZ, Le. drawing-up the guide ines
for establishing, implementing and monitoring the measures taken by payment service providers in order to
manage operational and security risks associated with the services they provide. Considering the workboad for
finalising the authentication and communication standards, the EBA's deadline to publish these guidelines was
extended. Market consultation on a draft text i planned for the summer of 2017. The final text is scheduled
for publication by the end of 2017 at the [atest.

* Guidelines on the information to be provided by applicants intending to obtain authorisation
as payment and electronic money institutions as well as to register as account information
service providers

The CS5F contributed to the drafiing of these guidelines as regards the information on IT organisation,
IT systems, payment and data security. In Mowember 20164, the project has been submitted to market
consuliation until Februuary 2017

1.3.2. Cloud computing IT outsourcing

In 2015, a clowd computing workshop gathered financial institutions, regulators and providers of cloud
computing services to exchange expectations and izsues on this subject These exchanges notably allowed
identifying a meed for clarification and harmonisation of the European regulators’ expe ctations towards banks
wishing to rely on a cloud computing [T outsourcing.




In 2014, the EBA TFIT worked on drafting recommendations with the purpose of meeting these needs and
apecifying and partially reviewing the “Guidelines on ocutsourcing published in 2006 by the Commitiee of
Eurcpean Banking Supervisors [CEBS). These recommendations are scheduled for market consultation before
the end of the second quarter of 2017.

1.3.3. Assessment of IT risks in the banking supervisory process

IT risks are obviously taken into account and assessed by banking supervisors as operational risks in the
coniext of the supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP), in accordance with the EBA guidelines on
SREP. Howewver, the methodological assistance they have in this area is limited and harmonisation of these
practices at European level is uncertain, whereas the importance of a correct evaluation of these risks in the
current ®chnological environment iz growing seadily.

Consequently, in 2014, the EBA TFIT worked on the drafting of guidelines to the atiention of competent
guthorities, aiming at promoting common procedures and methodologies for IT risk assessment in the
coniext of the SREP. These guidelines have been submitted to market consultation from October 2016 to
lanuary 2017. The publication of the final wersion iz expected for May 2017 and itwill probakbly enter into force
on 1 January 2018

Upon the IT risk assessment in the comtext of the SREF, supervisors may activate different actions and,
in particular, plan an IT on-cite inspection at the supervised entity. In the coniext of the ECE'=s 55M, the
DTIT works at continuously improving the methodology of on-sie inspe ctions based on the feedbacks receved
and on the evolution of IT riska. In 2014, this working group focussed its efforts, especially, on risks arising
from cyberthreats, on data quality izsues (within the meaning of the Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision)
and the IT risk management framework.

1.3.4. Reporting of security incidents

In order to allow supervisors to develop an improved appreciation of security risks and incidents, notably cyber
risks and incidents, to which the financial sector is exposed, two incident reporting oblfigation processes were
drawm up in 2014,

The first process concems payment service providers and major operational and security incidents, including
cyber incidents. In accordance with the mandate conferred upon it by Article 946 of PED2, the EBA drafied,
through the SecuRe Pay forum, guidelines on incident reporting addressed to each of the following recipients:

- payment service providers, on the classification of major incidents and the procedure for notifying such
incidents to the competent authority in the home Member Staie;

- competent authoritieg, on the criteria on how to zssess the relevance of the incident and the detsils of the
incident reports to be shared with other dome stic authorities;

- competent authorities with respect to the notification process to the EBA and the ECB of relevant details
of the incident reporied to a national competent authority, the collective assessment by the EBA, the ECB
and the national authority of the incident reported for other national and Eurcpean authorities, and the
naotification process by the EBA and the ECB to these other national authorities, where appropriate.

A market consultation on the draft guidelines published in December 20156 has been launched until March
2017, the final guidelines” publication being expecied for the end of 2017

The second incident reporting process emanaies from the ECE in the coniext of the 55M. It concems the
significamt banks fwithin the meaning of the 55M] and is relaied to cyber incidentz. The reporting must be
made to the ECB either directly or indirectly, ie. via the competent national authority. The ECE, together with
national authorities, drafted instructions intemded for the authorities and banks concemed The reporting
requirement is e pected to enter into force in the summer of 2017
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The authorities tried as much as possible to align the two reporting processes in order to Emit the burden
on the entities which will ke subject to both reporting requirements. Grouping the reporting into one single
procedure could not be considered, due to the differences in the nature of the incidents to be reported, the
entities concerned and the compe®ences allocated to the various players of the reporting chain

In Luxembourg, the entry into force of these two processes will reguire a review of Circular CS5F 117504 on
frewds and incidents due to external computer attacks.

2. SUPERVISION OF INFORMATION SYSTEMS IN PRACTICE

Supervision includes werifying that supervized entities comply with the kegal and regulatory framework,
focuzsing, in particular, on the technologies implemenied as part of the information systems with the vies
to maintaining or improving the services offered. Thizs also takes into account the specific nature of the
outsourcing of services to support PFS or third parties, within or outside the group.

In the context of this supervizion, the C55F processed 247 requests in 2016 (+13% as compared to 2015),

among which:

- 44 applications for authorisation (IT-related part] for different ty pes of entities (credit institutions, electronic
mioney institutiona, payment nstitutions, PFS);

- 223 requests for advice or for authorization conceming IT projects submitted by supervised entities [most
of them comcemed cutsourcing remote access, security of online services or major sysEem changes)
and responees to specific IT guestions (for example critical tema of a management letter of a ravisewr
o entreprises ggrad (approved statutony avditor]).

It should be noted that most requests for advice or for authorization originate from credit institutions

The C55F noted that the time needed for proceseing authorisation files for electronic money institutions and

payment institutions is sometimes considerably extended as these entities repeatedly change their business

madel during the application process. This wery ofien results in important changes at the IT level requiring
thus a new in-depth analysis of the project.




Agents hired in 2074 and 2017: Departmenis ‘Information systems and supervision of support PFS°, Tnformation systems
of the CS5F” and “Personnel, adminisiration and finance”

Left ta right: Jerry BECKER, Christophe MONMIER, Lauriane |A DADAINE, Yannick SAUREN, Anna CURRIDORI,
Miguel BUATU NSAKL, Mare COCOUEREAUMONT, Fabrizio TARELLD

Abzent : James CHARTIER, Andrd OTTAVING, Jonas SCHMITT




CHAPTER XIV

SUPERVISION OF THE
REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The CS5F ensures complance with the requirements regarding governance and remuneration policies in the
financial sector. The procedures and arrangements implemented by the entities with respect to remune ration
are an integral part of robust internal governance armangements which allow ensuring the risks are managed
in an efficient and lasting manner. The remuneration structure, its deiermination proceeses and the palicies
implemented by the entities in this area are in line with the good administrative and accounting organization
of the financial sector entities aiming to awoid excessve risk-taking.

In 2016, the CS5F carried out reviews in order to ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements
applicable to remuneration policies and prectices. In this coniext, it conducted a review campaign of the
remuneration policies on a sample of credit institutions and imvestment firms. Where appropriate, observations
and recommendations were transmitted to the entities concerned in order to urge them to updae their
remuneration policies.

Dwring these reviews, the CE5F noted that most of the entities implemenied emuneration policies reflecting
the last applicable legal and re gulatory developmenits. The C55F would like to remind that remuneration paolicies
must be adapted to the nature, scale and complexity of the activities of the entities. The remuneration policy
must, for example, present, in a practical manner, the governance mechaniems surmounding remune ration
issues, the functions and the list of staff identified &8s having a significant impact on the riek profile of the
entity and it must detail the process for the evaluation of the performance used to calculate the variable
remuneration. The CS5F also draws the attention of the entities to the entry into force, since 1 January 2017,
of new guidelines on sound remuneration policies issued by the EBA on Z7 June 2014 and applicable to entities
falling under the scope of Regulation (EU) Mo 57 5/ 2013 of 26 June 2013.

The C55F also examined the remuneration practices of some entities and camied out, for the first time, a
comparative evaluation exercize of the remuneration policies and practices at national bevel. In this coniext,
the CESF collecied key data on remuneration prectices of credit institutions for the financial year 2015, This
exercise will be renewed annually and the results will allow the C55F to monitor the development of the
remuneration practices and to publish the trends. For this first year, the C55F noted, in particular, that credit
institutions distributed variable remunerations which amounted, on average, to 35% of the fixed component
of the remuneration and that the proportion of the varable remuneration paid out in financial instruments
amounied to 32% The deferred component of variable remuneration amounied, on average, o ZF¥ of the
granted variable remuneration



An anmual control of identified material risk takers, which started in 2018, will continue to be carmied out
based on samples. The purpose i to verify that the entitieas comply with Commission Delegated Regulation
(EU) Mo 604,/2014 of 4 March 2014 and, particularty, with the gualitative and quantitative criteria during the
identification of each material riek taker within the entity. The entities will havwe to list all the material risk
takers and indicate for each one of them the criteria that led to his/ her ide ntification.

Among the tasks cammied out by the CSSF im the area of emuneration, it is also worth mentioning the
analysiz of the notifications of higher remuneration ratiocs made by entities in order to pay ocut a variable
remuneration exceeding 100% of the fed component These notifications are in line with the reguirements of
Article 38-&{g)(ii] of the Lew of & Apnl 1993 on the financial sector. In 2016, the CS5F received several
notifications in this context and ensured that the procedure and reguirements for paying out variable
remuneration exceeding 100% of the fixed remuneration, without exceeding 200%, were complied with by the
entities conoe med.

The CS5F would like to remind that the shareholders, owners or partners of the entities concemed must act
upan a detailed recommendation giving the reasons for, and the scope of, an approval sought, including the
number of staff affected, their functions and the expected impact on the requirement to maintain a sound
capital base. In some cases, the CS5F observed that this recommendation was insufficiently detailed and
required that the entities concemed provide further details as to the reasons for gramting & higher ratio and
its effects on the capital base. In 2014, the C55F answered favourably to all notifications for a higher ratio
payment, except for one

Finally, it should be pointed owt that the EBA guidelines on sound remuneration policies, applicable since
1 January 2017, specify that the proportionality principle does not exempt small nstiutions from the
application of rules regulating the remuneration and no longer provide for an ex plicit possibility to neutralise
some reguirements s described in Circular CS5F 11,/505. Given the ongoing discussion at European evel
and the uncertainty surrounding the topic, the C55F decided to maintain the current application of Circular
CS5F 11,505 so that all the require ments which could uniil now be neutralised will continue to remain as such
until the European rules on this subject become clear.



CHAPTER XV

PUBLIC OVERSIGHT OF THE
AUDIT PROFESSION

1. LEGAL, REGULATORY AND NORMATIVE FRAMEWORK OF THE AUDIT
PROFESSION

1.1. Development of the legal and regulatory framework

2016 was the year the reform of the legal and regulatory awdit framework initiated by the European Commission
was implemented in Luxe mbourg |aw. Thus, two important texts for the awdit profession, whose main objective
consists in improving the quality of statutory awdits, eniered into force, namely:

-the Lew of 23 July 2016 (hereinafter the Awdit Lew] which transposes into Luxembourg law
Directive 2014,/ 54, EL on statutory sudits of annual accounts and consolidated accounts; and

- Regulation (EU] Mo 537 /2014 on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-inierest entities.

The main measures of this new kegal and regulatory framework concemn the enhanced independence of
cabinets de révizion sgrees [approved suwdit firms) end révizews o eniraprises agréds (approved statutory
awditors), 8 more efficient scale of sanctions and a betber harmonisation of the oversight of the audit profession
throughout the EU with, among others, the creation of the Committee of European Auditing Cversight Bodies
{CEADRBY), a body for the coordination of national oversight authorities.

Stricter requirements apply now to public-interest entities and their auditors, like mandatory exte mal rotation,
limitation in the provision of non-suwdit services to these entitiez, an extended aswdit report content or an
additional repart to the sudit commitiee.

The new Audit Lew also includes specific amendments compared to the 2009 law, among which the
broadening of the attributions of révisewrs d'entrepress (statutory awditors] who can now also carmy out
all the sesignments which were previously entrusied exclusively to réwizewrs o anfreprizes agrees with the
exception of statutory audita.

Irmespective of the European audit reform, some national regulatory provisions were amended in 2014 in
order to simplify the administrative procedures. These amendments notably concem continuing education
requirements for réviseurs o ant reprizes, whether approved or not, and professional qualification conditions
forrevizeuwrs d'antreprizes.




Finally, the regulatory framewaork was supplemenied by a new CS5F regulation which de scribes the mechanisma
and procedure s relating to reporting of infringements of the Audit Lew and Regulation [EU) Mo 537 /2014

1.2. Developments in audit standards

In 20114, the C55F adopéed the inte mational auditing standard:s and the inte mational etandard on quality control
in theirwe rsion published in the *Handbook of Intemational Ouality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance,
and Related Services Pronouncements - 2015 Edition™ of the International Federation of Accountants [IFAC).
It also adopted the code of ethics for the audit profezsion in Luxe mbourg which cormesponds to the 2015
vergion of the code of ethics issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA), as
amended and publshed on 29 May 2015

These standards and the code of ethice comprizse henceforth Luxembourg supplements which include the
prowisions introduced by the Audit Law and Regulation (EU) Mo 537/ 2014 providing, thus, a unigue standard
framework of all the applicable rules in Luxembourg.

2. QUALITY ASSURANCE REVIEW

Z.1. Scope

By wirtue of the Audit Law, revieewrs dentreprises agrégs and cabinels de révision sgrees (approved audit
firms) are subject to a guality assurance review of the audit engagements, organised according to the terma
laid down by the C55F in its capacity as oversight authority of the audit profession.

» Population of cabineis deo rdvision agréds and réviseurs d'entroprises agréés concemned by the
quality assurance review

The population of cabinatz de révision sgréds and revisews o enfreprises agréés that carmy out statutory
audits and other assignments entrusted exclusively to them by law is as follows (as at 31 December 2018):

- Mumber of approved audit firma: 5&, 12 of which are firms auditing public-interest entities (PIEs)
- Mumber of approved independent révisewrs [auditors): three, none of which audits PIE=.

Based on the data collecied through the “Annual Anneces™ for the year 2014, the audit engagements break
dowin a5 follows be tween cabinets de révision ggréés and independent réwisewrs o entreprizes SErees

- B4E of the audit engagements are carmied out by the “Big 47;
- 10% of the audit engagements are carried cut by medium-sized audit firms"; and
- &% of the audit engagemenis are carmed out by the other sudit firms and independent révizewrs.

2.2. Activity programme for 2016

The CS5F set down a muliiannual programme for the control of cabineis de rewvision agreas/réviseurs
d"entreprizes agrads which aims at observing the legal guality assurance review cycle, this cycle being three
years for firms that audit PIEz and six years for the other ones. Thizs programme was based on the information
transmitied by audit firms and révisewrs A entrepnses agrees through the “Annual Annexes™ relating to their
activity.

! PwC, KPMG, Daloitte, EY.

* Firms that cany out mos than 3100 sudit engageme nis sninssd saclusiely o rvisews Oeantrepnines agrées and cabinats o réwsion
agrees by law. As 2t 31 Decamber 2004, four firms we e concemed.
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Under the 2016 programme, 12 firmz were reviewsd, seven of which audit PIEs and nine are members of an
international netarork. The quality assurance mviews concerned:

- the understanding and documentation of the organisation, policies and procedures established by the
reviewad audit firma in order to assess compliance with the Inernatonal Standard on Quality Control {IS0G 1);

- the review of a sample of audit files relating to sudit engagements of the financial year 2015 (or 2014 or even
2013, whers applicable); and

- the setting-up of a specific follow-up for professionals for which material weaknesses were noted in the
previous financial years,

The 12 reviewed audit firma reported® & total of 9,952 mandates falling within the scope of public oversight of
the CS5F, including 416 in relation to PIEs. These mandates include 8,804 statutony audits, ofwhich 390 concem
FlEa. Under the 2016 review programme, 127 mandate s were reviewsd, 33 of which concemed PlEs.

The guality assurance reviews staried in January 2016 and were camied out by nine GS5F inspectors with
professional audit experience and expert knowledge in the business ames of the financial centre. These
eviews represented a total of 7771 hours.

Ereakdown of audit files reviewed by the CS5F in 2016 per e ntity type

Listed PIEs: 16%

‘7 Man-Eetad PIES: 10%

Others: 74%

Breakdown of audit files reviewed by the C55F in 2016 per sector

Insiranos: &%

= BICAR,/ Privade Eqully- 7%
PFS: 9% %
(5]

Indissirial snd oommeroial
/ cosmpaniesx 1%

SOPARF]f SPF; 14%

Securitisalion: T%

Fusndac 24%
Banks: B%

Management companies; 4%

2.3. Conclusions of the 2016 campaign of quality assurance reviews

Out of the 12 mviews carfied out in 2016, 10 wem subjpct to a eport and two e in the finalisation process.

Following the 10 rewviews which wer finalised in 20146, the C55F carrisd out a specific follow-up of ane firm
and ax révicewrs dentreprises sgréds due to previous campalgn conclusions. The measures wem Brminatsd
during the 2016 el

* Based on the stemants of cabinats de r éwaion agrids as ot 31 Decambar 2015



For the 2016 campaign, the following specific conclusions were transmitied to the réwizsurs oenireprizes
SEre6s:
- a training plan was given to four revisewrs o antreprises sgréds; and

- two reviseurs denfraprises agréas wene subject to a specific follow-up.

2.4. Major issues identifiad during the quality assurance reviews of 2016

2.4.1. Review of the quality control systems of cabinets de révision agréds

Based on the work carried out in 2016, the C55F did not obzerve significant finding= conceming the quality
assurance systema of the cabineiz de réwision agress. Howewer, it noted shortcomings in the controls
implemenied by the cabinafs de révision agréés in order to ensure compliance by the révisewrs d"entregrises
ggrads and their personnel with their regulatory training obligations. This observation covers, on the one
hand, the continuing education requirements of réwiseurs d"entregrises sgréds and, on the other hand, the
compulsory training on independence to be provided for all the staff. The CS5Fs review of the continuing
education activities of révizewrs d"entreprises agréss camied out at the beginning of 2016 resulted in the
identification of 24 revisewrs o'enfraprizas agrées who did not comply with the regulatory requirements on
continuing education

The CSSF also commenied, on several occasions, on the compliance with the deadlines for archiving audit
files. Im light of thiz, the C55F reminds that the final assembly of the audit files (electronic and in paper formi)
must not exceed 60 days following the date of the audit report

In 2015, the C55F noticed improvements in the involvement of the persons in charge of the Engagement
CQuality Conmtrol Reviews (EQCR) In 2014, the CS5F did not identify critical issuwes on this topic. However,
it highlights that, pursuant to the new legislation in force, the cabirsiz de révizion agrées must henceforth
submit all audit engegements of PIEs to such reviews.

2.4.2 Audit files

The results of the 3014 quality assurance reviews show the firms' implication and willingness to camy out
audits of quality. Even if some issues that were noted the previous years remain, no new major problem
occurned.

The main observations in 2014 concerm:

- the identification and assessment of fraud risk;

- the audit of accounting estimates;

- the documentation of audit diligence; and

- the appropriateness of the presentation and information disclesed in the financial statements.

These observations were made in bigger and in smaller firmsa.

* |dentification and assessment of fraud risk

The CS5F observed a tremnd of minimising or even ignosing fraud risks so as to avoid implementing the
complementary audit procedures whose nature, timing and extent specifically address these risks at the ievel
of the aesertions concerned. Where the risk of frewd in the revenue recognition is not rebutted, the CS5F
reminds that the suditor must clearly identify the nature of the income, transactions or assertions which may
cause such risk and implement complementary audit procedures in order to take it into account.

Moreower, the C55F underlines that, regardlese of the assessment of the risk of management ovemride of
controls, the auditor cannot avoid to implement specific audit proce dures in order to test the appropriateness
of the accounting entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made during the e stablishment
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of the financial statements. The evidence gathered from the tests of conirols or substantive procedures do not
adequately fulfil the objective of the test

» Audit of accounting estimates

The situation has changed litthe with respect to the suwdit of sccounting estimates and the CS5F still notes
deficiencies in thi area The main deficiency concems the lack of professional scepticism in assessing the
regsonableness of the assumptions retained by the manage ment.

* Documentation of audit diligence

In many swdit files, the C55F noticed that the documentation of the auwdit diligence performed can be improved
It i= mot always clear for an experienced auditor, who has no previous relation with the audit engagement, to
understand, on the one hand, the nature and exient of the audit procedures implemenied and, on the other
hand, the main conclusions of the audit team based on the gathered evidence.

One should also ensure that the evidence and final wersions of the work camed out are centralised in the
audit file.

» Appropriateness of the presentation and information disclosed in the financial statements

Several findings relating to incompleenes=s or inadequacy of the presentation and information disclosed in
the financial statements led the CSSF to reiterate its recommendation to the sudit firms to enhance the
teams" due diligence during the implementation of such audit procedures. The use of checklists cannot replace
professzional scepticizm

3. OVERVIEW OF THE POPULATION OF REVISEURS D’ENTREPRISES IN
LUXEMBOURG

3.1. Access to the profession
3.1.1. Activities of the Consultative Commission for the Access to the Audit Profession

The Consultative Commission’s task is, among others, to verify the theoretical and professional gualification
of the candidates for the acce =8 to the sudit profession in Luxembourg, as well as that of the service providers
from other Member States wishing to exercise by way of free provision of services.

The Commission met s timesin 2016 and analysed the files of 70 candidates, against 63 in 2015, representing
an increase of 11%.

In 2014, the access to training was refused to six candidates (9%) as the number of subects to be completed
besed on their administrative certificate was greater than five.

There are three categones of candidates:

- ftrainee réwseurs o' entreprisas;

- foreign candidates;

- candidates applying for an exemption based on their professional expenence of either 7 or 15 years.
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Devalopment in the number of application files submitted to the Consultative Commission
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3.1.2. Examination of professional competence in 2016

The C55F administrates the examination of professional competence in sccordance with Articles 5 and 6 of

the Grand-ducal Regulation of 9 July 2013 determining the requirements for the professional qualification of
révizews d'enfreprizes.

In this context, the examination jury communicated the following results with respect to 43 candidates
regigterad for the 2016 examination of professional competence to the CS5F:

- Drdinary session 42 candidates took the written exam, 11 of whorm were admitted to the oral exam. In total,
11 passed the exam and no one was subject to partial referral

- Mo extracrdinary session in 2016,

Thus, all sessions included, 11 candidaies passed the examination of professional competence in 2016
successfully.

Heving passed thia examination, cendidates may request the GSSF to be granted the tile of “révisewr
d'entreprizses”.

The graduation remony was held on 23 January 2017 in the presence of the Miniser of Finance
Mr Piere Gramegna.

3.2. Public register

The public register of révizsews d'enfreprises agréds, cabinets de réwvision agréés and third-country suditors
and audit entities is available on the C55Fs webaite (Supervision = Audit profession > Public register).

3.2.1. National population as at 31 December 2016
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* Devalopment in the number of cabineis de révision and cabinets de révision agréés

The total number of cabfnets de révision and cebinefs de réwision agréés amounted to BO as at
31 December 2016, against 82 as at 31 Decernber 2015,
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The following firms were approved in 2016:
- Akene Audit;

- Fiduciaire Alpha;
- IFG Audit.

In 2014, 11 firma gave up their approval, three of which heve alzo abandoned the title of *cabinet de révision™
and two firma have merged.

» Development in the number of réviseurs d'entreprizaes and réviseurs d'antreprises agréds

The total number of révisewrs d'enfreprsss and révisewrs d'enfreprizses sgréés amounted to 518 as at
31 December 2016, againat 497 as at 31 December 2015, which is a 4.2 2% increase.

Mumber
L
Hon approved firms Approved firms I Ttal I
F| ] &7
229 28% 18

In 2016, the CESF granted the title of “réwisewr denfreprises™ to 28 persona and spproved 24 révisewrs
d"entreprises.

Dwring the year under review, 11 réwizewrs d*entreprises gave up their approval.

The population consists of 69% men and 31% women. The average age of the révisewrs is 41.7 years for wamen
and 45.8 years for men.

» Development in the number of trainee réviseuwrs d'antreprises

The total number of traines révdsswes d'entreprises amounted to 164 as at 31 Decamber 2014, against 227 as
at 31 December 2015, which represents a 27.7 5% decrease.

The population consists of 64% men and 356% women. The avwerage age of trainees is 32.8 years for wamen
and 32.02 years for men.

It should be pointed out that B4% of the population of trainess comes from the “Big 47 firma.
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Breakdown of trainees par nationality

Portugal: 7% Others: 4%
Germary: 5%
Lusembaurg: 7%

Belgium: 24%

France: 58%

3.2.2. Third-country auditors and audit firms
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The registration procedure for third-country auditors and audit entities that provide an auditor’s report on the
annual or consolidated accounts of 8 company incorporated outside EL Member States, whose securities ane
admitted to trading on the regulated maret of the Luxembourg Stock Bxchange, continued in 2014,

Thus, the C55F acepied three new applications for mgistration from audit entities located in third countries
which have public owersight, quality essurance, investigation and penalty systems which are considersd as
equivalent to the sysems in place in the ELL

Momover, the GS5F meclssified four thirdcountry audit entities following the decision of the Ewropean
Commission of 25 July 2016 [2016,/12 23/ EL).

Finally, except for the four third-country audit entities whose activities did not fall ary more within the scops
of the amended Directive 2006 /43 /EC, all the third-country audit entities previously regisersd have renewsd
their registration.

Breakdown of registered third-country auditors

Wur=bar
i
| Equivalent thirdcountries | Transitional thind countries | Osher thind countries | Total |
] 4 i 44
b ] 2] 1F) 41

The public register listing all registered third-country auditors is available on the CS5F s website.




4. COOPERATION AGREEMENTS

In addition to the cooperation agreements already signed with the Japanese and Swiss counterparts, the
CE5F signed, on 30 November 2016 and 12 December 2014, two new memoranda of understanding with itz
counierparts from Jersey and Australia, respectively.

Moreaver, on 22 July 2014, the CS5F epewed the statement of protocol signed on 17 September 2005 with
its US counterpart, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.

These agreements are available on the C55Fs website.



CHAPTER XVI

INSTRUMENTS OF
SUPERVISION

1. ON-SITE INSPECTIONS

The “On-sile inspection™ (05]) department is in charge of coordinating all on-site inapections conducied by
the C55F with regard to banks', payment institutions, electronic money institutions, UClz as well as their
management companies, imestment firme, specialised PFS, support PFS, pension funds, securitisation
undertakings and financial market participantzs. Moreower, the 05| department coordinates on-site inspe ctions
of Luxembourg significant banks with the Centralized On-site Inspection department of the ECE. it should be
noted that, beside the 05| department, other C55F departments also camy out targeted on-site inspectionz.

In addition to on-sile inspectione of professionals under Luxembourg law, the 05| department also participated,
as part of the mixed teamz implemenied by the ECH, in on-site inspections of significant Eurcpean banks
abroad.

The 05 department’s staff increased to 50 people as at 31 March 2017 in order to fulfil all itz tasks. The
05l department’s teams are expecied to be strengthened in 2017 by way of the recruitment of 20 additional
agents. The CE5F thus follows the general demand and trend existing at European and international levels.

On-gite inspections are in-depth imestigations which allow the evaluation of the various risks to which the
supervized entities are exposed. [n general, on-site inspections are proposed by the supervision departments
on an annual basis and analysed subsegquently with respect to their feasibility. On this basis, an annual
planning is established and validated by the Executive Board of the C55F. Any change, insertion or deletion in
thiz annual planning must be subject to a formal validation.

The teams in charge of on-site inapections’ are set up according to the nature, scale and scope of the missions
and generally include agents from the 05| department and supervizory de partments.

After each on-&ite inspection, the team in charge of the misgion draws up an inermal report indicating amy flaws
and weaknesses identified during the mission. Generally, on-site inspections are followed by an cbservation
letter that is sent ta the inspecied professional. Inthe event of more serious shortcomings, the CS5F analy=es

" This includes ks significant banks which 2= not subject to the Single Suparvisory Mechanism (SEM) s well as AL CFT, *MiFIDF,
*Depositary bank™ and *Cantral administration function™ on-sie inspections of significant and less significant beanks 2s thes bopios 2m
not dirsotly cowenssd by the SSRL

* With tha smneption of the missions performed at significant banks which are organised according to the methodology of the ECEL
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whether an injunction procedure or 8 nonHlitigious administrative procedure is required in order to impose an
administrative sanction pursuant to Article 63 or §3-2 of the Lew of 5 April 1993 on the financial sector. The
sanctions and means of administrative police are described in detail in poine 2. of this chapter

In 2014, & total of 139 on-site inspections wene conducted by the G55F departments orwith their participation.
Twenty-four of these missionswemrs performed by the UG departments and are s tout in point 5.5. of Chapter [X
“Supervizion of irvestment fund managers and UCIs". The other 115 mizsiors concermnad the following topics.

Breakdown of the on-gite inspections carried out in 2014 by topic and type of entity (excluding UCI
departments)
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1.1. Ad hoc on-site inspections

Ad hoc control missions are on-site inspections imendad to investigate a spedfic or aven worrying situation
or a specific problern related to the professional. Ofien, this particular situation of the professional has
almeady been observed in the context of the off-site prudential supervision. Such missiora may either be
planned in advance or occur unexpectedly. The nature and scale of ad hoo missions may vary significantly and,
consequently, determine the composition of the on-site teamsa.

In 2014, the G55F carried out 19 ad hoc missionz Ten of these ad hoc missions focused on corporate
Ewernance, antimoney laundering and counter-temronst financing (hereinafter AML/CFT), MIAD and credit
rigk and are thus mfemed to in the pointa of this chapter relating to these topics. The nine other ad hoc
missions cowersd, inter alia, intemal gowemance and activity management isaues.

1.2. “Interest rate risk™ on-site inspections

“Interest rate risk™ or “Ime=nest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBEf® on-site inspections aim to assess the
management of the interest rate risk arizing from non-trading activities and the stress teat resulis. They are
performed based on the methodology covering the intersat rate risk prepared by the BCB.

In 2016, the CS5F carried out one |[RRBB mizsion. Deficiencies relating to the exhaustive identification,
measurement and limitation of interest rate risks and as regards reporting processes were identified.
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1.3. “Operational risk”™ on-site inspections

“Operational risk™ on-site nspections, excluding internal models, aim to werify the manner inwhich operational
rizk is identified, controlled, managed and measured. They are performed bazed on the methodology covering
the operational rizk prepared by the ECB

In 2014, the CS5F carmed out this type of mission at three banks of the financial centre.

One of these missions started at the end of 2014 at a significant bank and is still underway in the first quarter
of 2017, Performed upon the ECE s request, this mission, in particular, aims to werify the sound management
of the operational risk in Luxembourg, but also of significant subsidianes in Europe. A team of inspe ctora from
several countries was set up to perform this mizsion

Another mission aimed to check how the project of outsourcing to a group entity was managed during the
pre paration, implementation and monitoring phases.

The third mission performed at a significant bank was intended, in particular, to undertake IT business line
controls and to verify the management of operational rizks.

1.4. “Credits”™ on-site inspections

The purpose of “Credits™ on-sie inspections is to werify the sound and prodent credit risk management within
the banke of the financial centre.

After an in-depth analysis of the procedures in this reepect, the processes relating to the granting of credits,
the management of defaulied credits as well as the acceptance and monitoring of guaraniees are tested on
the basis of samplea. The different internal reporte relating to these processes are also eviewed. Moreover,
the gowernance in place for credit risk management is examined

The “Credits™ mizssions are performed based on the methodology covering the credit risk prepared by the
ECB. At the beginning of 2014, the ECB put in place a working group to review the methodology, the will
being to deepen this type of control by enlarging, in particular, the samples of credits controlled. A minimum
number of filks must now be mviewed. This methodology review resulied in a significant increase of the
missiong duration.

For the purposes of optimising and rationalising processes, the 051 department developed a Loan Tape model
allowing it to collect information linked to credit porifolios subject to an on-site inspection in @ uniform manner

In 2014, the C55F camied out “Credits™ missions at nine banks, including four missions at significant banks
Orne of these missions was entirely conducted by a mixed team at a European bank abroad.

These missions concermned vanous subjects such a8 mortgeges, lombard loans and corporate banking loans

The major weaknesses identified during “Credits™ on-site inspections are, on the one hand, the weak
documentation of credit files, at debtors” and potential connected debtors’ level as well as at the level of the
loan itself [lack of detailed critical analysis) and, on the other hand, the abzence of adequate management of
the collateral Indeed, seweral controls relating to loans secured by securities brought in by clents showed
that the risk analysis by the bank or the collateral weighting rules laid down by the bank did not allow meeting
the diversification or Bguidity reguirements, thereby leading to a real kosz given default risk. The classification
of these boans within the systems thus generally differs from the meal risk incurred, which may result in the
communication of ineccurate information to the managing bodies. Moreover, the absence of a definition or
adapted processes for the identification of credits in default and forbome credits remaing a recurrent flaw.

1.5. “Anti-money laundering and counterterrorist financing™ (AML/ CFT) on-site inspections

“AML/ CFT” on-site inspections are carried out at all players of the financial centre in order to azsess whether
the guality of the AML/CFT framework is in line with the legal and regulatory requirements. Inspections cover
notably both private banking (portfolic management, domiciliation, ete.) and UCH activities.




In 2018, the CSSF conducted 19 "AML/ CFT™ on-site inspections’.

The major flaws identified in 201& within the context of "AMLY CFT™ on-site inspections are notably linked to
transaction monitoring, supervizsion of entities and shortfalls in the application of a risk-besed approach.

Consequently, in respect of transaction monitoring the CS5F observed important mefficencies n
the transaction monitoring system: the absence of a critical review of the transactions linked to the
subscription,/ redemption of shares of investment funds in order to verify that the funds really originate from the
account indicated by the imeestor in the subscription form or in order to avoid the payment of redemptions to
third-party accounts, and the acceptance of cash deposits for which the documents in proof were insufficent
orwhose amounts were not plausible with regard to the information held by the professional.

Moreower, in some cases, the Compliance function of the parent company established in Luxe mbourg had poor
knowledge of the activitiea carmed out by its subsidianes brancheg, contributing to an incormect identification
of the AML/CFT risks to which these entities are exposed and lacks in terms of steering of the actvities
carried out by the local AMLY CFT Compliance functions

The C55F also noted cases whene the risk-based approach applied by the professional was inadequaie, either
because the classification of the business relationships according to their AML/CFT risk only based on risk
criteria linked to the sccount holder without considering the beneficial owners and praxies, or because the
couniry of residence of certain people intervening on the account was not included in the detabase of the
professional so that the latter was unable to easily identify all the businesa relationships with countries on the
official lists in order to apply adequate due diligence measures.

Fimally, within the context of the publcation of a seres of documents referred to as “Panama Papers™ by
the Intermational Consortium of Imestigative Journalists, the CS5F decided to mandate different cabinefs
da revizion sgréés (approved audit firms) in order to camy owt on-site inspections at about 30 banks of the
financial centre in relation to account holders such as off-shore companies. The aim of these inspections
was to allow the CESF to assess whether potential cases of non-compliance with the legal and regulatory
AML/CFT framework in force in Luxembourg were identified by the mandated cabirets de révision sgregs.
The inspections in question notably covered the procedural aspect of the due diligence measures applied by
banks to off-shore companies, the quality of the Know Your Customer documentation and information based
on a sample of off shore client files, the quality of the Know Your Tranzactions documentation and information
for this sample as well as the risk-based approach applied by the different banks. At the end of 2014, the
CS55F was in the analysis phase of the results provided by the different cabinats de révision ggreas. The final
conclusions of this large-scale transversal mizsion are expecied for the second quarter of 2017.

1.4. “Corporate governance™ on-site inspections

“Corporate governance” on-site inspections aim to assess the quality of the govemance armangements set up
by the profezsionals pursuant to the legal and re gulatory require ments. The general gove mance arrangements
of 3 Luxembourg entity, the “group head™ function exercised by a Luxembourg entity on ite subsidiares
andy/ or branches, the organization and efficiency of ope of the intermal control functions of an entity may
thus be subject to such an inspection. Since 2014, “Corporate gove mance™ on-site inspections also cover
remuneration policies implemented within Luxembourg entities.

In 2018, the CS5F camied out 12 *Corporate governance™ on-site inspections® at credit institutions

With sx missions compleied in 2016, special emphasis was placed on inspections melating to the
“group head” function. In this coniext, important shortcomings in the control and the supervision of
subsidiares /branches by Lixembourg entities were identified at several credit institutions. The absence of
a quality review of the internal control functions’ work of the subsidianes/branches by the iniemal control
functions of the Luxembourg entities haz, for example, been identified several times. In addition, the CS5F
noied one case where the Compliance function was not aware of all the activities of the branches and where
the Luxe mbouwrg entity had only limited access to the accounting aystems of ite branches

: Inclhuding one follow-up mission carred out following & presicus “AMLY/CFT mission and four ad hoo missions.
* Including four ad hoo missions.



INSTRUMENTS OF SUPERVISION

Moreower, one on-site inspection was conducted under the 55M. During this mission on gowernance, the
remuneration issue was also analysed by the CESF. The main flaws identified in this mapect were as follows:

- quantitative criteria for determining the decision-makers of the entity not taken into account;

- insufficient irvolrement of the Board of Directors in the establishment and monitoring of the remune ration
padicy, in particular for the monitoring of the remune ration of the members of the authorised management;

- non-compliant compasition of the Remuneration Committee and insufficient imwolwement of the later in the
pregaration of emunerationrelated decisions;

- insufficient imnvohement of the intemal control functions in the development and the review of the
remuneration poficy.

The most significant flaws, in terms of frequency or seriousness, that were identified in 20146 during the
“Corporate gowernance™ on-site inspections, are similar to those dentified in 2015.

1.7. “MIFID" on-site inspections

The purpose of “MFID™ on-sie inspections is to azsess whether the implemented MiFID framework i in line
with the kegal and regulatory requirements. In 2016, the CS5F carried out 12 “MiFID™ on-site missions® at
credit institutions, imvestment firms and manage ment companies authorised under Chapter 15 of the Law of
17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for collective investment.

The following most significant flaws, in terms of freguency or seriousness, were identified during the 2016

“MiFIC™ on-site inspections®:

- ghortcominge identified in the controls relating to compliance with the imvestment profiles (in particular,
excessive delays in the resolution of alert=s detected during these controls);

- ghortcominge identified in the inspections performed by the intemal control functions (in particular,
incompleteness of all the MiFD-relaied themes in the monitoring plan of the Compliance function and
inaufficient formalisation of the controls camied owt by the Compliance function).

1.8. “Depositary bank™ on-site inspections

In 2014, the CS5F conducted fiee on-site inspections regarding the *De positary bank™ function, including one
at a significant bank

The methodology used for cammying out these inapections was developed imternally and is mainly modelled on
the existing regulations. Indeed, during these inspections, the CE5F took account of the requirements arsing
from the AIFMD and the requirements of the UCITS W Directive that entered into force in 2016

The purpose of these inspectionz wag, notably, to identify the failures to comply with the dele gated regulations
{Commizsion Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016/438 of 17 December 2015 and Commizsion Delegated
Regulation (EU) Mo 231/ 2013 of 19 December 2012], the national laws [the Lew of 17 December 2010 relating
to undertakings for collective investment and the Law of 12 July 2013 on alternative imestment fund managers)
and the CS5F circulars (Circular CE5F 14/ 587 replaced in October 2016 by Circular CS5F 16/ 448).

The procedures and controls in place to guarantee the custody of the different types of assets, the process of
acceptance of new assignments, the follow-up of the delegated activities as well as the specific supervisory
and monitoring duties anre systematically reviewed during these inspectiona

The CE5F noticed that the new UCITS V regulation did not represent a major challenge for banks, because
mast of them had already anticipated the issues, in particular, with the entry into force of the AIFMD. 1t was
noted, however, that the aforementioned regulations, which largely contribuied to the dewvelopment of the
depositary function, are complex and difficult to put in place, in particular for smaller-szed players.

* Including one ad hoo mission.
& Tha fzws idantified in tha CE5F Annual mport 2015 wess also identified during the on-site inspections conducssd in 2014




The management of the sub-custodian network, either in mrelation to the selection or the follow-up, remains
a major focus of attention within the banks. In addition, the specific supervisory missions applicable to a
depasitary are often not reflected by way of adequate and, especially, independent processes.

Finally, the issue relating to conflicts of interest management is a sensitive subject for a certain number of
banks.

1.9. “UCI central administration™ on-site inspections

In 2014, the CS5F conducted 12 *UCI central administration”™ on-site inspections at three banks, including one
significant bank, and nine professionals of the financial sector

Thiz type of missions mainly cover the NAV calculation process and the transfer agent function. They were
cammied out at both large-sized players of the financial centre and small entities with the aim to control the
general organisation of these providers. In thizs respect, the process of acceptance of new assignments, the
procedunes in place, the human and technical means available and the supervision of the delegated activities
hawe been reviewed in further detail

1.10. "Business Model™ on-site inspections

In 2018, the CS5F carmed out one “Business Model™ targeted mission at a bank of the financial centre which
operates in trade financing operations. The mission allowed verifying on-site the spe cificities of this subject as
well as how the bank manages the related riska.

1.11. “ICAAP" on-site Inspactions

In 2014, one mission relating to the ICAAP reporting was realised at a European bank by C35F inspectora. This
inspection was requested by the ECH.

1.12. “IT risk™ on-site inspections

The = Supervigion of information sys®ems and support PFS™ department includes a specialized ®am in charge
of conducting IT on-site inspections at the supervised entities In 2014, this team camed out six on-site

imnapections, four of which we re carmed out upon the ECE s request in the framework of the 55M and two upon
the C55F s initiative.

Twio out of four inspections in the framewaork of the 55M were camied out in Luikembourg under the C55F=
responsibility, and two in other EU Member 5States under the mesponsibiliy of the competent national
authorities.

The two on-sile inepections conducied at the C55F s initiative conce med a bank and a support PF5.

The main shortcomingg, in ®rms of frequency or seriousness, identified in 2016 during the *IT risk™ on-zite
inapections concemed:

- internal control, in particular, the independence and efficiency of the three lines of defence;

- IT security, including in particular the management of privileged accesses and the management of cyber
threats;

- continuity of activities as a whole [gowernance, plans and ests);

- putsourcing, in particular, the contractual aspects and operational follow-up.



INSTRUMENTS OF SUPERVISION

1.13. Introductory visits

Introductory visite are aimed at professionals that recently receved their authorizsation and, where appropriate,
at existing players that received an authorisation to carry out a new activity in addition to the existing
authorizations. Usually carried out within the first six months following the professional s authorisation, the
purpose of these missions is to verfy that the contemplated business plan is being followed and that the
gystems and infrastructures are cormectly implemented.

In 2014, the C55F undertook 22 introductory visits at new players of the financial centre.

In some cases, the introductony visits revealed weaknesses in the organization of the day-to-day management,
in the consistency of the entities’ activities with the scope of their authorization and &s regards their internal
procedures and documents.

2. DECISIONS AS REGARDS SANCTIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE POLICE
TAKEN IN 2016

The total amount of administrative fines imposed by the C35F in 20146 reached EUR 1,330,950, against
EUR 1,335,000 in 2015.

It should be moted that the amount of administrative fines is likely to grow in the following years due to the
entry into force of certain amending laws transposing EU law. Indeed, the amending provisions of these
lewz have generally adapied the administrative pecuniary penalty regime in order to increase the maximum
amount of administrative fines that the CS5F may impose. In the case of legal persons, they introduce,
notably, a rule according to which the maximum amount of the administrative fine representz a determined
percentage of the total annual tumover. Aleematively, the CS5F could impose administrative fines of up to
twice the amount of the profits gained or losses avoided because of the breach of the law where those
can be detlermined. Examples are the Law of 23 July 2015 trensposing Directive 2013/ 346/EU [CRD W) and
amending the Law of 5April 1993 on the financial sector [cf Article §3-2), the Law of 10 May 2016 transposing
Directive 2014,/ 81,/EU (UCITS V) and amending the Lew of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for
collective investment (cf. Article 148) and the Law of 10 May 2014 tranaposing Directive 2013/ 50,/EU and
amending the Law of 11 January 2008 on transparency requirements for the isuers (cf. Article 25).

Moreover, the entry into force of these amending |laws changed the regime of publication of sanctions and
administrative measures. Indeed, the publication shall henceforth be made on a name basis, except in certain
limiied circumsteances in which the disclosure of names may be postponed or the publication be made
anonymousky.

In 2014, the CS5F took the following decisions with respect to sanctions and adminisirative police.

2.1. Credit Institutions

In 2014, the CS5F imposed free administrative fines on credit institutions pursuant to Article 43 of the Law of
5 April 1993 on the financial sector Two of these fines amounting to EUR 15,000 and EUR 30,000, respectively,
were imposed due to non-compliance with the AML, CFT professional obfigations. Two other fines amounting
to EUR 25,000 and EUR 30,000, rezpectively, were imposed for non-compliance with the depogitary bank
function. A fine of EUR 140,000 was finally imposed fior serious shortcomings as regarde governance and the
management of the interest rate risk relating to the banking book.

Moreover, in 2014, the CS5F filed three complaints with the State Prosecutor relating to illegal exercize of
banking activities by unauthorised entities.




2.2, Investment firms

In 2014, the CS5F imposed four administrative fines pursuant to Article §3 of the Lew of 5 April 1993 on the
financial sector. All these fines were imposed on imvestment firms as legal personz

A fine of EUR 10,000 was imposed on an imvestment firm for repeated shortcomings with respect to the

legal obligationa to publish annual accounts. Two other investment firms had to pay fines amounting to

EUR 5,000 and EUR 12,000 for not submitting the closing documents within the time limits set Furthermore,

the CS5F imposed an administrative fine of EUR 52,500 on an imvestment firm for non-compliance with a

certain number of professional obligations of the financial sector relating to the expenditure management, the

activity of professional acting for its own account and the mmuneration policy. In addition, the CS5F imposed

an injunction bazed on Article 59 of the aforementioned law on the imestment firm in gquestion in order for it

to comply with the regulations in force within a short period of time.

The CESF used its right of injunction in accordance with Article 5% of the aforementioned law on seven other

occasions for the following reasonz

- shortcomings identified at the level of communication to the CS5F and compliance with the remuneration
policy;

- nor-regularization of the findings and recommendations issued by the external auditor with respect to the
closing of the 2014 financial year;

- high number of deficiencies identified and recommendations isswed in the closing documents relating to the
2015 financial year, a large number of which was recurrent;

- mon-compliance with the conditions required for the composition of the authorised management and for
compliance with the four eyes principhe;

- capital adeguacy ratic deficiency in accordance with Article 92 of Regulation [EU) Mo 57572013 of
26 June 2013 om prudential requirements for credit institutions and imvestment firms and amending
Regulation (EU) No 648/ 2012;

- leck of fransparency vis-3-vis the CS5F: the information transmitted upon request to the CE5SF ofien proved
to be minimalist or even incomplete;
- mon-compliance with certain legal obligations.

Following the withdrawal of its suthorisation by the Minisier of Finance, one investment firm was placed
under the regime of suspension of paymentz. The Trnibwes B Amondizsement de et § Luxembouwrg [Lixembourg
Diistrict Cowrt) subsequently ordered the dissolution and liguidation of the imestment firm in guestion.

With respect to imeestment firmg, the CS5F filed three reporte with the 5State Prosecutor pursuant to
Article 23(2) of the Code of Criminal Proce dure in 2016.

In 2014, the CS5F filed 11 complaints with the State Prosecutor regarding entities which provided imee stment
services without authorisation.

2.3. Speciallsed PFS

In 2014, the CS5F imposed frve administrative fines pursuant to Article 63 of the Law of 5 April 1993 on the
financial sector.

Three of these fines, two of which amounted to EUR 5,000 and one to EUR 10,000, concermed, in particular,
non-compliance with the AML/CFT professional obligations. They were imposed on natural persons in their
respective capacity as directors and managing directors of a legal person.

Another administrative fine of EUR 50,000 was imposed on a legal person, in particular for non-compliance
with the AML/CFT obligations.

The CS5F, moreover, imposed an administrative fine of EUR 12,000 on a lkegal person for non-compliance
with the professional obligations regarding the filing of the annual eccounts of domiciled companies with the
Regisire de Commerce et des Sociétés (Luxembourg trade and companies regisier).



INSTRUMENTS OF SUPERVISION

In 2016, the C55F decided on three occcasions to mporarily withdrew the professional repuie of natural
persons for having provided incomplede, inaccurate or false information to the CS35F. The professional repute
wias withdrawn for twehre months from two natural persons who intended to take a qualifying holding in a PFS.
The other withdrawal of a duration of five years concerned & natural person in his capacities a= chairman of
the Board of Directors, day-to-day manager and majority shareholder of a legal person.

In 2014, the C55F also issued four wamings against natural persons pursuant to Article §3(2) of the Law
of & April 1923 on the financial sector, inchuding one ageinst a shareholder and director and another one
against a director of a legal person for non-compliance with the AML/CFT professional obligations. The two
other wamings concemed two natural persons that are shareholders and directors of a PFS due to recurrent
norcompliance with their professional obligetions as regarde notifications pursuant to Article 18 of the
aforementicned Law.

In 20114, the CS5F imposed a penalty on a begal person on the basis of Article 63(3) of the Law of 5 April 1993
on the financial sector in relation to a failure in regularizsing the filing with the Registre de Commerce et
des Sociétés of the annual accounts of domiciled companies with the legal person in question. The penalty
reached a total amount of ELIR 15,750

The CS5F uszed its right of injunction twice in 2016 in accordance with Article 5% of the Law of 5 April 1993
on the financial sector. One injunction conce med non-compliance by a supervised entity with the AML/CFT
obligations. Another injunction concemed non-compliance with the professional obligations by a legal person
as regards filing with the Registre de Commerce et des Sockétés of annual accounts of domiciled companies.

2.4. Undertakings for collective investment

In accordance with Article 148(1) of the Law of 177 December 2010 relating to UCls, the CS5F imposed
administrative fines of ELR 2,000 each on the dingeant (director) of a UCI for filing an incomplete declaration
of honour and on the difigeantz of a UC] for nonHfiling of the UCI long form report

In accordance with Article 51(1) of the Law of 13 February 2007 relating to specialised imvestment funds,
the C55F imposed administrative fines amounting to EUR 2000 or EUR 4,000, as the case may be, on the
dirigeantz of 33 5IFs for nonfiling of the management letter 23 well as on the dinigsants of 32 SIFs for
norHfiling of the annual financial report The CS55F also imposed administrative fines of EUR 4,000 each on
a dirjgaant of a 3IF for filing an incomplete declaration of honour and on the dingeants of two SIFs for the
tranamission of incomplete documents.

In 2014, the CS5F decided to withdrew five SIFs from the official list for noncomplisnce with the legal
provisions governing S1Fa.

In accordance with the provisions of Article 17(1) of the Law of 15 June 2004 relating to the investment
company in risk capital [SICAR), the C55F imposed administrative fines amounting to EUR 500 each on
the dinpeants of 11 SICARs for nonfiling of the management ketier and on the dingeantz of 11 SICARs for
norHiling of the annual financial report. It also impozed an administrative fine of EUR 500 on the dinipeant of
a SICAR for filing an incomplete declaration of honour.

Moreover, in the course of the year, the CS5F refused registration of one entity on the official list of SICARs.

2.5. Securitisation undertakings

In sccordance with the provisions of Article 85 of the Law of 22 March 2004 on securitisation, the C35F
imposed administrative finee amounting to EUR 2,000 each on the dirjgeants (managers) of a securitisation
undertaking for non-filing of the management letter and on the dinigeants (managers) of a securitization
undertaking for noniling of the annual financial report.




2.6, Securities markets

In the framework of the control of adwertisements and documents accessible to the public following the
approval of a prospectus by the C35F, injunctions relating to requests for tranamission of information and
documents, prohibition to izsue advertisements and ce zsation of practices infringing the Prospectus Law were
imposed on one isswer following irregularites observed with reapect to various provisions of the Prospectus
Lawe. The issuer in guestion received, in this coniext, an administrative fine of EUR 10,000 for hawing published
falze information in a prospectus and an administrative fine of EUR 20,000 for having offered securities to the
public in breach of the provisions of the Prospectus Law.

In the framework of a posterion conirols of final ®rma, several injunctions conceming requests for the
transmigsion of information and documents to the CS5F were imposed on an issuer that subseguently
received an administrative fine of EUR 10,000 for heving disclosed false information in a prospectus and for
having obtained an admission of securities to trading on a regulated market in breach of the provisions of the
Prospectus Law.

The review of financial reports under the Transparency Law led the CS5F to izsue 11 administrative fines,
mainly due to delays in the disclesure and filing of annual and half-pearty financial reports. The total amount
of these administrative fines imposed in accordance with Article 25 of the Trensparency Law amounted to
EUR 108, 500. The CS5F imposed an administrative fine of EUR 2,200 as regards the control of major holdings
under the Transparency Law and a fine of EUR 2,500 on an isswer which failed to act in response to an order
of the C55F conceming a request for information.

Within the framework of the monitoring of compliance with the injunctions imposed for the preparation of
their 2015 annual accounts, the C55F noted non-compliance with certain of these injunctions for two issuers
belonging to the same group. The CS5F thus imposed an administrative fine of EUR 22,500 on each of these
85U rs.

Az regards market abuse, the C55F sanctioned, by way of decizions dated & April 2016 and 14 Sepiember 2014,
one issuer of shares and three persons belonging or having belonged to its management for market
manipulation ower shares of the izsuer admitted to trading on a regulated market in accordance with the
provisions of the Law of 9 May 2006 on market abuse. In this respect, administrative fines amounting to a
total of EUR 125,000 were imposed.

Moreaver, in accordance with Article 33(3) of the Law of 9 May 2006 on market abuse, the C35F imposed on
an imstitution subject to its prudential supervision an administrative fine of EUR 10,000, for having failed to
act in responge to injunctions to provide complete and accurate information within the comtext of information
requests in relation to market abuse inEemational cooperation files. The CSSF will, during a period of
18 months, pay special atiention to guality, clarity and comprehensiveness of the information recewed by this
institution in relation to information requests pertaining to market abuse.

In 2016, the C55F u=ed once its right of injunction in accordance with Article 41 of the Law of 13 July 2007
on markets in financial instruments. The injunction concemed the non-comprehensiveness of the reports on
transactions in financial instruments sent to the C35F pursuant to Article 28 of the aforementioned Law.

2.7. Audit profession

In accordance with Article 67 of the Law of 18 December 2009 conceming the audit profession, the CESF
impased, in 2014, an administrative fine of EUR 40,000 on a révisew o entreprises ggres [approved statutony
auditor) for breaching legel and regulatory provisions and an sdministrative fine of EUR 1,500 on four révisewrs
d"entraprises agréds for breaching the legal and regulatory provisions on ongoing traiming.
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Agents hired in 2074 and 20/7: Department “On-gite inspection”

Left to right: Aline EL AYARI, Kelly SWIETCZAK, Shamim FARID, Marjorie DEMAZY, Inde ESCAMILLA, Fouad AZZ1,
Amaud BERVAS, Frédéric GNABRO, Frank DEMZER, Pierre NIKES, Anne-Sophie GRASMUCK, Renaud MESTE Emilie FAES






CHAPTER XVII

RESOLUTION

The Law of 18 December 2015 on the failure of credit mstiutions and certain imestment firms (BRRD Law],
which, notably, transposes Directrve 2014/ 5% /EU establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution
of credit institutions and investment firms [BRRD), designates the C55F as the resolution authority in
Luxembpurg. The CS5F exercises the missions and powers essigned to it as resolution authority through the
Resolution Board, whereas the “Resclution™ department (RES department) performs the day-to-day tasks
related to these mizsiona. The Resolution Director, Mr Romain Sirock, who chairs the Resolution Board, heads
the RES department.

For a description of the functions and composition of the Resolution Board, please refer to Chapter |
“Governance and functioning of the C35F.

Set up on 1 March 2015 in order to carry out the tasks and cbligationz entrusted to the national resolution
authority under the BRRD azwell as under Regulation (EU) Mo B04,/ 2014 (SRM Re gulation), the RES department
is composed of 11 persons as at 31 March 2017

In line with the distribution of responsibilities between the Resolution Board and particularly the Single
Rezolution Board (5RE), the RES department iz especially in charge, at individual and group level, to submit
the following for decision to the Resolution Board, 28 concemns credit institutions and investment firme falling
under the scope of the BRRD Law or the SRM Regulation:

- adopting rezolution plans and resolvability assessments;

- measures io address or remove impediments to resobeability;

- appointing a special manager;

- ensuring a fair, prudent and realistic valuation of the as=ets and liabilities;

- apphying simplified obligations or granting waners, among others, to the obligation to draft a resclution plan;
- gefting the minimum require ment for own funds and eligible liabilites, in particular its level;

- sdopting resolution decisions and applying resolution tools in accordance with the relevant procedures and
safeguards;




- writing-down or comerting relevant capital instruments;

- aecuting the instructions izswed by the SRE.

Moreower, the RES department represents the C55F as resolution authority within intermational fora. Thus, the
agents of the RES department, notably, participate in the work of the SRB and the EBA

Az far as the EBA is concerned, the RES department iz represented in the Resolution Committee [ResCo)
which iz a permanent intemal committee of the EBA, set wp in January 2015, for the purpose of taking
decizions and fulfilling tasks conferred on the EBA and the national resolution authorities under the BRRD.
The voting members are the directors of the national resolution authorities within the ELL In addition, the RES
department participates in the work of the Subgroup on Crizie Management [SGCM), joint subgroup of the
Standing Committee on Regulation and Policy (SCRePOL) and the Resolution Committee.

As regards the SRE, for a detailed description of its tasks, functions and composition, please refer to Chapier
Il *The Eurcpean dimension of the supervision of the financial sector™ of the CS5F Annual Report 2015
The Resolution Director participates in the plenary session of the 5RB as well as in the extended exe cutive
segsion when topics conceming Luxe mbourg entities are being discussed. This was the case in 2006 during
the adoption by the SRE, meeting in extended exe cutive session, of the resolution plans of several banking
groups which include Luxembourg banking subsidiaries and of the resolution plans of Luxe mbourg banking
groups or sysiemic banks. Moreower, a reorganisation of the permanent working sub-commitiees of the SRB
took place in 2016 and the agents of the RES department participate, henceforth, in the work of the SRB
Resolution Commitiee, the SRB Fund Committee, the SRB Administrative and Budget Committee and the SRB
Legal Metwork. The C5S5F also participates in the SRB ICT Metwork.

The RES department continuees itz collaboration with the SRE for the drafting of resolution plans of Luixembourg
significant banks under the competence of the SRE. In this context, frequent meetingz, vide cconferences and
information exchangeswill take placewith the representatives of the SRE, the C55F s department = Supervision
of banks™ and the relevant bankza. The RES department also participates, within the Internal Resolution Teams
coordinated by the SRE, in drafting resolution plans for significant banking groups in the Banking Linion, which
have Luxembourg subsidianes.

The RES department prepared and held meetings of three colleges of resolution authorities relating to banks
for which the CS5F is the group-level resolution authority and participated in meetings and teleconferences
of colleges of resolution authorities chaired by the group-level resolution authorities from other EU countries.

Moreower, the RES department staried drafting a certain number of resclution plans for le=s significant banks
under the direct responsibility of the Resolution Board

Two CESSF-CODERES circulars were published in 2016 conceming, on the one hand, the raising of 2014
contributions for the Single Resolution Fund and, on the other hand, the collection of information for the
calculation by the 5RB of the 2017 contributions to the same fund.



CHAPTER XVIII

PROTECTION OF DEPOSITORS
AND INVESTORS

With the entry inio force of the Law of 18 December 2015 on the failure of credit instiwtions and certain
imestment firms [BRRD Law), the duties relating to the prodection of depositors and imestors carmied out in
the past by the Association pour la Garantie des Depdts, Lixembourg heve been transferred to the Council
for the Protection of Depositors and Imvestors (CPDI), a new executive body of the C35F which manages and
adminisiers the Fonds de Garantie des Dépdis Luwembourg (FGDL) and the Systéme o Indemnisation des
Imve stizseurs Luxembourg [SIIL).

Please refer to Chapter | *Gowernance and functioning of the C55F for a description of the CPDTs functions
and composition.

The FGOL is an dtabfizzemant public [publiz body) separated from the CS5F, established under Article 154 of

the BRRD Lew. The FGDL is the recognised Luxembourg de posit guarantee scheme refermed to in Article 4{1)
of Directive 2014/ 49 /EU of 16 April 2014 on deposit guarantes schemes. The FGDL collects the contributions

due by participating credit institutions, manages the financial means and, in the event of insolvency of a
member institution, makes the repayments as instrucied by the CPDL Unlike the FGDL, the SlIL is financed
ex post, Le. contributions are collected from its members only in the event of a failure.

The CPDI iz assisted in the performance of its duties by the CS5F department “Depositor and Imeestor
Protection™ [PDI de partment), which was created in 2016 and counied three employees at the end of the year
In general, the PDI department perfarms the operational tasks of the FGDL

* Activities of the CPDI

In 2014, the CPDI met four times, allowing, among others, to validaie the following circulars:

- Girgular CESF-CPDI 16/01 of & April 2018 providing information regarding the collection of the 2016 ex ante
contributions pursuant to Articke 156(2) of the BRRD Law;

- Circular CS5F-CPDI 16,02 of 18 October 2014 on the scope of the deposit guarantee and the imestor
compensation;
- Cirgular CS5F-CPDI 16,/03 of 18 October 2016 on the survey on covered claima in connection with investment

business; and

- Cirgular CS5F-CPD 14/04 of 23 Nowvember 2016 on the guarterly survey on the amount of covered deposits
held during 2014




The CPDI ensures that the FGOL has adequate mechanisms in place to dedermine its potential commitments. To
thisend, the CPDI will carry out stress tests on the FGDOL system from 2017 on. Moreover, the PO department
assists the CPDOI in the calculation and collection of the contributions to be paid to the FGDL by the member
ingtitutions, ensures the sound functioning of the depositor and investor compensation scheme, performs
ongoing checks at the participating institutions to ensure the sound functioning of the compensation scheme,
camies out the cross-border compensation and, if necessary, the contribution transfer transactions between
the deposit guarantee funde in the EL, contributes to the drawingup of opinions and technical standards
within the relevant working groups on depogit guarantee and investor compensation of the EBA, and, where
applicable, of the European Forum of Deposit Insurers [EFDI).

In 2016, the CPDI validated the membership of the FGDL to the EFDI Multilaieral Cooperation Agreement
Model as well 88 a8 guide on good practices and associated standards, baszed om EBA Guidelines
(EBAS GLS 20016,/02) which include important specifications on the cbjpctves and mimimum conient
of cooperation agreements which have to be concleded between deposit guarantee schemes under
Directive 2014,/49/EL.

The CPDI aleo mandated the implementation of an IT software to automate, as far as possible, the compensation
process The main functions of this software are: reading the Single Custome r View file and providing a quality
report, calculating the amount to be paid out for each depositor and the total paymentvolume, extracting the
mailing addresses, inputting a new bank account number for each depositor to ensure the payment of the
compensation, and generating payment instructions

Moreower, the CPDI elaborates the educational and informational content of the websie wewfgdll A
strategy has been put in place to opdimise the access to the website, to the information provided and to its
services in order to facilitaie the contact with depositors in accordance with Article 158 of the BRRD Lawe
T this end, the CPDI is also currently seeking the assistance of a service provider in order to put in place a
dedicated call centre for wronged depositors. This service will be activated in the event of a bank failure and
may be adapted according to the size of the institution concerned.

= Ex ante contribution collection for the FGDL

Pursuant to Articles 79(2) and 180 of the BRRD Law, the FGDL collects the contributions from credit
imatiutionsz, including Luxembourg branches of credit institutions having their regisiered office in a third
couniry, and from POST Luxembourg for its provision of postal financial services. The FGDL will receive these
contributions over a pericd of three years to reach the target level of LB¥ of the cowered deposits at the
end of 2018. In accordance with Article 180(1) of the aforementioned |aw, the FGOL will continue to collect
contributions during the period from 2019 to 2024 in order to provide the FGDL with a buffer of additional
financial means representing another extra (L8% of the covered deposits. The FGDL will thus reach a level of
contributions which represents twice the minimum assets required for by Directive 2014,/49 /ELL

The methodology elaborated by the CPDN in accordance with Article 182 of the BRRD Law and with the EBA
Guidelines on methods for calculating contributions to deposit guaraniee schemes (EBA/GLYS 2015/ 10) has
been presenied and discussed with the industry. The contributions are cabculaied based on the amount of
covered depaosits and the degree of risk incurred by the respective participating member. In accordance with
the requirements of Article 182[3) of the BRRD Law, the C5SF approved the calculation method published
as an annex to Circular CESF-CPDI 16/01. The entities concerned paid ex ante contributions totalling
EUR 74.4 million to the FGOL for the financial year 2016

* [nterventions

In 2014, the FGOL did not perform any reimburse ment of deposits, nor finance any resolution nor any me asure
to =afeguard depositors’ access to covered deposits in the coniext of winding-up or reorganisation procedures.



CHAPTER XIX

FINANCIAL CRIME

The following developments present the C35Fs mwolhement in determining anti-money laundering and
combating the financing of terroriam (AMLS CFT) policies at national and intermnational kewvel ower the year
2016, The operational part of the C55F s activities with respect to AML/CFT supervision is further detailed
in the chapters regarding supervision and in Chapéer XV *Instruments of supervision™ of this annual report

1. AMENDMENTS TO THE REGULATORY FRAMEWORK REGARDING THE
FIGHT AGAINST MONEY LAUNDERING AND TERRORIST FINANCING

1.1. Amendments to the European framework on AML/CFT

1.1.%. Proposal for a directive amending Directive (EU) 2015,/849 on the prevention of the use of the financial
system for the purposes of money laundering and terrorist financing and Directive 2000,/ 101,/EC

On 5 July 2014, the European Commiszion adopied a proposal for a directive aiming to further strengthen
the EU AMILSCFT rules in order to fight against terrorist financing and to increase transpamncy &s regards
beneficial owners of undertakings and trusts

The proposal for a directive is designed, more specifically, to minforce the powers of the EU financial
intelligence units and to facilitaie the cooperation between them, to tackle the terrorist financing risks related
to virtual curmencies, to apply stricter controls to thind countries at risk and to reinforce the transparency rules
to prevent tax evesion and money leundering via the establishment of central registers of beneficial cwners
(B accessible to the public and interconnected in the different Member States.

The adoption process at European level of the aforementioned proposal for & directive, whoze entry into force
was initially planned for 1 January 2017 together with Directive (EL) 2015/ 849 [Wth Directive ), whose deadline
for transposaition remains set on 26 June 2017 at the latest, is siill underway.

It should be noted that the work to transpose the [Wth Directive into Lixembourg law continues and that the
date of transposition of all provisions of the directive into national law remains unchanged, i.e. 24 June 2017




1.1.Z. Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016/ 1675 of 14 July 2016 supplementing
Directive (EU) 2015,/849 by identifying highrisk countries with strategic deficiencies

In accordance with the mandate under Article 9 of the Nth Directive, the European Commission adopted
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU] 2016/ 1675 identifying high-risk third countries with AML/CFT
strategic deficiencies and whose poor stendards for controlling money flows pose significant threats to the
financial system of the ELL

The regulation which entered into force on 23 Sepéember 2014 is binding in its entirety and directly applicable
in each Member State of the ELL It will be updated on a regular basis by the European Commizsion.

1.1.3. Directive (EU} 2016 /2258 of & December 2016 amending Directive 2011/ 16/EU as regards access to
anti-money laundering information by tax authorities

Adopied within the framework of the fight against tax fraud and tax evasion, the directive is to be considered
in the context of the implementation of the global standard for automatic exchange of financial account
information in tax matters within the ELL

1.1.4. Conclusions of the Council of the EU on the criteria for and process leading to the establishment of the
EU list of non-cooperative jurisdictions for tax purposes

To enhance transparency, and more specifically following the revelations brought to light by the *Panama
Papers™, the Council of the EU agreed to establish an EU list of non-cooperative jurisdictions for tax purposes.
T this end, it has adopted, by publication in the Official Journal of the EU of 10 December 2018, conclusions
that provide for criteria for screening non-cooperative jurisdictions, s well as guidelines for the azsessment
procedure. The Councils intention is to approve the final wersion of this list before the end of 20717

1.1.5. Regulation (EU) 2016/ 1686 of 20 September 2016 imposing additional restrictive measures directad
against I5IL (Da'esh) and Al-Oseda and natural and legal persons, entities or bodies associated with them

In response to the concrete threat caused by AlCeeda and 1SIL [Da’esh) to intemational peace and security,
the Council of the EU has adopted, by way of thiz regulation, additional restrictive measures against 15IL
{Da’esh) and AHleeda as well as natural and legal peraong, entities or bodies associated with them. All the
restrictive financial measures adopted in 20146 are available on the C55F websile under the section “Financial

Crime™.

1.2. Amendments to the Luxembourg regulatory framework

1.2.1 Penal Code

In Luxembourg law, the entry into force of the Law of 23 December 2016 on the implementation of the 2017
tax reform, which directly impacts the fight against money laundering, should be noted. This law provides for
inter alia, the offences of aggravaed tax fraud (fravde fiscale sggravée) and evasion [sscrogquerie fscals)
related to direct or indirect texes for predica®e money-laundering offences by way of an amendment of
Article 506-1(1) of the Penal Code, and thus already transposes the reguirements of the 1Vih Directive and
the FATF in this espect

1.2.2. Ministerial regulations

In 2014, the Ministry of Finance izsued sk new ministerial regulations implementing UN Resclutiona 1247
(1999} and 1989 (2011) [AHOeeda) and 1988 [2011) and 2082 (2012) [Talikan).
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1.2.3. C85F circulars and other information

On 17 February 2017, the CS5F together with the Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU) published the commaon
Circular C55F 17/ 650 aimed at guiding professionals subject to the C55F s supervision, in the implementation
of the new legal provisions relaied to primary tax offences, recently iniegraied in the Fenal Code. It should
be no#ed that the new criminal tax offences are qualified a= predica® money-lsundering offences as from
1 January 2017, The obligations of the entities supervized by the CS55F with respect to money-daundering
prevention in relation to the aforementioned criminal tax offences also take effect as from 1 January 2017

Maoreover, the CS5F published Circular CS5F 16/645 on 27 October 2014, following the statements of the

FATF during itz plenary meeting of October 20148, which listz in this respect:

- the jurisdictions whose antimoney |aundering and combating the financing of terroriam regime has
substantial and straiegic deficiencies;

- the jurisdictions whose ant-money laundering and comiating the financing of ®rmorism regime requires the

application of enhanced due diligence measures proportionate to the risks ansing from these jursdictions;
and

- the jurisdictions whose antimoney laundering and combating the financing of terrorism regime is not
satisfactony.

The C55F circulars relating to the FATF staterments are published three times per year at the end of each of

the three annual plenary meetings of the FATF and are replaced succe ssively.

The AMLS CFT FAQ published by the CE5F on ite website were amended in July 2016

It iz also worth mentioning the publication, on 12 April 2016, of the EBA’s opinion on the application of customer
due diligence measures to customers who are asylum see kers from highe sk thind countres or territones’,
which iz an information that the CS55F released in its Mewsletier of May 2016

In itz Newsletter of November 2016, the CS5F informed professionals of the publication of the FATF guidance
on cormrespondent banking services in relation, notably, to the de-risking issue, ie. situations where financial
institutions termingte or restrict business relationships with entire countries or clazses of customers in order
to avoid, rather than manage, risks in line with the FATFs risk-based approach.

2. CSSF PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS REGARDING THE FIGHT AGAINST
MONEY LAUNDERING AND TERRORIST FINANCING AND REGARDING
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SANCTIONS

The CS5F participates in several intermational working groups dealing with AMLS CFT topica, including the
Financial Action Tagk Force [FATF), the Joint Committee’s Sub-Committee on Anti-Money Laundering [AMLC)
under the Joint Commitiee of the European Supervisory Authorities, the Expert Group on Money Laundering

and Terrorist Financing (EGMLTF) of the Eurcpean Commission, the Anti-Maoney Laundering Expert Group
[AMILEG) of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and The Wolfsberg Group

Among the FATF s work in 2016 that is of particular relevance for the financial sector, the following can be
mentioned:

- adoption of the Guidance on criminalising &rmorist financing

- drafting of a handbook to assist practitioners in their implementation of United Mations Security Council
Resolution 137 3.

Of particular note among the key topice discussed within the FATF in 2014 are the decline in correspondent
banking relationships, mainly due to de-risking, and the transparency in information exchange and knowledge
of the beneficial owner.

" htepf F wewew. oosf b/ fikeadmin/ ke s/ LBC_FT/ taviss_LES EBA-Dp- 201407 pdf.




Other more specific work of the FATF led to the publication of two important guides for banks, but also for
providers of services relaied to the money or value transfer services, Le.:

- Guidance on come spondent banking services (October 2018);
- Guidance for a risk-based approach for money or value transfer services (February Z01&)

Finally, the FATF, which holds true to ite cbjective to further invohe the privete sector in its work, met
representatives of the private sector to openly exchange on, inier alia, existing barriers to AML/ CFT-related
information exchange and on the situation of comespondent banking relationshipa, always with the aim to
remedy de-risking where an AML/CFT rigk is imvohed.

All the publications of the FATF are available on the website hitp:,/ /www. fatf-gafiong,.

At national bevel, the CS5F held in 2016 formal meetings with representatives of the FIU and/or the State
Prosecutor. The discussions conce med, in particular, ceriain suspicious reports of major importance for the
Lxe mbourg financial centre, the implementation of a new predica®e money-laundering offence in tax matters
by reference to the Wih Directive and the preparation of 8 commaon circular in this respect.

Several coordination and consultation meetings of all the national authorities competent in AMLY CFT were
alzo held in 20146 under the chairmanship of the Ministry of Justice and the Ministry of Finance, respectively,
depending on the topics of the cormesponding working groups.

The purpose of the meetings was the transposition work of the Wth Directive (including the exchange of
views as regards the implementation of a national re gister of beneficial owners], the guidelines a3 regards the
application of different financial sanctions (CFT and non-CFT), the standard form for transaction reports in
relation to countries subject to financial sanctions as well as the preparation of the plenary meetings of the FATE

The CE5F, moreover, actively participated in the preparation of a National Risk Assessment, as provided for by
the FATF in its Recommendation 1



CHAPTER XX

FINANCIAL CONSUMER
PROTECTION

1. FINANCIAL CONSUMER PROTECTION AND FINANCIAL EDUCATION

Financial consumer protection is increasingly deveboping in the financial centre and the CS5F is contributing
to this dewelopment

In order to facilitate consumers” dispute resolution, the legislator adopted the Law of 17 February 2016
introducing the alternative dispute resolution for consumer dispuies into the Consumer Code and amending
certain other legal provigions of the Consumer Code. This law provide s, inter alia, that the Minister of Economy
draws up a st of the entities in charge of altemative dispute resolution for consumer disputes [gualified
entitiea). The C55F was megistered on this list in Movember 20145, The official recognition as gualified entity
notably allowed the CS5F to participate in the altemative consumer dispute resolution platform established at
the beginning of 2016 by the Eurcpean Commission.

Moreover, as supervisory authority of the financial centre and as part of the mission conferred wpon it by is
organic law, the CS5F pays particular atiention to the protection of the interests of financial consumers that anre
often dependent on the last Echnological development=. This willingness to protect financial consumers” rights
iz shared by the Eurcpean supervisory authorities and imtemnational orgenisations such as the OECD or
FinCoMet.

At Luwembourg level, the Financial Consumer Protection Committee developed a national strategy regarding
financial education in 2015. As soon &8 it reaches the gowernment’s approval, the efforts made in this respect
will be intensified and coordineted. Article L226-4 of the Law of 23 December 20né on credit agreements
relating to residential immovable property introduces financial education of consumers in this respect This
lewr designates the CESF as the authority competent, in particular, to promote measures aiming to educate
ConsUMmers on responsible bormowing and debt management

In general, financial education is a key straiegy to enhance consumer protection and to promote
consumers’ confidence in financial products and players. According to a definition of the OECD, financial
education is defined as the process by which a person improves his/ her understanding of products, concepts
and financial risks and via instruction develops the =kills and confidence to cammy out effective iniereentions




to improve his, her financial position. A culiural dimension can be added to this definition az regards anyone’s
understanding of the economic and financial world s/ he lves in.

Financial education is a long-term exercise which is complementary to other tools such as regulation or
SUpeTvVision.

In addition to its imvoleement at European level, the CS5F contributes to the work of several international
groups, the purposes of which are financial consumer prote ction and the spread of financial e ducation

» Task Force on consumer protection of the OECD Committea on Financial Markets

The Task Force's work focussed on the implementation of the operational action plan that it deweloped
following the work regarding the 10 High-Lewel Principles of the GZ0 on financial consumer protection

The interest of the members was particularly keen for High-Level Principle 9 on complaints handling and
redress. A self-a=zseszsment gquestionnaire was drawn up to enable the members to asse=s how they implement
this princigle. In this coniext, the Tazk Force also expressed an interest for the processing and backup of the
data collected in complaint handling and for the current and future risks to which the financial consumer ia
exposed (e g household indebtedness, ageing population, dependence on new technologies, ete.).

» FinColNet

FinCoMet iz an iniemational organization which gathers supervisory authorities that are responsible for
financial consumer protection from 22 countries. It aima at fostering information exchange and cooperation
beiween supervisory authorities in order toencourage a proper conduct of the market and a strong consumer
protection in banking and credit.

In 2014, FinCoNet published summary reports on sesponsible lending ("Sakes Incentives and Responsible
Lending”) and supervisory measures to mitigate security risks linked to online and mobile payment [“0nline
and maobile payments: Supervisory challenges to mitigate security risk™).

FinCoMet also issued the document “Guidance to Supervisors on the setting of Standands in the field of Sales
Incentives and Responsible Lending™.

Moreawer, FinCoMet organised, in 20146, in cooperation with the Indonesia Financial Services Authority an
international seminar entitled “Fast Innovation and Dewelopment of Fintech: Striking a Balance Between
Financial Inclusion and Consumer Protection™. At the end of this seminar, FinCoMet published a communigué
enNcoUraging supervisory authorities to focus on emerging Fintech risks in order to safeguard consumer
imtenests.

* International Metwork on Financial Education {INFE) of the OECD

Thiz intemnational netwaork serves as a platfiorm to collect data on financial literacy and to develop analytical

and comparative reports, research, as well as policy instruments. Cver 118 countries and regions are members
of the INFE and 81 public authorities, including the CS5F, have the status of fully fledged members.

The INFE also seeks to promode and facilitate intermational cooperation between the different participants
|politicians, regulators, associations, etc.) concemed by the financial education issue at global level. One of
the key topics of the IMFE iz the national strategy regerding financial education that each Member State iz
requested to put in place.

The INFE has recently defined two core compeiencies frameworks on financial literacy, one for adults and
anather for youth. It iz a toal which highlights a range of knowiedge in financial education which might be
considered as highly important to support or improve the financial welifare of the citzens in their daily life.

The INFE has also developed a policy handbook on financial planning for retirement and worked on the rmole of
financial education and consumer protection in the digital era.
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= Committes 8 on Retail Investors of I0SCO
The Committee’s mandat is to perform 105C0°s tasks in relation to financial education, to advise the IOSC0
Board on issues relating to inestor protection and towark on the policy to be adopied in this field

In 2014, I35C0 published a report on the vulnerability of eldedy people. Indeed, it has been noted that they
are at higher risk of becoming victims of a fraud or subscribing for inappropriate irvestme nts in regard to their
situation. The report containg good practices on the protection of this specific kind of investors.

Momover, the Commities is comsidering the implications of new financial technologies on financial education
and the possibilities of using methods of behavioural economics in financial education.

The IDEC0 Board mandated the Committes to organise a global week of imeatora. The purposs ia to launch a
global campalgn to raise ewareness of financial education and imestor protection.

2. OUT-OF-COURT RESOLUTION OF COMPLAINTS

Since its creation, the GS5F has assumed a role of inierme diary in the outofcourt dizpute settlement aiming
at professionala subject to its supe rvision.

The CESF handles complainta which are submitted to it by following the procedure provided for in the first
section of GS5F Regulation M® 16-07 relating to the out-af-court resolution of complaints. The second section
of the regulation aims to specify certain obligations incumbent upon profeasionals in relation to the internal
handling of complaints or in their relationship with the CE5F.

C55F Regulation M*® 16-0F takes into account the requirernents of Regulation [ELU) Mo 524,/ 2013 of 21 May 2013
on online dispute resclution for consumer disputes and amending Regulation (EC) Mo 2006/ 2004 and
Directive 200972 2/EC.

It should be noted that the CS5F was registered, on 11 November 2016, on the list of qualified entities for
alternative dispute resolution, which was drawn up by the Minister of Economy and on the list of aliernathe
dispute resolution entities drewn up and published by the European Commission.

2.1. Statistics regarding CSSF complaint handling in 2016

In 2016, the CS5F receied 621 files from customers of entites subject to its supervision and closed 688 files
(including files received in the preceding years which had not, 8o fag, been closed).

Qutecome of the CS5F s intervention/ reasons for closing the files
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When the CS5F mceies a financial consumer complaint, it sends an acknowledgement of receipt which
inzludes all the useful instructions so that the claimant can eaolve the dispute with the professional without
additional intereention of the C55F. This acknowledgement of receipt indicates, among others, the full name
of the manager in charge of complaints whom the complainant should contact at the entity concemed in arder
to reach an amicable sattlerment and the link to the webpage whers wseful information on the out-of-court
handling of complaints by the CS5F is aveilable to the complainant.

Judging by the high number of disputes which were settled following these first instructions of the CS5F, the
C55Fs approach conalsting in favouring the dialogue betwesen the partiea to the dispute and not contacting
immediately the aupsrvised entity concerned by a complaint, is suceessful

24 mequests for the out-of-court resolution of complaints submitted to the C55F were inadmissible for the
following reasome:

- complaints involving entities' that are not subject to the GS5F's supervision (43%);
- complaints falling within the scope of the insurance sector (265

- complaints concerning a non-financial product (17%);

- complaints heard by a court (10%);

- complaints dealt with by ancther out-of-court dispute reacution body (3%);

- complaints concerning commerncial policy | 1%).
Breakdown of the complaints according to the complainants’ country of residence

Itahy: 3% Switzerland: 2%

Unknown: T

Bedfgium: X
Germany: 238

Franoe: ¥%

Lisieminiarg: 205K
Uniled Kingdom: 14%

Dihers: 16%

The share of complaints from Germany is the most important with 23% of all the complaints eeehed

The country of residence of the complainants iz not identified In 7% of the cases, which s, In general, due
to the fact thet these complainants contacted the CSSF by way of emalls without indicating their country
of residance and the CS55Fs intervention stopped upon sending the first instructions. Finally, the categony
“Others™ covers 37 different countries.

! Encluding the insuranos ssctor.
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Breakdown of complaints according to their object

Others: 3% -
Consumer anedil: 3% |
Savings aooount, berm account: 3%

UCE: 1%

Inhesitanoe: 6%
Morigage: 4%

Payment services 48%
Payment cards: 7%

Private banking: 10%

Payment scoount: 13%

The breakdown of complaints according to their object rmained stable in 2016 compared to 2015

With 48%, the major share of complaints regisered concerned problems linked to the use of electronic payment
sarvices. The shere of complaints relating to privete banking (10%) is decressing as compared to the previous
financial year {13% in 2015). It should be noted that complaints relating to mortgages slightly increased.

The share of complaints in connection with UCIs remains low in comparison with the importance of the
imvestment fund sector in Luxembourg

2.2, Complaints handled in 2016
2.2.1. Money transmission sarvices

The GS5F regulary deals with complaints relating to the execution of payment transactions.

In one case, the complainant blamed the bank for heving debited, during several months and without his
authorisation, his bank account in favour of a third party within the context of a direct debit

After hawing been informed by the complainant, the bank blocked the conentious direct debit, but did
not agree to retum the funds that had been unduly debited from the complainent’s account. Despite the
complainant's protests, the bank did not grant his request to return the unduly debited funds, arguing that he
had not introduced his refund application in written form within a period of 13 months from the date of the
contentious debits The bank justified its efusal to repay the funds also by the fact that the credited third party
refused to return the funds debited from the complainant’s account.

When examining the file, the CS5F noticed that the bank was unable to explain why the conentious direct
debit was sat up on the complainant’s account, knowing that the complainant did not provide amy instructions
in thizs mspect. The CS5F aleo noted from the internal emails of the bank that it had been infarmed, in due
time, of the contentious debits by the complainant.

As egards the legal basia imvoked by the bank to support its case, Le. that the complainant did not file his
complaint within a period of 13 months, the GS5F poinied out that Article 85 of the Law of 10 November 2008
on payment services which mentions this pericd, provides that the user of payment services must notfy,
without undue delay, his payment service provider that he noticed a non-authorised or defectively executed
payment transection on his account. As is clear from the provisions of this article, it is sufficient for the user of
payment services to notify his service provider of the identified anomaly within a pericd of 13 months without
any requirement for this notification to be inwritten form or a written refund application to be introduced with
the payment service providerwithin a legal period of 13 montha.

Based on the abowe, the GS5F concluded that the bank’s refusal to eimburse the complainant for the unduly
debited funds was not justified by the fact that the complainant did not introduce a writien rfund application
with the bank within the legal period of 13 montha, The argument of the bank that it should not trarsfer the




money back into the complainant’s account because the third party credited during the payment transaction
refused to return the contentious funds was not accepied by the CS5F either.

The bank eventually reimbursed the funds debited from the complainant’s account without his authorisation.

In another case opposing parties as regards the execution of a payment order, the complainant blamed
the bank for not having provided the support he required to recover the funds which had been fraudulenthy
deducted from his account.

The complainant made a transfer to an account opened with a foreign bank in order to book a holiday home.
Afier a certain period of time, the complainant understood that he had been the victim of a fraud and that the
recipient of the transfer, made to book the holiday home, was not the owner of it. The complainant stated that
the bank with which the fraudster’s account was opened agreed to refund the contentious funds, provided
that his bank issues a guaramtes that would hold the foreign bank harmiless of amy conseqguences in case of
a refund.

The complainant’s bank asserted that, at the time it received the instruction to transfer the comtentious
amount to the account of the so-called owner of the holidey home for rent, it contacied the payer to confirm
this order which did not cormespond to the orders usually given by him. The bank then executed the transfer
upan the complainant’s express request.

As regards the bank guarantee required by the foreign bank, the complainant’s bank did not issue it, because
the foreign bank did not provide significant information requested in relation to the account to which the

conientious transfer was made. The bank argued that, in the absence of such information, it has not been able
to izsue the guarantee in question.

The CESF was of the opinion that the position of the bank was enable and did not uphold amy misconduct on
its part

2.2.2. Margin calls

In 2014, the C55F dealt with some disputes in which the complainants challenged the rigorous application of
margin call conditions

Thug, in one case, the complainant Blamed hiz bank for not having informed him of the contentious margin
calls and for having, afterwards, been unaware that he had to credit his account or to liquidate the one or
the other position on his account in order to respect the mangin, failing which the bank would liquidate the
positions on his securities account on its own initiaive. The complainant requesied compensation for the
damage caused by the liquidation of his positions by the bank. He specified that instead of liguidating the
positions and thereby causing him a damage, the bank could have used his current account on which he had
some funds

The bank argued that the complainant had been duly informed of the conditions of margin calla

When examining the elements of the file, the C55F noticed that the #rms and conditions of the bank zigned
by the complainant clearly mentioned the right= and obligations of the parties relating to the provision of the
margin, the functioning method of the margin calls and the liquidation of open positions which may take place
in case of non-compliance with the required margin.

The bank also provided the CS5F with a statement of the wamings sent to the complainant to inform him that
he no longer especied the margin and that he should fund his account in order to reduce his exposure. This
statement also showed that the complainant actually receved the information on the margin call and that he
had acquainted himself with the waminga.

Moreawer, the CESF noticed that the terms and conditions of the bank clearly provide that, as far as the margin
calculation is concermed, the bank only takes into account the assets booked on the securities account of the
customer; the azsets booked on any other accounts opened by the customerwith the bank would not be taken
into consideration.

The CS5F concluded that the complainant had been duly informed of the bank’s conditions as regards margin.
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In another case, the complainant blamed his bank for having automatically liguidated all the open positions
on his account. The complainant stated that this liguidation should not have taken place because his account
was sufficiently funded.

The bank defended itzelf by invoking ite terms and conditions, which the complainant scce pied, stressing that
the conientious automatic liquidation took place in accordance with the terms and conditions.

Indeed, the terms and conditions of the bank provide for twio methods of liguidation of the customer’s positions
in the event of non-compliance with the required margin. On the one hand, the terme and conditions provided
for the liguidation of the positions where the balance of the accownt falls below the required margin without,
however, falling below 50% of this margin. In this cazse, the bank can proceed with the Figuidation of certain
positions to reach the level of the required margin. Omn the other hand, the ®rmz and conditions provide for
a sysiem of sutomatic liquidation of all the positions on the customer’s account where the balance of his
account falls below 50% of the required margin. In this event, the balance of the customer s account fell below
50% of the margin.

Consequently, the C55F decided that the automatic bguidation was abowe reproach and closed the dispute
without upholding the complainant’s grievances.

Sometimes, banke that insist on compliance with the margins somewhat neglect the way in which the
customers are wamed of the necessity to take measures to respect the margin

In one case, forexample, the bank drew its customer’s atbention to the fact that, gven the market fluctuations,
he might soon no longer be able to comply with the requirements of the mangin.

As the customer did not respond o this waming and his margin was not respected eventually, the bank sent
him a margin call letter, giving him a time limit of three daye as from the mailing of the letter to comply with
the contractual obligations in respect of margin. In the absence of any sdditional guarantee provided by
the customer, the bank sold the complainant’s positions in order to ensure the respect of the margin lewel
stipulated in the contract.

The complainant subsequently blamed the bank for having liquidated his positions without observing the
notice period, 8o that he did not hawve enough time to fund his account in order to respect the margin.

The bank argued that the margin call took place in accordance with the contractual arrangements in force
and that the notice period calculated as from the date of mailing of the margin call letter had been obeerved.

The C55F noted that the terms and conditions did not explicity provide for the date at which the notice period
started running. |3 it the date at which the margin call letier was sent a& alleged by the bank or the date at
which the margin call letter was received by the recipient as alleged by the complainamnt?

The CS5F finally held that the three-day period started running as from the day of receipt of the letter by its
recipient, so that he had three days to make the necessary armangements to avoid the “compulsory™ liquidation
of his positions by the bank.

2.2.3. Bank guarantses

The C55F ofien receives complaints relating to bank guaraniees given to banks within the framesrork of the
financing they grant

For example, the CS5F was contacted by a complainant who qualified as a company director This company
contracted from its bank loans that were backed by guaranise contracts signed by the company’s directors
and by mortgages on their real estate properties. Afier experiencing financial difficulties, the company was
finally liquidated, placing the former directors before their responsibilities.

The complainant, with whom the bank exercised its guaraniees, argued that he had not heard from the bank
since his resignation ag a director up until the day at which, a few years later, he mceived a letter from the
bank informing him of its intention to enforce the bank guaraniees provided to guaraniee the loan granied to
the company.




The complainant, who wanted to oppose the enforcement of the guarantees in question, reproached the bank
for hawing unduly delayed in enforcing the guarantees, there by wrongly accumulating the intere st expense on
the compamy’s debt The complainant was of the opinion that the contentious inEerests now claimed by the
bank could have been cleared had the bank enforced the collateral in question earfier.

To justify its position, the bank provided several letters exchanged between it and the complainant. These
letters showed that the complainant could not have been uneware of the existence and the evolution of the
compamy' s debt to the bank. Consequently, following his resignation as a director, the complainant had been,
quite early on, in regular contact with the bank to negotiate the enforcement of the guaranieses he provided
and thus to erwisage the repayment of the compamy’s debt.

These documents enabled the C55F to conclude that the complainant knew that the contentious debt existed
even i he no longer held a position as director at the company and that he had been engaged in lengtiy
discussions with the bank to find a solution that would =suit both parties.

2.2.4. Asset management by the customer or the professional

A complaint was referred to the C55F where the complainant complained that the shares of a fund held by
him could not be sold. He claimed that he had been advised by the bank to purchase these shares within
the framework of an advizory management contract The complainant blamed the bank for not having duly
informed him about the securities in guestion.

The bank denied having advised the complainant to imeest in the contentious securitiea. The argument of the
bank that the contentious securities were on the complainant’s account following the transfer of the securities
from & third-party account drew, in particular, the C55F 3 atiention. When examining the account sta®ements
of the complainant and the advisory management contract, the C55F noticed that the contentious securities
had actually been transfermed to the complainant’s account from a third-party account two months before the
conclusion of the advisory management contract

It follows therefrom that the contentious securities could not have been acquired by the complainant upon the
bank’s advice. The CS5F closed the file without upholding a misconduct by the bank.

2.3. FIN-NET

FIM-MET wes launched by the Eurcpean Commizsion in 2001 and is composed of bodies established in the EEA
couniries whose task is to resobve out-of-court disputes between consumers and financial services providers.

A pew memorandum of understanding adoped by the members of FIN-MET entered intoc force on
14 March 2016. Since the CS5F is on the European Commission’s list of gualified entities for alternative
resolution of consumer dispuies, the C55F is again considered az a full member of FIN-MET



CHAPTER XXI

BANKING AND FINANCIAL
LAWS AND REGULATIONS

1. DIRECTIVES AND REGULATIONS UNDER NEGOTIATION AT EU LEVEL

The CE5F participates in the groups examining the following proposals for directives or egulations

1.1. Proposal for a delegated regulation supplementing Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 on key
information documents for packaged retall and insurance-based investment products
(PRIIP Ragulation) by laylng down regulatory technical standards with regard to the
presentation, content, review and revision of key information documents and the conditions
for fulfilling the require ment to provide such documents

On 16 September 2014, the European Pariament rejecied the regulatory echnical standards under the PRIIP
Regulation as established by the European Commission in a delegated regulation. The=ze standards relate to
the presentation, content, review and revision of key information documents (KIDs). Following this rejection,
the Council adopted, on & December 2016, a regulation postponing the application date of the PRIIP Regulation
by 12 monthz. It now will apply as of 1 January 2018.

1.2. Proposal for a regulation on money market funds

On 7 December 2014, the Council of the EU confirmed its agreement on the final regulation on money
market funds negotiated with the European Parliament and the European Commission. The publication of the
regulation in the Official Journal of the EU is planned for the first halfyear of 2017.




1.3. Proposal for a regulation amending Regulation (EU) No 345/2013 on European venture capital
funds and Regulation (EU) No 346,/2013 on European soclal entrepreneurship funds

On 16 December 2014, the Council of the EU adopted its negotiating position on the amendments of the
EL rules aiming to increase venture capital imvestments and imestments in social enterprizes. Conseguently,
on behalf of the Council of the EL, the Permanent Reprezentatives Commitiee requested the future Maliese
Chairmanship to start discussions with the Eurcpean Parliament once it has formed its position.

The proposed regulation is part of the EU plan to put in place a fully operational capital markets union, by
diversifying the funding sources for European companies and long-term projectz. The propoeal aims to make
Eurcpean wenture capital funds (EuWECA) and European social entrepreneurship funds (EuSEF) available to
both smaller and larger fund managers. By amending Regulations (EU) Mo 345,/ 2013 and (EU) Mo 3445,/2013
of 17 April 2013, it widens the range of companies inwhich EUWECA and EuSEF may imvest and also makes the
crossborder marketing of these funds less expensive and easier

1.4. Proposal for a regulation on the prospectuses to be published when securities are offered to
the public or admitted to trading

The proposal for & new Prospectus Regulation was negotiated in trialogue between the European Commission,
the Council of the EU and the European Parliament and led to the approval by the Council of the EU of a drafit
regulation on 20 December 2016, The imterim agreement must be approved by the European Parliament in first
reading in 2017, prior to the final adoption by the Council of the EL. The purpose of this draft regulation, which
aime to replace Directive 2003/71/EC, iz to simplify the administrative obligations relaied o the prospectus
publication while ensuring that investors are well informed.

1.5. Proposal for a regulation on structural measures improving the resillence of EU credit
institutions (BSR)

The propozal for & regulation was discu=sed in detail in the C55F Annual Report 2005,

1.4. Proposal for a regulation laying down common rules on securitisation and creating a
European framework for simple, transparent and standardised securitisation and amending

Directives 2009 /65 /EC, 2009,/ 138,/EC and 2011/61,/EU and Regulations (EC) No 1060,/2009
and (EU) No 648,/2012

Proposal for a regulation amending Regulation (EU) Mo 575,/2013 on prudential requirements
for credit institutions and Investment firms

Both drafi regulations were published by the European Commizsion on 30 September 2015,

The first regulation sims to merge the securtization-related provisions of diverse sectoral directives and
regulations (CRA, AIFMD, EMIR, UCITS Directive and Regulation {EU) on credit rating agencies) in cne single
iext, thereby creating a framework for simple, transparent and standardised (5T5] securitization,

The second regulation aims to amend the CRR i order to implement into European lew the Basel rules on
securitization, while creating & preferential treatment for 5TS securitisation. The purpose of the proposal is
to promote simply structured securitisations in Europe, allowing restoring confidence in order to reboost the
securitisation market and, in fine, to finance the mal economy with a view to fosienng job creation and growth.

Following the compromize egreement that the members of the Council of the EU reached in December 2015
on both Exts, the trizlogue between the European Commission, the Council of the EU and the European
Parliament on the two regulations started in Januany 2017
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1.7. Proposal for a regulation in order to establish a European Deposit Insurance Scheme

The text, which is siill subject to discussions in 2016, was dealtwith in detail in the C55F Annual Report 2015

1.8. Proposal for a directive amending Directive 2013 /36/EU as regards exempted entities,
financial holding companies, mixed financial holding companies, mmuneration, supervisory
measuras and powers and capital conservation measures

Proposal for a regulation amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 as regards the leverage
ratio, the net stable funding ratio, requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities,
counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposures to central counterparties, exposures to
collective investment undertakings, large exposures, reporting and disclosure requirements,
and amending Regulation (EU) No 648,/2012

Proposal for a directive amending Directive 2014,/59 /EU as regards the ranking of unsecured
debt instruments in Insolvency hierarchy

Proposal for a directive amending Dirsctive 2014 /5% /EU on loss-absorbing and
recapitalisation capacity of credit institutions and investment firms

On 23 Movember 2014, the European Commission proposed a set of reforms of the EU banking sector, referred
to as* CRR |l package™ with the objective to supplement the regulatory programme established by the EU after
the crisis, 8o that the regulatory framework addresses all the risks that would threaten the financial stability,
whille ensuring that banks continue to support growth, thereby restoring confide nce.

The CRR Il package proposes to amend several existing le gislative texts, ie.:

- Regulation [EL] Mo 575,/ 2013 on prudential requiremenis for credit institutions and imvestment firme [CRR)
and Directive 2013,/364/EU on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of
credit institutions and investment firme [CRD IWV);

- Regulation (EL) Mo B0&,2014 establishing the Single Resolution Mechanism and the Single Resolution Fund
[SRM Regulation);

- Directive 2014/59/EU e=stablizhing a framewark for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and
imnvestment firms (BERRD).

The European Commission has developed these legislative proposals by taking European particularities into
account, and by integrating the intemational standards recently adopted by the Basel Commitiee, including
those relating to the requirement of compliance with the TLAC [Total Loss Absorbing Capacity] in the resolution
combext

In order to facilitaie the establishment of the Banking Union, the European Commission proposes an
extension of the existing rules s regards exemption from own fundzs and liquidity requirements. In this regard,
authorization should be granied to the competent authorities that supervise, on a consolidating basiz, a
parent undertaking and its subsidiaries established in different Member States to exempt certain subsidiaries
included in the consolidated supervision of the parent company from complance with these reguirements
These exemptions may be applied solely when one /zeveral guaraniee () of the parent undertaking are izsued
in favour of cross-border subsidiaries.

In respect of the supervisory review and evalustion process [SREP) and decisions on additional capital
requirements taken subsequently, the proposal aims to now distinguish between a mandatory additional capital
requirement (Fillar 2 Reguirement- PZR] and a desired additional capital requirement [Pillar 2 Guidance - P2G).
As regards P2R, the proposal is intended to clarfy the circumstances in which the nsk elements may be
subject to an additional capital reguirement, to specify the qualitative criteria in terms of eligible own funds
instruments for reaching compliance therewith and to develop principles of transparency to be met by the
competent suthorties and of disclosure to be met by the nstitutiona.




For the purpose of fostering greater harmonisation of the principle of proportionality, detailed proposals are
put foreard, in particular, in the fields of remuneration and prudential reporting.

Moreower, the Eurcpean Commission intends to provide some clarification on the conzolidated supervision of
groups held by or using finencial holding companies and mixed financial holding companies. Thiz clarification
aims toentitle a competent authority to directly address the supervisory de cisions to these holding companies,
where they represent the effective decision-making centre of & group composed of several supervized
institutions, whereas they are not required to comply with the CRD IV CRR provisions on an individual basis.
In this regard, the proposal introduces an authorization process granting the consolidating supervisor a dinect
supenvisory power ower these holding companies.

The other main chjective of the proposal concems the bank resclution framework put in place at EU level
under the BRRD in order to allow lozs absorption by shareholders and imeestors (in order to avoid burdening
taxpayers] in case of failure of a credit institution. Thus, amy EU institution is required to meet a minimum
requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities [referred to az MREL]. This requirement shall provide it
with sufficient financial resources, which might be written down or comverted into equity, in order to absorb
its losses and/or recapitalise in case of failure. In addition, the proposal of the Eurcpean Commission aimsa
to integrate the mtemational TLAC requirement within the MREL European framework It is an additional
requirement applicable as from 2019 solely to global sy=stematically important institutions (G-51ls). Therefore,
the proposal amends the CRR provisions relating to own funds, in particular by introducing news minimum
capital requirements as regarde the solwency ratio for G-5lls and by defining eligibility crieria of instruments
that might be conzidered as TLAC/MREL, in particular their subordination to excluded liabilities It should
be noted that under the BERRD, the resolution authorities may decide, on a case-by-case basig, that other
credit institutions partially comply with the MREL through subordinated instruments. The proposalzemvisage a
harmonised European approach to subordination by providing for a harmonised national ranking of uncovwered
debt instruments in respect of insolvency in order to facilitaie the isswe by banks of such debt instruments
likely to absorb losses in case of reschution

In order to make the Eurcpean resolution framework more operational, it is also proposed to extend the
powers of the competent authorities and the resolution suthorities and to introduce a tool in the form of a
maoratorium allowing them to suspend certain contractual obligations for a defined period, both during early
intervention and re solution phases.

Fimally, in order to facilifaie the implementation of the aforementioned TLACGYMREL standards for
non-European global systemically important institutions (non-EU G-5lls) and, from a wider perspective,
to simplify and sirengthen their resolution process, the proposal requires that an inermediaie parent
undertaking (|PL) is established in the EL, where at least twio institutions belonging to the same non-EL group
are established in the EU and whose European activities have a systemic nature on an aggregated basais.

1.9. Proposal for a directive amending Directive (EU) 2015/849 on the prevention of the use of the
financial system for the purposes of money laundering and terrorist financing and
Directive 2009 /101 /EC

The propozal for a directive is further detailed in point 1.1.1. of Chapier X[X "Financial crime”.
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2. DIRECTIVES TO BE TRANSPOSED INTO NATIONAL LAW

2.1. Directive 2014/65/EU of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and amending
Directive 2002 /92 /EC and Directive 2011 /61,/EU (MIFID 1)

Regulation (EU) Mo &00/ 2014 of 156 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and
amending Regulation (EU) No 648,/2012 (MIFIR)

MiFID 1l and MiFIR will enter into force on 3 January 2018
For further details on the main amendments introduced by MIFID Il and MiFIR into MiFID [2004, 39/EC],

please refer to point 1.9. of Chapter XV “Banking and financial legislation and regulations™ of the C55F Annual
Report 2011.

2.2, Directive 2014 /92 /EU of 23 July 2014 on the comparability of fees ralated to payment
accounts, payment account switching and access to payment accounts with basic features

The directive was discussed in detail in the C55F Annual Report 2015.

2.3. Directive (EU) 2015,/849 of 20 May 2015 on the prevention of the use of the financial system
for the purposes of money laundering or terrorist financing, amending Regulation
(EU) No 648,/2012, and repaaling Diractive 2005 /60/EC and Directive 2006/70,/EC

The directive was discussed in detail in the CESF Annual Report 2015.

2.4. Regulation (EU) 2015 /847 of 20 May 2015 on information accompanying transfers of funds

The regulation was discussed in detail in the C55F Annual Report 2015

2.5. Directive (EU) 2015 /2366 of 25 November 2015 on paymant services in the internal market,
amending Directives 2002 /65 /EC, 2009/ 110,/EC and 2013/36/EU, and repealing
Directive 2007 /64 /EC (PSD2)

PSDZ, which was pubished in the Official Jounal of the EUf on 23 December 2015, aims at developing the
European internal market of electronic payments in 2 technologically neutral way and at adopting the existing
legal framework to innovating peyment services amd, among others, to payment initigtion service providers
and account information service providerz 1t renders the use of intermet payment services more secure,
mainly by introducing strong customer authentication at the payment service providers’ charge. Finally, PSD2
introduces a8 new balance, &8 compared to the curment situation, between the home Member 5State and the
host Member State for cross-border supervision within the context of the European passport, Le. the right of
establishment and freedom to provide services.

PS02 must be transposed into national |aw by 13 January 2018,

2.6. Directive (EU) 2016,/2341 of 14 Decamber 2016 on the activities and supervision of
institutions for occupational retirement provision

On 24 Nowember 2018, the European Pariament, the Council of the EU and the European Commission
reacfied an agreement on the proposal for a review of Directiee 2003 /41 /EC on the activities and supervision
of institutions for cccupational retirement provision (IORP || Directive), 50 that Directive [EU) 20148/ 2341
was published in the Official journal of the EU on 23 December 2016, The Member States must transpose
the directiee into national law within a period of 24 months following &s entry into force, Le. no later than
13 January 2019.



3. LAWS AND REGULATIONS ADOPTED IN 2016

3.1. Law of 15 March 2016 on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories

The law implements certain provisions of Regulation (EU) Mo 848/ 2012 of 4 July 2012 on OTC derivatives,
central counterpartie s and trade re positories [EMIR). It de signates more apecifically the C55F as the competent
authority for the suthorisation and supervision of central counterparties establizhed in Luxembourg and for
ensuring compliance with the EMIR obligations by financial counterparties subject to ite supervision and by
nan-financial counterparties.

Moreower, the |law provides for a3 regime of sanctions and administrative messures applicable in caze of
non-compliance with the EMIR provisiona.

3.2, Law of 10 May 2016 transposing Directive 2014,/91/EU of 23 July 2014 amending
Directive 2009 /65/EC on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions
relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS) as
regards depositary functions, remuneration policies and sanctions

Thiz law, which entered into force on 1 June 2014, trensposes into Luxembourg law Directive 2014,/91 /EU
{UCITS ¥ Directive) by amending the Law of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings fior collective
imvestment and the Lew of 12 July 2013 on aliemative imvestment fund managerz. The transposed provisions
of Directive 2014 ,/91,/EL mainly concemn three parts:

- anew regime regarding the mizzionz and responsibilities of UCITS de positaries;
- rules relating to the remuneration of UCITS managers aiming to avoid exceseive risk-taking

- rules conceming administrative penalties in casze of non-compliance with the obligations incumbent upon
the LICITS and their managers.

Commizsion Delegated Regulation [EU) 20146/43B of 17 December 2015 with regard to obligations of
depaositaries, which entered into force on 13 October 2016, supplements the legislative arsenal with
enforce ment measures.

The law alzo brought some amendments to the aforementioned Laws of 17 December 2010 and
12 July 2013, which are unrelaied to the transposition of the UCITS W Directive. Thug, under this law, a stricier
UCITS depositary regime applies to UCls governed by Part |l of the Lew of 17 December 2010 [UCI= that
automatically qualify as alternative imestment funds under the Law of 12 July 2013, but that are products
intended to e placed with the public). Furthermore, the lew introduces the obligation for alie mative ime stme nt
fund managers to use the services of a réviseur d'entreprizes sgred (approved stetutory suwditor) for the
audit of their accountz. By transposing the relevant provisiona of Directive 2014/ 65/EU of 15 May 2014
on markets in financial instruments and amending Directive 2002/92/EC and Directie 2011/41/EU
(MIFID 1), thiz law enables alternative investment fund meanagers to offer their imestment services, such as
porifolio management on a discre tionary or clientby-chent basis, on a cross-border basia

3.3. Law of 10 May 2016 on transparency requirements for issuers of securities

Grand-ducal Regulation of 10 May 2016 on transparency requirements for issuers of
sacurities

The Law of 10 May 2015 amending the Law of 11 January 2008 on transparency requirements for issuers
{Transparency Law] and the Grand-ducal Regulation of 10 May 2014 amending the Grand-ducal Regulation of
11 Jamuary 2008 on transparency requirements for isswers of eecurities | Transparency Regulation) entered into
force on 15 May 2014, The consolidated versions of the Transparency Law and the Transparency Regulation,
as amended, aswell ag the updated versions of the relevant circulars and FACS have been published on the
CS5F s website.
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For further detmils on the main amendments introduced, and in particular the determination of the
home Member State and the notifications of major holdings, please mefer to Press Releases 15/49 of
I7 Nowember 2015 and 16,23 of 7 May 2014 a= well as to the C55F Annual Report 2015 (cf. point 4. of
Chapter X1 *Supervision of securities markets™).

3.4. Regulation (EU) 2016,/ 1011 of 8 Juna 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial
instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds and
amending Directives 2008 /48 /EC and 2014/17 /EU and Regulation (EU) No 596/2014

The regulation is further detailed under point B. of Chapier X11 ®Supervision of securities markets™.

3.5. Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016,/1675 of 14 July 2016 supplementing Directive
(EU) 2015/ 849 by identifying high-risk third countries with strategic deficlencias

The delegated regulation is further detailed in peint 1.2. of Chapier XIX “Financial crime™.

3.6. Law of 23 July 2016 concerning the audit profession

The law is further detailed in point 1.1. of Chapier XV “Public oversight of the audit profession™.

3.7 Law of 23 July 2016 on reserved alternative investment funds |(RAIFs)

The |aw, which entered into force on 1 August 2016, sims to create, under the name of “reserved alie mative
imestment fund™ (RAIF), a new status of alternative imestment funds which, contrary to ineestment funds
“regulated™ by the Lew of 17 December 2010 relating to UCIs, the Law of 13 February 2007 relating to 51Fs ar
the Law of 15 June 2004 relating to SICAR=, are not subject to authorisation or supervision by the CS5F, but
enjaoy the structuring flexibility of UClz, 5IFs and SICAR=.

However, even if RAIFz2 are not subject to authorization or supervision by the CS5F, they are defined by a
regulated framework. Indeed, to be able to benefit from this new regime, an imestment wehicle must qualify
as aliemative investment fund [AIF] within the meaning of Directive 2011,/ 41,/EU of & June 2011 on aliemative
imestment fund managers [AIFMD) and must be managed by a fully authorised AIF manager (AIFM) that
is subject to the C35Fs supervision when established in Lukembourg. Although the AIFMD mainky aims to
regulate managers, it also includes provisions which apply to AlFs managed by theze managers (product rule s).
These provisions notably include the requirements to appoint a depositary and a révisewr o enfreprises Sgres,
to provide imeestors with information, to make available an annual report and to comply with the nvestment
and leverage rules in relation to certain asset classes. The reguirement that RAIFE must be managed by an
AlFM means that they will be subject to these product rules and indirectly subject to a supervision through
that exercised by the competent supervisory authority ower their AIFM. This same requirement, moreower,
means that RAIFz will benefit from the passport provided for in the AIFM regulation for the marketing to
profeesional imestors in the ELL

3.8. Law of 23 July 2018 concarning the disclosure of non-financial information and dive rsity
information by certain large undertakings and groups and amending various provisions
relating to accounting and annual accounts of undertakings as well as to the consolidated
accounts of certain forms of companies

The Law of 23 July Z01& trensposes Directve 2014/95/EU of 27 October 2014 amending
Directive 2013/34,/EU a8 regards disclosure of nonfinancial and diversity information by certain large
undertakings and groups. lis provisions shall apply as from the financial year starting on 1 Januvary 2017 or
after that date.



The new rules apply to large public-inierest entities with more than 500 employees and with a total balance
sheet exceeding EUR 20 million and/or a8 turnover of more than ELUR 40 million

In accordance with the provisions of the Law of 23 July 2014, the companies concerned are required to disclose
in their management reports information on poficies, related risks and result= as regards environmental, social
and employee-relaied matters, respect for human rights, anti-comuption and bribery issues, and diversity in
the composition of their boardza.

Directive 2014/95/EU leaves great flexibility to companies as regards the form in which such disclosure
should take place. Pursuant to the provisions of Articke 2 of the aforementioned directive, the Eurocpean
Commizsion is in charge of izsuing non-binding guidelines on the methodology applicable to non-financial
information. These guidelines are expected to be published in the second quarter of 2017.

3.9. C55F Regulation N°® 16-07 of 26 October 2016 relating to the out-of-court resolution of
complaints

CE5F Regulation N® 16-07 relating to the out-of-court resolution of complaints repeals and replaces CS5F
Regulation N* 13-02 of 15 October 2013, It notably takes inte account the amendments introduced by the
Law of 17 Febmary 2014 introducing aliemative dispute mesolution for consumer disputes and amending
certain other provisions of the Consumer Code, which transposes into Luxembourg |law Directive 2013,/ 11 ,/EU
of 21 May 2013 on aliernative dispute resclution for consumer dispuies and amending Regulation
{EC) Mo 2004/ 2004 and Directive 2009,/ 22/EC.

3.10. Grand-ducal Regulation of 15 December 2016 introducing certain derogations to
standardised layouts of the balance sheot and profit and loss account pursuant to Article 27
of the Law of 19 Dacember 2002 concerning the trade and companies ragister, as wall as the
accounting and annual accounts of companies, as amended, and repealing the Grand-ducal
Regulation of 29 June 1984 determining the layouts according to which financial holding
companies must draw up thelr annual accounts

The grand-ducal regulation aims, notably, to reintrodece, for certain categories of underiekingg, the
derogations to the standardised layowts of the balance sheet and profit and boss accouwnt laid down in the Lew of
19 December 2002 and which were repesled by the Lew of 30 july 2013 reforming the Commission des norme =
comptables The undertakings concemed are those which are not subject to the standardised collection of
financial data {via the «C0F platform) and which are also exempied from depositing account balances of the
Stendard Chart of Accounts (SCA)L In particular, the ca®egornies of undertakings concemed are those subject
to the lEyouts of anmual accounts, laid down in the Law of 19 December 2002, and which fall under the
prudential supervision of the C55F, except for the support PFS [which are subject to the e COF and the SCA)L

Consequently, the undertakings concemed are now at liberty to benefit from the sdaptation measure s for their
balance sheet and profit and loss account layouts as from the financial year closing on 31 December 2016

3.11. Law of 23 December 2016 on market abuse

0On 23 December 2014, the Luwembourg legislator adopied a new law on market abuse which repeals and
replaces the Law of 9 May 20046 on market abuse.

The new lzw includes 8 represshe part and an administrative part. fn the repressnve part, it transposes
Directive 2014 ,/57 /EU of 16 Apnl 2014 on criminal sanctions for market abuse.

The subjects dealtwith in the administrative part mey be grouped into three categories. Thug, the administrative
part specifies and supplements the inestigation and enquiry powers of the C55F as egards market abuse
in accordance with the requirements of Regulation (EU) Mo 596,/2004 of 146 Aprl 2014 on market abuse
{MAR). The administrative part aleo adapts the nature and amounts of the administrative sanctions to the MAR
requirements. Finally, the administrative part trensposes Commission Implementing Directive (EUJ 2015/ 2392
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of 17 December 2015 on Regulation (EU) Mo 5946,/ 2014 25 regards reporting to competent suthorities of actual
or podential infringements of that Regulation. As regards reports of market abuse infringements, the Law of
13 December 2016 closely follows the provisione of the implementing directive. The transpoeition provisions
of the implementing directive are grouped in one annex attached to the law which iz part of it

3.12. Law of 23 December 2016 transposing Directive 2014 /17 /EU on credit agreements for
consumers relating to residential immovable property and amending Directives 2008 /48 /EC
and 2013 /36,/EU and Regulation (EU) Mo 1093 /2010, and amending the Consumer Code

The Law of 23 December 2016 entered into force at the beginning of Januwary 2017 and aimz, inter alia,
to regulate morigage loan agreements and to sirengthen consumer protection by the establishment of a
harmonized legal framework. Moreover, the law introduces the status of morigage intermediaries into
Luxembourg lew. The actvity of morigage intermediaries requires, henceforth, an authorisation from the
Minister of Finance and the supervision of these intermedianes bes with the CS5F

3.13. Regulation CSSF N° 16-06 on ex ante contributions to be paid to the Fonds de Résolution
Luxembourg

Pursuant to Article 107 (2} of the Law of 1B December 2015, the Resolution Board shall set the annual
contributions to be collecied from the relevant institutions for the Fonds de Résolution Luxe mbourg (FRL) and
to develop in this respect a methodology to set those contributionz. The Resolution Board sought an opinion
from the Consultative Committee for Resohition on a draft CS5F regulation in this regard and, on the basis of
CS5F Regulation N® 16-04, subsequently set the ex ante contributions to the FRL for 2015 and 2016, which
hewe been duly paid by all relevant institutions.



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2010 Law
2013 Law
AlF

AlFM
AML/CFT
ASEEP
BCL
ERRD

COREF
CPOI
CRD IV

CRR

CEDR

CE5F
EBA
EC
ECB
EEA
EFDI
EIDFA
ELTIF
EMIR

ESMA
ESRE
EU

EUR
FATF
FGOL
FINREF
FsB
IASE

Lawr of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for collective imvestment
Law of 12 July 2013 on altermative imestment fund managers

AlEematiee Imeestment Fund

Aliemative Imestment Fund Manager

Anti-Money Laundering and CounterTermorist Financing

Pension savings association

Bangue centrale du Luxembourg - Luxembaourg Ceniral Bank

Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive - Directive 2014/ 59 /EU of 15 May 2014 establishing
a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and imestment firms

Common Reporting
Ciopuncil for the Protection of Depositors and Inmvestors

Capital Requirements Directive - Directive 2013/ 35/EU of 246 June 2013 on the access to
the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and
imeestment firms

Capital Requirements Regulation - Regulation [EU) Mo 5 5/2013 of 26 June 2013 on
prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms

Central Securities Depositories Regulation - Regulation (EU] Mo 9092014 of 23 July
2014 on improving securities settlement in the Buropean Union and on central securities
de positories

Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier- Financial sector supervisory commission
Eurcpean Banking Authority

Europesn Community

Eurcpean Central Bank

Europesn Economic Area

Eurcpean Forum of Deposit Insurers

European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority

Eurcpean Long Term Investment Fund

Eurcpean Market Infrastructure Regulation - Regulation (EU) Mo 648,/ 2012 of 4 July 2012 on
OTC dervatives, central counterparties and trade regositones

Eurcpean Securities and Markets Authaority

Europesn Systemic Risk Board

Eurcpean Union

Euro

Financial Action Task Force

Fonds de garentie des dépbts Luxemirourg - Deposit guaraniee fund Luxe mbourg
Financial Re porting

Financial Stability Board

International Accounting Standards Board

Intemnal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process



IFi
IFRS
ILAAF
IML
IQSCO
IRE
IS0C
J5T
LCR
LP5
MiFID
MiFIR
AW
NEFR
OECD
PFS
PE
PSD32
SEPCAV
SIAG
SICAR
SIF
SiL

SME
SRE
SREP
SRM
SEM
UCH
UCITS
VaR

Imeestment Fund Manager

Iniemational Financial Reporting Standards

Iniemal Liquidity Adeguacy Assessment Process

Inztitut Monétaire Luxembourgeois - Luxembourg monetary instituie [ 1983-1998)
Iniemational Organzation of Securities Commissions

Inztitut des réviseurs d entreprises - Luxembourg instituie of registered auditors
Iniemational Standard on Quality Control

Joint Supe rvisory Team

Liguidity Coverage Requirement

Law of 10 Nowember 2009 on payment services

Markets in Financial Instruments Directiee

Markets in Financial Instruments Re gulation

Net Azset Value

Met Stable Funding Requirement

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

Profe ssional of the Financial Sector

Public Inierest Entity

Directive [EU) 2015,/2366 of 25 November 2015 on payment services in the internal market
Pension savings company with variable capital

SelF-managed imestment compamy

Imve stment company in risk capital

Specialized Investment Fund

Systéme dindemnisation des investisseurs Luxembourg - Investor compensation scheme
Luxemb-ourg

Small and Medium-szed Enterprizes

Single Resolution Board

Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process

Single Resolution Mechanism

Single Supervisory Mechanism

Undertaking for Collective Investment

Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities

Walue-at-Risk
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